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Shareholding Minister’s foreword

Letter to Shareholding Minister
The Parklands Plan of Management, covering 430
hectares of parks, endangered species habitat and
heritage areas, is being updated to ensure its relevance
in protecting the environmental legacy of the Sydney
2000 Olympic Games. This ensures that development and
the management and protection of the environment can
coexist together in a successful urban centre.

Sydney Olympic Park has, to use a sporting analogy,
hit its stride this year, 10 years on from the Sydney 2000
Olympic and Paralympic Games.
The pace of development of the Park has increased, with
construction now well underway on the first stage of
Australia Towers, the Park’s first residential development.
This has been matched by commercial developments such
as the completion of the Watpac commercial building in
the heart of the Park’s township, approval for construction
to start on the Quest serviced apartments, planning
approval for a major commercial office building in the
Park’s southern precinct and the response to a call for
expressions of interest in several other development sites.
The significant interest in additional commercial and
residential development is a clear sign by the market that
the Government’s Master Plan 2030 for Sydney Olympic
Park, approved early in 2010, has struck the right balance.
Master Plan 2030 preserves the Park as Australia’s
primary sports and entertainment precinct, while
encouraging the Park’s continuing development as a
residential, commercial and education centre.
The development of the Park will not detract from the
Park’s iconic status as the home of the ‘Green Games’, as
environmental best practice is enshrined in the design
and building codes that govern development within this
outstanding example of urban land rehabilitation.

Master Plan 2030 is designed to ensure that while the Park
will grow to accommodate a daily population of 50,000
workers, residents and students, it will remain capable of
hosting the world’s greatest sporting events. Having
hosted the 2000 Olympic and Paralympic Games, the 2004
Rugby World Cup and the 2009 World Masters Games, the
Park is set to play a pivotal role should Australia be
successful in its bid to host the 2022 World Cup.
The Park continues to attract new commercial
development, significant exhibition and conference
bookings across its 100 function spaces, together with
an outstanding program of sporting and
entertainment events.
I look forward to continuing to work with Sydney Olympic
Park Authority to guide the continuing evolution of
Sydney Olympic Park in the future, delivering an
outstanding Sydney Olympic Park for the people of
New South Wales.

31 October 2010
The Hon. David Borger, MP
Minister for Roads
Minister for Western Sydney
Level 37, Governor Macquarie Tower
1 Farrer Place
Sydney NSW 2000

Dear Minister
We have pleasure in submitting, for your information
and presentation to Parliament, the Sydney Olympic Park
Authority Annual Report for the year ended 30 June 2010.
The report has been prepared in accordance with the
Annual Reports (Statutory Bodies) Act 1989 (NSW),
and the Annual Report (Statutory Bodies) Regulation
2005 (NSW). The report details the work, achievements
and relevant statutory and financial information of
Sydney Olympic Park Authority.

Yours sincerely
						

The Hon. David Borger, MP
Minister for Roads
Minister for Western Sydney

Michael Knight AO			
Chair

Alan Marsh
Chief Executive Officer
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The Sydney Olympic Park Authority Financial Statements and Appendices are
available on the CD-ROM attached to the inside rear cover of this publication.
The Financial Statements and Appendices can be downloaded from the
Sydney Olympic Park website at www.sydneyolympicpark.com.au
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2009-10 at a glance

9.5 million 30,000
park visitors

athletes at the World
Masters Games

37,000

children took part in
‘Kids in the Park’

90%

apartments sold in
Australia Towers

•

Sydney Olympic Park officially designated as a suburb by the NSW Geographic
Names Board

•

Formal State Government approval for the Master Plan 2030 received

•

9.5 million visitors to the Park in 2009–10, including over 2 million to the parklands

•

More than 37,000 children took part in the Park’s hugely successful ‘Kids in the Park’
school holiday activity program throughout the year. The State’s largest such program,
‘Kids in the Park’ features up to 50 different activities each school holidays, many of
which are free

•

•

In 2009, the Park had 26 days in which 50,000 or more people visited the Park,
including two days with more than 100,000 people, demonstrating the Park’s design
to cater for massive crowds and to expedite their flow in and out of the venues and
the Park
The World Masters Games saw more than 30,000 athletes compete at venues
throughout the Park and beyond, this is three times the number of competitors who
took part in the 2000 Olympic Games

•

The Sydney Royal Easter Show continues to be the largest annual event in the southern
hemisphere, attracting an average of 900,000 visitors over the two weeks
of the Show

•

V8 Supercar Australia reported that the Telstra 500 event in December 2009 attracted
over 184,000 people.

•

Sydney Olympic Park Aquatic Centre welcomes its 17 millionth patron since opening

17 million
visitors to the
Aquatic Centre

900,000

business visitors to 2,100
business events

$1 billion

development projects
since the Games

25

eating options in the Park

•

Sydney Olympic Park Sports Centre celebrates its 25th anniversary

•

Acer Arena consistently rates in the top three or four most successful indoor arenas
in the world, together with New York’s Madison Square Garden and Radio City
Music Hall and London’s O2 Arena

•

During 2009-10, the Park attracted 900,000 business visitors who attended more
than 2,100 business events

•

More than $1 billion in development projects since the Olympic Games

•

Construction commenced on the Park’s first residential development, Australia Towers

•

More than 90% of apartments in Australia Towers Stage 1 have been sold, and
contracts exchanged on over 80%, with occupancy still 18 months away

•

Approval granted for the construction of the 77-bed apartments development to be
operated by the Quest group, located adjacent to the Formule 1 hotel

•

The Authority went to the market for expressions of interest in developing sites 8B
and 8C on Murray Rose Avenue and received a significant level of response

•

Completion of a 7,000 m2 mixed retail/commercial building on the corner of
Australia and Murray Rose Avenues

•

Relocation of the Authority to a new building within the Park, realising significant
financial savings

•

The Authority was amalgamated into the Communities NSW ‘super agency’

•

Commenced revision of the Parklands Plan of Management
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Chairman’s report
Many people naturally feel great
affection for Sydney Olympic Park.
Our visitor numbers just keep rising –
9.5 million visits a year. And so many
great events take place here every week.
More and more businesses are
relocating here and the precinct now
supports cafés, restaurants and other
commercial activities.
Last year I reported on the preparation
of the Master Plan 2030. This year I am
pleased to report that the Master Plan
received Ministerial Approval and has
been formally gazetted. And we are
beginning to see the practical benefits
flowing from that Master Plan.
Soon the Park’s first residents will move
into the residential towers, which are
now under construction. Their arrival
will drive further developments within
the town centre to support the needs
of our residential population.
The opening of new services, such as
childcare facilities to meet resident
demands and the inevitable extension
of retail hours to serve demand outside
business hours, will further activate an
already busy precinct.
On 30 November 2009, Sydney
Olympic Park Authority took on the
responsibilities of the State Sports
Centre Trust. That Trust was dissolved
and its Chairman, Alan Whelpton AM,
joined the Authority Board.

While the Trust had been well served
by many talented Board members over
the previous 25 years it made sense
to combine its operations at Sydney
Olympic Park with those of the Sydney
Olympic Park Authority. The synergies
between the two organisations have
enabled us to enhance services for the
sporting and community groups using
these facilities while at the same time
yielding significant overall savings
to taxpayers.
The Authority is now responsible for
the Sydney Olympic Park Sports Centre,
the Sydney Olympic Park Sports Halls
and the Sydney Olympic Park Hockey
Centre, in addition to the venues the
Authority was already managing: the
Sydney Olympic Park Aquatic Centre,
Sydney Olympic Park Athletic Centre
and Sydney Olympic Park Archery
Centre.
I want to thank the management, staff
and Board of the Sydney Olympic Park
Authority for all of their hard work over
the last 12 months.
They are relatively few in number
compared to the size and activity in
the Park – 110 staff with another 60 full
time in the sports venues we run like
the Aquatic Centre.
But their achievements are terrific –
they are a delight to work with.

Michael Knight AO | Chair
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CEO’s report
Sydney Olympic Park continues to evolve to meet the needs of the millions of
people who work in, study at or visit the Park each year.
2009-10 was a year of achievements, in visitation numbers, in number of
events, in development projects either underway or proposed and for the
Authority.
For example, the year saw more than 9.5 million visitors to the Park attending
almost 5,000 events, construction commence on our first residential
development and the completion of a new commercial office building at
8 Australia Avenue, which is now the new home of the Authority, realising
significant savings in rental costs.
Our urban centre continues to develop apace, with over 120 organisations now
located within the Park, employing almost 10,000 workers. The presence of so
many people on a daily basis within the Park has driven the growth of our retail
sector, contributing to the overall activation of the Park’s
urban centre.
This has been commented upon favourably, not just by our visitors and patrons,
but also by our partners and tenants within the Park; all feel the quickening
pace of development and look forward to the Park’s further evolution.

2009-10
The year has seen significant milestones achieved – commencement of the first
residential development within the Park, completion of a new 7,000 m2
commercial building in the town centre, further works undertaken on our
parklands, applications in for future commercial, retail and residential
developments and a continued increase in Park visitation figures.
Developments planned or in negotiation include the 77-bed Quest serviced
apartment complex, further commercial office/retail developments, Stages 2
and 3 of the Australia Towers residential complex, with other residential
developments under discussion, improvements to venues such as the Sydney
Showground arena and continuing upgrades to our parklands, in particular
Blaxland Riverside Park.
The upgrade of our facilities is, in part, being driven by the increased level of
community demand for venues. For example, the Park hosts major community
events such as the India-Australia Fair and Auburn City’s Australia Day
celebrations and supports thousands of community-based sporting, education
and cultural events through the Park’s Authority-operated venues.

It has always been a key tenet of the Authority’s
operations to support maximum community
use of the Park and it is gratifying to see the
community enthusiastically take up the use of
the Park’s facilities year-round.
A key example of the community’s ‘ownership’
of the Park is that more people attend the Park
to play sport than to pay to watch it played. This
is a tribute to the wide community usage of our
sports venues, in particular the Hockey, Athletics
and Aquatic Centres. In fact, the Aquatic Centre
welcomed its 17 millionth visitor during the year.
Similarly, the parklands continue to attract
significant visitation from the areas
surrounding the Park, supporting anecdotal
evidence that our neighbouring communities
view the Park as their local park, their ‘backyard’,
and plan their leisure activities accordingly.
Two significant management changes this year
were the Authority’s administrative relocation
within the Communities NSW super agency
and the completion of the Sports Centre and
Sports Halls’ and Hockey Centre’s transition
from State Sports Centre Trust management
to Authority control. The Sports Halls, Sports
Centre and Hockey Centre are now integrated
with other Authority-controlled sports
venues to achieve operational synergies
and drive efficiencies.
The Authority’s commitment to the ethos
of the ‘Green Games’ and the overall sustainable
development of the Park continues undimmed,
with all new development contractually
required to meet stringent environmentally
sustainable design criteria and the Authority’s
continued focus on managing the
environmentally sensitive areas under our
stewardship in accordance with world’s
best practice.

Future directions
Looking forward, the Authority will continue
to seek efficiencies and performance
improvements. Our cost to Government
continues to be reduced as we implement new
policies and procedures to maximise selfgenerated revenue and reduce costs.
This will place us on an even firmer footing to
meet new challenges and opportunities.
The Park provides the people of New South
Wales with a world-class event precinct, one
capable of hosting the world’s largest events.
This capability is integral to the nation’s ability
to bid for events such as the 2018 and 2022
Soccer World Cups, which if successful, will
make full use of Sydney Olympic Park.
I would like to acknowledge the skills
and dedication of the Sydney Olympic Park
Authority team in the management of
the Park.

Alan Marsh | Chief Executive Officer
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About us
Sydney Olympic Park Authority –
creating a new, vibrant
township for Sydney
Sydney Olympic Park Authority is responsible for managing and developing
the 640 hectares that comprise Sydney Olympic Park and maintaining it as a
lasting legacy for the people of New South Wales. Under the management of
the Authority, the Park has rapidly developed into an important urban centre
and built on its legacy as a prime destination for sporting, entertainment and
cultural activities.
Over the past nine years, the Authority has overseen more than $1 billion
worth of development projects and welcomed more than 120 businesses and
almost 10,000 staff to the precinct. The Authority has ensured the
sustainable management of 430 hectares of parklands and seen the Park
host major sporting, entertainment and business events and engage in a
wide range of local community initiatives.

Our mission

1. build the Park’s position as Australia’s premier major events precinct
2. create an economically viable township that expresses high standards of
design in the private and public domains
3. create world-class parklands and encourage use thereof by the public
4. apply a best-practice environmental management approach to all aspects
of the Park’s development.

Serving the public

The future promises to be equally exciting. Under Master Plan 2030,
the Authority will manage the expansion of the Park to support a daily
population of 50,000 and including up to 20,000 daily visitors. In all its
future activities, the Authority will retain a commitment to building on the
uniqueness of the precinct as a business and educational hub and the number
one destination for sporting and leisure activities for metropolitan Sydney.

Who we are

Our vision

The Authority was established on 1 July 2001 as a statutory body of the NSW
Government under the Sydney Olympic Park Authority Act 2001 (NSW). Our
charter is to manage and promote the 640 hectare site, including protection
of 430 hectares of parklands.
Our vision is for Sydney Olympic Park to become an internationally admired
example of sustainable urban renewal and development that successfully
integrates world-class venue infrastructure and parklands with a new
community of workers, residents, students and visitors. This would create an
innovative example of place making: a township offering a healthy, creative
and vibrant urban environment.

Our mission is to:

In achieving its mission, the Authority seeks to support two key Government
priorities:
• To grow prosperity across NSW …
through increased business investment and acting as the major event
precinct for NSW.
• To enhance our environment for living …
by providing jobs closer to home and facilitating more people using parks,
sporting and recreational facilities and participating in the arts and
cultural activity.

What we do

The Authority is responsible for promoting, coordinating and managing the
orderly use and economic development of Sydney Olympic Park, including the
provision and management of $1.8 billion of infrastructure.
This includes promoting, coordinating, organising, managing, undertaking,
securing and conducting cultural, sporting, educational, commercial, tourist,
recreational, entertainment and transport activities and facilities. The
Authority is also charged with providing, operating and maintaining public
transport facilities within the Park. The protection and enhancement of the
natural and cultural heritage of the Park, particularly the Millennium
Parklands, is another key responsibility of the Authority.
In addition, the Authority continues to liaise with and maintain
arrangements with Olympic organisations such as the International
Olympic Committee and the Australian Olympic Committee Incorporated.
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Organisational overview

Organisational structure

Chief Executive
Officer

Corporate governance
The Sydney Olympic Park Authority Act 2001 (NSW),
including the related Sydney Olympic Park Authority
Regulation 2007 (NSW), requires the Authority to make all
reasonable efforts to ensure that:
• Sydney Olympic Park becomes an active and vibrant
town centre within metropolitan Sydney;
• Sydney Olympic Park becomes a premium destination
for cultural, entertainment, recreation and sporting
events;
• any new development carried out in accordance with
the Act complies with best-practice environmental
and town planning standards; and
• the natural heritage of the parklands is
protected and enhanced.

Under the Act, a governing Board of Authority (the Board)
was created to provide direction and guidance to the
Authority to ensure it meets its core functions.
They are to:
• promote, coordinate and manage the orderly and
economic development and use of Sydney Olympic
Park, including the provision and management
of infrastructure;
• promote, coordinate, organise, manage,
undertake, secure, provide and conduct cultural,
sporting, educational, commercial, tourist,
recreational, entertainment and transport activities
and facilities;

General Manager

General Manager

Operations &
Sustainability

Commercial &
Corporate

Precinct C0ordination
Parklands and Environment

Marketing, Corporate
Communications
& Media

Property Development
Lease Management

Technical Services

Venue Management

Arts and Events

Car Parking Operations

Urban Planning

Financial Services

Design

Human Resources

Building Approvals

Information

Education

Management Services
Administration Services

• protect and enhance the natural and cultural 		
heritage of Sydney Olympic Park, including
the parklands;

Corporate planning framework

• provide, operate and maintain public transport 		
facilities within Sydney Olympic Park; and

The Authority’s primary objectives relate to Place Making, Place Management, Promoting the Park and Optimising
Returns on Government Investment.

• liaise with and maintain arrangements with 		
Olympic organisations, such as the International
Olympic Committee and the Australian Olympic 		
Committee Inc.

The Authority’s Corporate Plan outlines an economic development strategy that drives development of the Park in
the areas of sport, education, events, environment and entertainment.
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The Board

The Honourable Michael Knight AO | Chair

John D Coates AC LLB

Penelope Figgis AO

Alan Marsh BBus MBA CPA | Chief Executive Officer

Mr Knight was the Minister for the Olympics from April
1995 until January 2001. He was also the Minister
responsible for the Paralympics and President of the
Sydney Organising Committee for the Olympic Games
(SOCOG).

Mr John Coates was appointed to the Board on 1 January
2005.

Ms Penelope Figgis was appointed to the Board on 1 July
200?? (typo in the word doc)

Mr Marsh commenced as Chief Executive Officer of the
Authority on 1 February 2008.

Mr Coates is President of the Australian Olympic
Committee Inc, Vice President of the International
Council of Arbitration for Sport and a Member of
the Council of the International Rowing Federation
(FISA). He is a Member of the Executive Board of the
International Olympic Committee and its Juridical, TV
Rights & New Media and 2012 London Games
Co-ordination Commissions.

Ms Figgis has been a senior member of the environment
movement for over 30 years serving on many governing
bodies including 17 years as Vice President of the
Australian Conservation Foundation. She is currently
Vice Chair for Oceania of the IUCN World Commission on
Protected Areas, Chair of the Olympic Parklands Advisory
Committee, Trustee of the Parks Forum and Visiting
Fellow at the Graduate School of the Environment,
Macquarie University.

Mr Marsh has more than 30 years experience in the public
and private sectors across precinct and facilities
management, event management, and construction and
development.

Mr Knight therefore played a significant role in the first
phase of development of Sydney Olympic Park.
Since leaving Parliament, Mr Knight has provided advice
to a range of organisations, especially in the infrastructure,
property and energy sectors, and has advised both the
Greek Government and the Organising Committee on
preparations for the Athens 2004 Olympic Games.
Mr Knight joined the Board of the Authority in July 2007.

Mr Coates is a Lawyer, Deputy Chairman of David Jones
Limited, Chairman of William Inglis & Son Ltd and a
Member of the Grant Samuel Advisory Board.

David Baffsky AO

Jack Cowin LLD

Mr Baffsky was appointed to the Board on 26 October 2009.
Mr Baffsky, a solicitor, has been associated with the Accor
Group since 1993, with his appointment as Chairman of
Accor Asia Pacific. In particular, Mr Baffsky oversaw the
construction of the Novotel at Sydney Olympic Park, the
first of the Accor Group’s four hotels now located within
the Park.
Stepping down from the day to day running of the
Group in 2008, Mr Baffsky brings a keen understanding
of the convention, exhibition and hospitality industry to
the Board.

Mr Cowin was appointed to the Board on 1 January 2005.
Mr Cowin is Executive Chairman of Competitive Foods
Australia Pty Ltd, which owns Hungry Jack’s nationally
and Kentucky Fried Chicken in Western Australia and the
Northern Territory.
Mr Cowin is a Director of Network Ten and BridgeClimb.

Liz Ellis AM BA LLB
Ms Ellis was appointed to the Board on 1 January 2008.
Ms Ellis is a Member of the Australian Sports
Commission and sits on a number of boards, including
the New South Wales Institute of Sport and the former
NSW State Sports Centre Trust.
Ms Ellis is a former captain of the Australian netball
team, a prominent media personality and sports
commentator.

She has written and lectured on protected areas and
World Heritage, innovative nature conservation and
sustainable tourism. She has served on the boards of
the Australian Tourist Commission, Great Barrier Reef
Marine Park, Uluru National Park, Northern Territory Parks
and Wildlife, Landcare Australia, Jenolan Caves and the
Environment Protection Authority.

Dennis Fitzgerald AM
Mr Fitzgerald was appointed to the Board on
26 October 2009.
Mr Fitzgerald has a 45 year association with sports
management, particularly rugby league, including as a
player with Parramatta and administrator at a local,
national and international level.
Mr Fitzgerald has also been CEO of Parramatta Leagues
Club, a Parramatta Council Alderman, a Parramatta
Stadium Trustee, and brings to the Board a deep
knowledge of sports management at all levels.

Mr Marsh’s previous roles have included Deputy DirectorGeneral (Office of Public Works and Services) of the NSW
Department of Commerce, CEO of the Darling Harbour
Authority and Commissioner for NSW, World Expo 1988.
Mr Marsh has also held senior roles in the NSW Premier’s
Department, Sydney Organising Committee for the
Olympic Games, Olympic Coordination Authority and the
Arena Management Group of Companies.

Alan Whelpton AM
Mr Whelpton was appointed to the Board on 26 October 2009.
Mr Whelpton has been closely associated with the
Australian Surf Life Saving Association for more than 50
years. A successful businessman, Mr Whelpton has served
the Surf Life Saving Association from lifeguard to national
president, a post held for 26 years, followed by seven years
as World President of the International Life Saving
Federation.
Mr Whelpton was the former chairman of the NSW State
Sports Centre Trust, which has now been merged with
Sydney Olympic Park Authority, and brings to the Board a
lifetime’s experience of amateur and volunteer
associations.

Board attendance table is located in the Appendices
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The NSW State Plan
The NSW State Plan is a commitment from the NSW Government to the people of NSW setting
out clear targets for improved outcomes and service delivery.
The purpose of the State Plan is clear: to deliver better results for the NSW community from
Government services.
The State Plan sets out the goals the community wants the NSW Government to work towards
and identifies priorities for Government action that will help achieve each of these goals. Targets
have been set where possible.
In addition, the Authority makes significant contributions to the State Plan goals:
GREEN STATE, HEALTHY COMMUNITIES, STRONGER COMMUNITIES.

GREEN STATE

STRONGER COMMUNITIES

Secure sustainable supplies of water and use our
water more wisely

Promote our parks

This goal is supported through the Authority’s operation
and expansion of the Water Reclamation and
Management Scheme which supplies recycled water for
non-potable uses throughout the Park and the adjacent
suburb of Newington.
Sydney Olympic Park Authority continues to provide effective and valuable support to the NSW
State Plan; in particular to the area of creating BETTER TRANSPORT AND LIVEABLE CITIES.
The Authority supports the State Plan targets of:

Increase walking and cycling
The Authority maintains 35 km of walking and
cycle paths, providing key connectivity with a
network of walking paths and cycle ways
throughout Sydney. The Park also plays a
significant role in supporting the State
Government’s NSW Bike Plan.

Increase the number of jobs
closer to home
The development of Sydney Olympic Park as a
centre for commerce, education and residential
development directly supports this State Plan
target of attractive places to live, work and visit.
The Authority’s commitment to the development
of the Park as a landmark urban centre, building
on the legacy of the Sydney 2000 Olympic
Games infrastructure, is entirely in alignment
with this target area.

Protect our native vegetation, biodiversity, land, rivers
and coastal waterways
The Authority’s stewardship of a range of endangered
species habitats, including forest, wetlands and the
brickpit area, which is home to the Green and Golden
Bell Frog, directly support this State Plan goal.

HEALTHY COMMUNITIES
Promote healthy lifestyles
The Park’s network of walking and cycle paths, outstanding
sporting facilities, parks, playgrounds and ongoing support
for community sports and leisure activities directly
contribute to this State Plan goal.

The Authority’s management of the Park’s 430 hectares
of parklands provide key support for this goal.

Increase participation in recreational and
sporting activities
The Park’s unrivalled sporting infrastructure is utilised
for significant community sporting and leisure activities;
support for community involvement and use of the
Park’s facilities is a key Authority priority.

Increase participation in the arts and cultural activity
Sydney Olympic Park hosts Australia’s largest, sitespecific urban art collection and provides tangible
support for the arts through a series of exhibitions at
the Armory Gallery and through the innovative ‘Artists in
Residence’ program within the Newington Armory,
making art more accessible to the public.
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Master Plan 2030
A blueprint for the future of Sydney Olympic Park
Sydney Olympic Park’s Draft Master Plan 2030 (Master Plan 2030) is a far-reaching vision for the
sustainable development of Sydney Olympic Park.
Master Plan 2030 is designed to facilitate the Park’s continuing evolution into a vibrant specialist
economic centre and urban parkland by:
• building on Sydney Olympic Park’s uniqueness as an outstanding sports, entertainment and
recreation precinct;
• expanding the Park’s rapidly growing business, education and hospitality activities; and
• introducing new urban activities including residential uses that will activate the precinct on a
24/7 basis.
The creation of a vibrant town centre is well underway at Sydney Olympic Park and Master Plan
2030 will guide its continued evolution.
It is also an opportunity to establish a best-practice example of sustainable urban development
while enhancing the Park’s status as Australia’s home of major sporting and entertainment events.
Master Plan 2030 builds on the Park’s internationally recognised initiatives in energy and water
management, green building design and sound economic and ecological management, and is
supported by extensive research and analysis through technical studies covering traffic
management, noise management, social impacts, engineering, sustainability, equitable access and
major event operations.
The Park’s sporting and recreational facilities and 430 hectares of parklands ensure its unique place
in offering a solution to Sydney’s population growth, providing opportunities for enhanced qualityof-life and healthy lifestyle choices.
By 2030, Sydney Olympic Park’s growth will accelerate, with 1.4 million m2 of new construction
planned and the precinct eventually catering for a daily population of over 50,000 people, in
addition to visitors and event patrons.
More than 31,000 extra jobs will be situated at Sydney Olympic Park, with about 6,000 new
dwellings constructed to house approximately 14,000 residents.
The Park will also support up to 5,000 students and approximately 20,000 day visitors, while
retaining major event capability for up to 250,000 patrons and improving access to the precinct’s
430 hectares of parklands.
Master Plan 2030 is supported by an Infrastructure Contributions Framework that details what
facilities and services need to be provided for the new population and how they will be funded.

What is Master Plan 2030?

Why a long-term plan?

Master Plan 2030 is the blueprint for the future
development of Sydney Olympic Park.

The purpose of Master Plan 2030 is to:

It is the culmination of an extensive and comprehensive
process comprising relevant technical studies and
stakeholder consultation.
Master Plan 2030 establishes planning principles and
controls for the future development of Sydney Olympic
Park relating to:
• sustainability;
• public domain;
• event access and closures;
• land use and density;
• building form and amenity;
• access and parking;
• landscape and site; and
• community facilities.
It also establishes specific controls and guidelines
including land uses, site configuration, floor space
ratios, building zones and setbacks, building heights,
and events management for the nine precinct areas
known as Central, Sports and Education, Stadia, Sydney
Showground, Parkview, Haslams, Boundary Creek,
Tennis and Southern Sports.

• provide a comprehensive approach to the long-term
development of Sydney Olympic Park;
• ensure Sydney Olympic Park continues to evolve into
an active, vibrant town within metropolitan Sydney;
• protect and enhance the public domain and the
parklands;
• protect Sydney Olympic Park’s role as the premier
destination for cultural, entertainment, recreation
and sporting events; and
• provide detailed planning/design principles and
controls to encourage development of Sydney
Olympic Park that responds to its context, and which
contributes to the quality of the built environment,
future character and cultural significance of the Park.
Master Plan 2030 has been prepared in accordance with
the requirements of the Sydney Olympic Park Authority
Act 2001 and Draft SEPP (Major Projects) Amendment
No 20, and builds on and expands the current Sydney
Olympic Park Master Plan 2002. Master Plan 2030 is a
control for all new development in the precinct.
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Nine precincts – one unique urban centre

Central

Sports and Education

The structuring principles that underpin Master Plan
2030 have been developed using the key Olympic urban
and landscape elements as ordering devices.
This has facilitated the development of nine distinct
precincts, each of which will generate through the
staged implementation of Master Plan 2030 the specific
characteristics that will make Sydney Olympic Park not
only a premium destination for major events and
recreational and entertainment activities, but also a
world-class urban centre where people work, live, learn
and play.

Central
This precinct is fast becoming the heart of a new, modern
town. Currently characterised by low-density commercial
and industrial buildings, Central will progressively evolve
into a mixed-use urban neighbourhood with commercial
offices, retail and residential uses.
The majority of commercial and retail uses within Central
will be concentrated around the existing train station and
significant public places such as Jacaranda Square and
Station Square.
A network of new streets and local parks will continue
Central’s transformation into a lively, pedestrian-oriented
precinct that will be ideal for the new residential
community that will call Sydney Olympic Park home in the
coming years.

Southern Sports

Boundary Creek and Tennis

Sports and Education
Integrating Sydney Olympic Park’s Athletics and Aquatic
Centre venues with a series of new streets and buildings
will create a vibrant sports and education campus – an
active precinct incorporating educational uses, retail
facilities and student accommodation.
The precinct’s existing sporting venues will continue to
operate on a daily and special-event basis, helping to
define this unique place well into the future.
New buildings within the Sports and Education precinct
will vary from two-to-four storeys within the campus itself,
with larger six-to-seven storey edge-defining structures
located along Dawn Fraser and Edwin Flack Avenues.

Southern Sports
Home to Sydney Olympic Park Sports Centre and Hockey
Centre, the Southern Sports precinct will continue as a
major sporting destination, while additional development
will occur in selected locations to increase daily activity
within the precinct.
Venue expansion will also allow the ongoing development
of both performance and community sporting uses.

Boundary Creek and Tennis
The Boundary Creek and Tennis precincts, currently
incorporating public car parking, the Sydney Olympic Park
Golf Centre and the Sydney Olympic Park Tennis Centre,
will be developed into a mixed-use precinct including
commercial, health, sport and residential uses. At the
same time, the focus on the precinct’s premium sporting
facilities that have defined the site since the Sydney 2000
Olympic and Paralympic Games will be maintained.

Parkview

Sydney Showground

A strong, edge-defining wall of buildings, anchored by a
residential tower, will reinforce the primacy of Olympic
Boulevard as a major urban space. South of Boundary
Creek will see development designed to complement its
excellent sporting facilities, and this development may
include club facilities, an academy function centre, and a
centre of sporting excellence.

Parkview
Parkview will become a distinctive Sydney Olympic Park
precinct with direct links to parklands.
A new network of streets will facilitate the transformation
of this suburban office precinct into a pedestrian
orientated residential neighbourhood with
commercial and community uses developed closer to the
centre of the town.
Parkview precinct will be characterised by a transition in
scale from larger, more urban architectural forms along
Australia Avenue, to lower courtyard buildings along
Bennelong Parkway that engage with the parklands
environs.

Sydney Showground
This precinct, which is the home of the Sydney Royal Easter
Show and also a busy centre for exhibitions, conferences
and special events, will be continually developed and
enhanced.
The Overflow, the township’s major urban park located in
the south west of the Sydney Showground precinct, is
planned to incorporate new eateries and a new bar/bistro
located on the Yulang and Boulevard frontages.

Haslams

Stadia

Haslams
The Haslams precinct, which affords views to parklands
and the suburb of Newington, will be transformed into a
leafy residential precinct on a site that is currently used for,
among other things, coach parking.
Characterised by generous courtyard buildings, a new
feature of the Haslams precinct will be a linear park
extending nearly the full width of the precinct.
Additionally, a mixed-use block incorporating coach
parking and commercial uses will serve as a transition and
buffer between the Stadia precinct and Haslams’ new
residential neighbourhood.

Stadia
The iconic structures in this precinct, such as ANZ Stadium,
Acer Arena, Olympic Boulevard and the Light Towers, form
an enduring image and a powerful reminder of the legacy
of the Sydney 2000 Olympic and Paralympic Games at
Sydney Olympic Park.
They also continue to serve as Australia’s premier venues
for major sporting and entertainment events. The Stadia
precinct will be further enhanced by new development
within the precinct that will ensure these venues continue
to enjoy world-class status.
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July 09
‘Kids in the Park’ fifth anniversary celebrated
Sydney Olympic Park is known for many things, as a
place to work, the great sporting and entertainment
venues or the Park’s many parks and open spaces.
However, for many tens of thousands of parents across
Sydney, the Park is known as the home of one of the
nation’s biggest and best school holiday programs.
The ‘Kids in the Park’ program has grown over the years
and now covers more than 50 activities each school
holidays, providing a range of diverse activities for
children from ages 3 to 17, many of which are free.
Activities are as diverse as the Park’s venues, ranging
from Archery and Acrobatics to Scuba Diving and
Writing Workshops.
To celebrate the program’s fifth birthday, more than 2,500 people attended a birthday party at the Sydney Olympic
Park Aquatic Centre on 14 July 2009, with a focus on the kids. The location was particularly appropriate given the
Aquatic Centre is a hub for ‘Kids in the Park’ activities.
‘Kids in the Park’ isn’t just about keeping children occupied in the school holidays, although it does that very well
indeed; more recent programs have been implemented to teach life skills such as the new ‘Kids in the Kitchen’
activity which teaches kids to cook healthy and fun foods, with a focus on nutritional everyday eating.
More adventurous activities are well catered for, at the action sport Monster Skatepark and BMX/MountainX tracks.
Here budding skateboard and BMX stars can get tuition from professional instructors in a safe and structured
environment, in the best such facility in Australia.
‘Kids in the Park’ is one program that’s a hit not only with participants, but with their parents as well. The very high
numbers of parents who enrol their kids year after year attests to that success.

july
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Selected artworks from the Authority’s
first international travelling exhibition,
Coming Home, are sold at a charity
auction, raising $80,000 for Victorian
Bushfire Relief. The exhibition by 30
Chinese Australian artists had
previously been on show in Beijing

Hockey Centre supporting community
and elite athletes alike
The Sydney Olympic Park Hockey Centre was originally
built to support elite sporting competition; however,
in the years since it has developed into the centre of
community and school-based competition in NSW,
while still supporting elite hockey.
Events such as the Sydney Hockey Association’s Men’s
Competition regularly draw up to 700 participants
throughout the day most Saturdays, while other
competitions such as the Sydney Women’s Hockey
League draw over 200 participants several nights a
week and more than 700 competitors every Sunday.
This is in addition to supporting state and national hockey
tournaments such as the Women’s Champions Trophy
Tournament and the mid-week Hockeyfest in 2009.
The Hockey Centre provides an outstanding venue for
community-based competitions as well as serving as the
breeding grounds for Australia’s future Hockeyroo and
Kookaburra national teams.

11
A Hillsong Church conference is held
over five days at the Sports Centre,
attracting 12,500 participants

The Aquatic Centre
plays host to the
National Water Polo
championships over
three days

Armory Exhibition
The Newington Armory Precinct is home to the Armory
Gallery, a former explosives storehouse that is now one
of Sydney’s most innovative public art spaces.
The Gallery hosts a variety of visual art exhibitions
throughout the year, including the annual ARTEXPRESS
collection of Higher School Certificate artworks.
The Armory Exhibition 2009 ran from July through to
September and attracted over 6,000 members of the
public. It was also the subject of a favourable feature on
ABC TV’s Sunday Arts program.
Works on display comprised a range of art pieces
created by 21 participants from the Authority’s Artists
at the Armory artist-in-residence program, which sees
artists living and working within the precinct and using
the Armory’s arts workshops to develop and create
new works.
The Armory Exhibition 2009 showcased the diversity of
contemporary art practice across a range of disciplines
including installation art, ceramics, photography,
sculpture, painting and new media.

26

29

The Sports Halls play host to two different sports
competitions in adjacent halls concurrently, with
300 competitors in round 5 of the Table Tennis
Veterans Competition and the Volleyball NSW
Sydney competition attracting over 300 players

The Basketball International
Wheelchair Tournament is held at
the Sports Centre, with more than
1,500 competitors, officials and
spectators per day attending over
four days
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August 09
India-Australia Friendship Fair 09 cements ties of amity
Sydney Olympic Park once again played host to the
India-Australia Friendship Fair, one of the largest
gatherings of Indians outside the sub-continent, with
more than 15,000 people flocking to the Sydney Olympic
Park Athletics Centre on Sunday 9 August 2009 to attend
the 15th annual fair.
Coinciding with the 62nd Indian Independence Day,
visitors were treated to a showcase of Indian dance,
music, food and crafts. Over 150 performers graced the
stage throughout the day, including local performers
Tania Zaetta and Kamahl, together with home-grown
and international entertainers.
Originally starting out as a cultural festival, the Friendship Fair has grown into a major opportunity
for commerce displays, with a variety of businesses taking the opportunity to highlight the
growing links between the Indian and Australian economies through public displays and stalls.
As one of the biggest community festivals on the event’s calendar, the Authority’s event team was
heavily involved in planning for the day, with additional staff on hand to assist with traffic and
transport, parking and visitor assistance.
The India-Australia Friendship Fair also involves a host of VIP visitors, including local, State and
Federal parliamentarians, together with members of the diplomatic community, requiring an
additional level of planning and cooperation with a variety of agencies.
The end result was a great day of friendship, food and fun for thousands of Park visitors, with the
India-Australia Friendship Fair now a permanent part of the Sydney event calendar.

aug
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Over 9,000 people participate in six days of
swimming competitions throughout August
at the Aquatic Centre

The Sports Centre hosts two very different
events on the same day. The first is a Taekwondo
tournament for 2,500 competitors and
spectators, followed by the NSW & Australian
Jazz Ballet and Theatrical Championships,
attended by more than 600 people

Park Technical Insight Tours a
hit with local and overseas
organisations alike
As the site of the ‘best Games ever’, Sydney Olympic Park
provides a shining example of what can be achieved, not
just in hosting an outstandingly successful Olympic
Games, but in managing the ongoing legacy of the
Games to ensure that the Olympics have an impact
that lasts well beyond the Games.
This success has ensured that cities around the world
look to Sydney for insights when they seek to bid for
major events, as well as to study an innovative example
of sustainable urban renewal and development.
To this end, the Authority’s education team run Technical
Insight Tours for visiting groups, providing insights into
the management, expertise, design and legacy of the
Games, tailored to meet the needs of the group.
In the years leading up to their hosting of the Games,
numerous tour groups from Beijing and London have
all visited the Park, seeking to learn from Sydney’s
outstanding success. Many other groups have visited
the Park to gain knowledge on the environmental
legacies of the ‘Green Games’.

2009 Rock Eisteddfod
The Sydney Olympic Park Sports Centre played host to
the 2009 Sydney Rock Eisteddfod Championships which
saw more than 10,000 performers and spectators
participate over five days from 3 August 2009.
The Eisteddfod brings together students from schools
across NSW who have won regional heats and advanced
to the state championships.
Each school performs a story of up to eight minutes
duration set to contemporary music. Each school’s
performance can involve between 10 and 120 students
on stage, as well as up to 20 backstage crew. The entire
show is set to a pre-recorded soundtrack of
contemporary music and the aim is to use dancing and
drama to tell the story.
The Sports Centre provides the perfect venue for the
Rock Eisteddfod, with excellent facilities and resources
to stage the event, including the often unusual requests
made by schools for their performances, while providing
an intimate venue for the audience.

More than a decade after the Sydney 2000 Olympic
Games, Sydney continues to be recognised as a leader
in hosting and building on the legacy of the Games’.

As in previous years, the level of performance was
consistently very high with the best schools chosen to
go forward to the Sydney grand final where Mackellar
Girls’ Campus of Northern Beaches Secondary College
won the 2009 Eisteddfod Premier Division Grand Final.

22
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The Sports Halls host the Table
Tennis NSW School Girls
Challenge Cup, with the Boys
Cup held two days later

The NSW State Age Short Course
Championships attract 3,000
participants over two days to
the Aquatic Centre

75,000 fans turn out to watch the
Wallabies and All Blacks clash in the
2009 Bledisloe Cup at ANZ Stadium,
continuing the Bledisloe’s outstanding
attendance figures over recent years.
The All Blacks defeated the Wallabies
19-18 in a bruising physical encounter
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September 09
Bulldogs vs Eels NRL Preliminary Final

Construction commences on
Australia Towers

Sydney Olympic Park is the Australian
home to some of the world’s major
events, from the Olympics to the
Rugby World Cup and the World
Masters Games. A key part of
this success is the integrated
management of all aspects of
support to a major event and the
close working relationships that have
been built up with key agencies to
ensure a successful event.
The 25 September clash between the
Bulldogs and the Eels in the NRL
Preliminary Final involved two Sydney
teams and drew a large crowd, with
more than 70,000 fans attending,
transforming ANZ Stadium into a sea
of yellow and blue or blue and white,
depending on affiliation.
In the weeks leading up to the match,
Sydney Olympic Park Authority event
specialists met with key stakeholders,
including both clubs, the NRL, ANZ
Stadium and state emergency, traffic
and transport authorities to ensure
that the event ran smoothly.

sept
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The Park’s ongoing evolution from
events precinct to economic and
community centre is recognised,
with the Geographic Names Board
awarding Sydney Olympic Park the
status of a suburb

Both the 2002 and the 2030 Sydney Olympic Park Master
Plans envisioned future development of the Park to
include a permanent residential community.
That vision took a step closer towards fruition with the
September commencement of construction on Stage 1 of
Australia Towers, the Park’s first residential development.
The project will be completed in three stages, with Stage 1
scheduled for occupancy in early 2012.

Key tasks involved scheduling
additional bus and train services to
and from the Park, alerting the media
to get the traffic and transport
messages out to the public, ensuring
that all car parks are available and
managed throughout the night,
arranging temporary additional food
and entertainment options for fans
on the night and that the evening’s
event is as smooth, unobtrusive and
seamless as possible.
For a major event such as this,
the Authority has over 100 staff in
attendance, a mix of full time and
contract staff, to manage traffic, the

15
The Olympic Cauldron, now located
in The Overflow, is lit to celebrate
the ninth anniversary of the opening
ceremony of the Sydney 2000 Olympic
Games

flow of cars through the Park’s seven
car parks, the food and entertainment
outside ANZ Stadium and managing
the numerous issues involved when
70,000 passionate supporters gather
in the Park.
The final result may not have been to
the Bulldogs’ liking, but 70,000 fans
attended without having to worry
about all the planning and preparation
that had taken place, which in itself is
a sign of a well-run event.
Something the Sydney Olympic Park
Authority events team undertakes
thousands of times every year, for
events large and small.

18

The apartments in Stage 1 will comprise a mix of one,
two and three bedroom luxury apartments over 24
storeys, plus a mix of commercial and retail tenants on
the ground floor.
In keeping with the Park’s environmental ethos, Australia
Towers exceeds the Government’s Building Sustainability
Index rating (BASIX) through good design which utilises
appropriate building materials, applies cross-ventilation
for cooling and provides high levels of natural lighting.
In addition, Australia Towers will be connected to the
Park’s Water Reclamation and Management Scheme
(WRAMS), allowing the use of recycled water for laundry,
toilet flushing, irrigation and car washing.
Australia Towers has proven extremely popular, with
contracts exchanged on more than 80% of Stage 1’s 216
units before 30 June 2010, more than 18 months out from
the scheduled completion date.

19
International music superstar
Beyonce plays the first of two
concerts at Acer Arena, before
more than 33,000 fans

The NSW Badminton SBA Open Competition
attracts more than 400 competitors over two
days at the Sports Halls. Badminton’s growing
popularity sees the Halls host numerous
competitions throughout the year

Spring bird census
To ensure accurate monitoring of the Park’s bird
population, the Park has teamed with the Cumberland
Bird Observers’ Club to conduct an annual census of bird
populations within the Park.
The spring census, now in its eighth year, took place over
eight weeks from September, with counting occurring at
49 sites throughout the Park.
A total bird count of 23,509 birds was recorded, across
116 species, in line with recent years. A welcome note
was that 49 species were found to be breeding within
the Park.
A number of species that are of concern at the national
level due to population declines were found within the
Park. For example, the Red-browed Finch, a bushbird
disappearing across many urban areas, was commonly
found in the Park.
Thanks to the support of over 40 volunteers, who gave
449 hours of their time, the census ensured that
accurate information was available to the Park’s
environment team, allowing them to effectively manage
native birds and their habitat in the Park.

27
The City of Sydney Spring Cycle is Sydney’s most popular
annual recreational cycling event. This year, 10,800 cyclists
of all ages and abilities converged on Sydney Olympic Park
as part of Sydney Olympic Park’s Festival of Cycle
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October 09
Sydney Olympic Park delivers the best
World Masters Games
The seventh World Masters Games
were held in Sydney over nine days of
competition in October, with Sydney
Olympic Park providing the centrepiece
of the action.
The Games are the largest multi-sport
event in the world and involved more than
28,600 competitors, almost three times as
many as participated in the Sydney 2000
Olympic Games. This was the third time
Australia has hosted the World Masters
Games, with Brisbane hosting the third
Games in 1984 and Melbourne playing
host to the fifth Games in 2002.
In total, 50 venues throughout NSW were
utilised to support World Masters Games
competition, with Sydney Olympic Park in
the thick of the action. In addition to
providing the venue for the massive
opening ceremonies, all of the major
venues were fully engaged throughout
the Games. The Athletic Centre was the
nexus for the Games in the Park, with up
to 7,000 participants a day competing in
an array of track and field events over the
full nine days of competition.

oct
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The Sydney Olympic Park Sports Centre
plays host to 2,200 people attending the
Georges River College Year 12 graduation
celebration

Other venues were also integral to the
Games’ success:
Sports Centre – Badminton
Tennis Centre – Tennis
Sports Halls – Volleyball
Hockey Centre – Hockey
Aquatic Centre – Swimming and diving
Archery Centre – Archery
Sydney Showground Southee Pavilion –
Weightlifting
Designed to accommodate the largest
events, Sydney Olympic Park was well
able to cope with the influx of competitors,
officials and spectators, with World
Masters Games officials declaring
they were well pleased with the
Park’s performance.
An echo of an earlier accolade was heard
in the words of International Masters
Games Association President Kai Holm,
who stated to the media at the conclusion
of the 2009 World Masters Games, that
Sydney had delivered “absolutely the best
Games ever”.

3

4

The Aquatic Centre hosts 1,500 participants
in the Long Course Swimming Carnival and
a further 1,500 in the NSW Short Course
Development Meet on the following day

83,000 NRL fans, a packed house, gather
for the NRL Grand Final at ANZ Stadium
between the Melbourne Storm and the
Parramatta Eels

Green and Golden Bell Frog

Filming in the Park

The Park’s freshwater wetlands provide essential habitat
for a range of species, in particular the Green and Golden
Bell Frog. Narawang Wetland is one of the frog’s key
breeding areas, and contains 22 ponds, set amongst
dense grasses and sedges. Unfortunately, the ponds have
become infested with Gambusia holbrooki, a fish species
which preys heavily on the frog’s tadpole stage and can
decimate a population.

Sydney Olympic Park’s unique mix of parklands, heritage
buildings, modern commercial centre and venues such
as car parks and open spaces make it a popular venue
for filming.

To control this introduced pest, a number of ponds were
drained and left to dry over a four-week period and then
refilled with fish-free water. This was the sixth year that
this program has been undertaken and as in previous
years, the program has had positive results, with
tadpoles being found in the ponds within two weeks
of refilling and large numbers surviving to develop
into frogs.
This fish species is an exceedingly difficult one to
eliminate and normally reinfests the ponds some
months after refilling, necessitating an ongoing
management program by the Park’s environment team
to ensure the viability of one of the Park’s signature
endangered species.

5
The Authority’s partnership with Sculpture
by the Sea saw six international artists
living and working at Newington Armory
throughout October. As well as contributing
to the success of the world’s largest
temporary public art exhibition, three of
the sculptures created at the Armory
studios now enhance the Park’s Blaxland
Riverside Park and Armory precincts

The Authority is very supportive of filming, in line
with the NSW Government filming support policy,
and facilitates requests to ensure that the Park is an
attractive filming destination.
A typical request may involve filming a music video in a
multi-level car park, a fashion photo shoot by the
northern water feature, a new car commercial on the
streets of the Park or mine shaft disaster scene in the
Armory.
All of these shoots are provided with support by the
Authority, with rangers, road closures, appropriate access
and a myriad of other assistance provided as a matter of
course and at minimal cost.
In 2009-10, the Authority facilitated a total of 34 film
requests, which contributed millions of dollars to the
NSW economy.
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ANZ Stadium plays host to the
Football NSW 2009 Champion of
Champion Women’s Grand Final

Cheerleading is not just an
American institution, as proven by
a major cheerleading competition
attracting 4,000 participants to
the Sports Centre over two days
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November 09
Sports Centre celebrates 25 fabulous years

The Sydney Olympic Park Sports Centre, as the oldest facility within the Park,
celebrated its 25th anniversary on 21 November 2009 with a gala celebration
in the main arena.
In its 25 years, the Sports Centre, has hosted over 1,700 major events,
including state, national and international championships in over 30
different sports and today is the venue for a wide variety of community
sports and activities.
Over the years, the Sports Centre has also played host to a vast array of
non-sporting activities, ranging from concerts by artists as diverse as
Midnight Oil and The Wiggles, through to dance parties, beauty pageants
and any number of trade shows – a clear example of the adaptability of one
of the Park’s most versatile venues.
In November alone, the Sports Centre played host to a charity boxing event,
a scholastic book sale, a cheerleading competition, the Invincible Champions
of Mu Tai martial arts exhibition, a robotics expo, several school speech
nights, physical culture competitions and a dance party.
During the Olympics, the Sports Centre played host to the Table Tennis and
Taekwondo competitions and today is the home of some of Australia’s elite
sporting teams including the NSW Swifts netball team.

Aquatic Centre the centre of
swimming competition
The Sydney Olympic Park Aquatic Centre was built as
part of the bid for the Sydney 2000 Olympic Games,
incorporating state-of-the-art design and rapidly
acquiring an international reputation as a ‘fast pool’.
Today, some 16 years later, the Aquatic Centre continues
to support the development of Australia’s swimmers and
divers at all levels of competition, from school swimming
carnivals to international competition.
In November alone, the Aquatic Centre hosted 18 separate
competitions, spanning swimming, diving and water polo,
involving more than 17,000 participants. These
competitions ranged from school swimming carnivals
and Water Polo Championships through to the 2009
Metropolitan Swimming Championships, which attracted
over 1,200 participants per day.
This was in addition to the tens of thousands of casual
patrons who visit the Centre each month to swim, attend
the gym or undertake other aquatic activities such as
learn to swim classes or aqua fitness classes. For many
families in the areas surrounding the Park, the Aquatic
Centre is their local pool and the many community
activities it offers simply add to the Centre’s attraction.
Whether for competitive swimming, diving or water
polo or as a place for all the family, the Aquatic Centre
continues to deliver benefits to competitors and the
community alike.

nov
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More than 200 athletes take
part in a Wheelchair Tennis
Talent ID competition at the
Tennis Centre, helping to
identify Australia’s future
wheelchair tennis champions

15
Newington Armory hosts the
annual World Picnic Day. This year,
2,000 people explored the
parklands, participated in family
picnic games, music and dancing,
enjoyed roving entertainers and
rode the Heritage Railway
Discovery tour
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Britney Spears’ ‘Circus’ tour smashes
the Acer Arena record for tickets sold
for an act performing over consecutive
nights, selling 66,247 tickets over four
shows (16, 17, 18 & 19 November 2009)

A glimpse into the future with the Sports
Centre playing host over two days to a
major Robotics Expo

12,000 feet hit the road for Run4Fun
Six thousand runners transformed the Park into a
running track for the first Rebel Sport Run4Fun on
Sunday 8 November 2009.
The event saw the course wind though the Park’s inner
core, its venues and the parklands, with participants
experiencing joining the ‘famous blue line’ and the roar
of the crowd to cross the finish line in ANZ Stadium.
Run4Fun was a partnership which saw the event raise
funds for a number of charities, including the Westmead
Children’s Hospital, the Sydney Children’s Hospital and the
John Hunter Children’s Hospital.
The Authority partnered with a number of other
organisations, including the Novotel and ANZ Stadium,
The Sun Herald, 2XU, Brooks and Rebel Sport to stage and
support the event.
The Run4Fun was a true community event, with elite
athletes joined by family groups, wheelchair athletes,
mums pushing strollers, fun groups of people dressed
in themes and kids of all ages.
Despite inclement weather, the Run4Fun was deemed a
huge success by organisers, so much so that the Run4Fun
will now be an annual event.

27
Members of the Islamic community conduct the
annual prayers at the end of Haj (Eid-Al-Adha) on
the village green at Bicentennial Park. These
prayers are traditionally held outdoors and were
deemed a great success, attracting 2,200
worshippers
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December 09

EnergyAustralia
education sponsorship
renewed for three years
The delivery of high-quality
education programs is a key priority
of the Authority’s education team.

Sydney Telstra 500 V8 Supercars roar into life
The inaugural Sydney Telstra 500
race at Sydney Olympic Park has
been declared a success by V8
Supercars, with crowd numbers of
up to 184,000 reported by the media
across the three days of the event.
Organisers praised the circuit layout
and the close racing throughout
the two days of competition,
held over the weekend of 5 and 6
December 2009.
The racing was fast and furious,
with the tight circuit claiming
numerous victims in practice and
during the two days of racing. The
eventual winner of the inaugural
Sydney race, comprised of two 250
km races across the weekend, was
Jason Courtney of the Jim Beam
Racing team, racing a Ford.
The first signs of the race began
appearing within the precinct some
six weeks before the event, with
barricades, overhead bridges and
grandstands appearing around the
site. As race day approached, the
first of a complex series of traffic

dec
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Over 1,500 fans attend the Black Street
RNB Concert at the Sports Centre

controls was implemented, allowing
for race preparations to proceed with
as little disruption to traffic into and
through the Park as possible.
It was a busy time for the Authority’s
event team, who were liaising with a
wide variety of stakeholders to
ensure that the event ran smoothly
with as little disruption to the Park’s
operations as possible.
The inclusion of concerts on the
Friday and Saturday nights was also
a success, with legendary Australian
rockers Cold Chisel reuniting on a
warm Saturday evening in ANZ
Stadium in front of 45,000 fans.
The nature of the V8 crowd, which
saw visitors arrive by car and public
transport throughout each day of
the event, made for a less congested
transport peak and contributed to
the success of the event.

Sydney Olympic Park Retailers’ Forum convenes
The ongoing growth and
development of the Park’s urban
core, combined with the influx of
retailers to service the Park’s growing
workforce, encouraged the Authority
to establish the Sydney Olympic Park
Retailers’ Forum which met for the
first time in December.
The Forum promotes the free twoway flow of information between the
Authority and the Park’s retailers,
ensuring the retailers are aware of
Park activities which may affect their
business and that the Authority is
aware of issues of importance to the
Forum’s participants.

The success of the inaugural Sydney
Telstra 500 once again highlighted
Sydney Olympic Park’s capabilities
to handle the largest and most
complex events.

7
The Aquatic Centre hosts
the Joint Building Industry
Picnic Day, involving more
than 1,200 builders and
their families

A key subject at the Forum meetings
is upcoming events, activities and
developments in the Park. This
ensures that retailers are aware of
events that may impact on their
business, such as road closures
impacting on deliveries, or that might
affect trading hours or staffing levels,
such as an event which will bring in
substantial visitor numbers at a time
when retailers would normally be
closing for the day.
Better information allows Park
retailers to make better informed
business decisions and feedback from
participants has been positive. The
Forum is open to all retailers that are
located in the Park and continues to
meet bi-monthly.

13
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Three hundred of the state’s best
meet at the State Open Diving
Championships, held over two days
in the Aquatic Centre’s diving pool

A competition is launched for the final design of Stages 2 and 3
of Australia Towers. Designs are sought that enhance the
design integrity of Sydney Olympic Park and support the
outcomes of Master Plan 2030

The Authority is well regarded in
the education sphere for the
curriculum-based environmental
programs the Park offers; including
eco-systems focused programs in
Bicentennial Park and in the
Newington Armory precinct for the
renewable energy component of
the courses.
The renewable energy programs are
facilitated through a close
partnership with EnergyAustralia,
which has seen the refurbishment
of a heritage-listed building within
the former Newington Armory
complex, the building having been
converted to a state-of-the-art
renewable energy learning centre.
Following the initial three-year
sponsorship agreement,
EnergyAustralia was impressed
with the significant numbers of
schools utilising the facility and
has generously recommitted to a
further three years sponsorship
of the program, enabling the
continuation of these valuable,
curriculum-based programs.

19
The popularity of martial arts
events in Australia is as
strong as ever, with more
than 4,000 people attending
The Ultimate Fighting
Champions event at the
Sports Centre over two days
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January 10
Kids swim, ride and run for fun
Almost 3,000 kids aged from 7 to 15 took part in the annual Sanitarium
Weetbix Kids TRY-athlon through the Park on Sunday 31 January 2009.
The Sydney Olympic Park event kicked off a national series of TRY-athlons
around Australia and featured a mini-triathlon involving a swim leg in the
Aquatic Centre, a bike leg around the Park and a run to the finish line in
The Overflow.
For 7 to 10 year olds, the distances were a 100 m swim, a 3 km cycle and a
500m run, while 11-15 year olds undertook stages of 200 m, 6 km and 1 km
respectively. There were no placings or times kept, with every participant
receiving a medal.

Medibank International Sydney provides
a feast of unpredictable tennis
Sydney’s only annual international sports event, the
Medibank International Sydney tennis tournament, was
held at the Sydney Olympic Park Tennis Centre from
10-16 January 2010. The Centre was in full activation with
multiple courts in use throughout the day and evening,
interactive displays, street theatre, music concerts and
live sites.
Fans were served up a fair share of upsets as the more
fancied names fell by the wayside.

2010 marked the 12th year for the TRY-athlon and the sixth year that the
event has been held at Sydney Olympic Park. The organisers reached their
100,000th participant during the 2010 national series.

World number 42 Marcos Baghdatis overcame more
fancied opponents to make his way to the final where he
defeated Frenchman Richard Gasquet in a rain
interrupted final at the Ken Rosewall Arena.

Federal Sports Minister Kate Ellis did the starting honours for the TRY-athlon,
sending the first of 2,800 participants on their way. Ms Ellis joined Australian sports
stars Brett Lee (Cricket), Libby Trickett (Swimming), Guy Leech (Triathlon) and Ahmad
Elrich (Socceroos) at the finish line to hand out medallions to each finisher.

In the women’s final, fifth seed Elena Dementieva
managed to defeat world number one Serena Williams
in an emphatic straight sets victory.

Also spotted at the event was NSW Premier Kristina Keneally, whose sons
Brendan and Daniel were taking part in the TRY-athlon.

Dementieva is the first woman since Martina Hingis in
2001 and 2002 to win the Medibank International
Sydney in consecutive years.

The TRY-athlon involved significant work for the Authority’s events team,
with Olympic Boulevard and other roads through the site being closed to
traffic for the duration of the event.

The doubles final saw Daniel Nestor and Nenad Zimonjic
defeat Ross Hutchins and Jason Kerr to win their first
Medibank International Sydney title as a team.

Throughout the year, the Park provides a venue for a range of similar
community sporting events, such as the Festival of Cycling, the Women
in Sports Festival and the Rebel Sport Run4Fun.
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The first of a series of free Movies in
The Overflow is held, with a packed
program screening throughout
January. The Authority joined with
EnergyAustralia to provide this series
of popular free movie screenings,
which attracted over 34,000
members of the community,
a new attendance record

22

The Big Day Out, which began as a humble one-off
show in 1992, held its 100th show on the Saturday,
fittingly held in Sydney where the Big Day Out
kicked off 18 years ago

Almost 30,000 cricket fans passed through ANZ
Stadium’s turnstiles on Wednesday 13 January 2010
to catch the RTA SpeedBlitz Blues take on Queensland
Bulls, making it Australia’s biggest ever domestic
Twenty20 crowd.
Fans braved a pre-game downpour and were rewarded
with a short but exciting nine-overs-a-side match.
Despite the colourful and raucous support of a parochial
home crowd, the RTA SpeedBlitz Blues couldn’t pull it off
with the Bulls claiming a 54 run win.
That almost 30,000 people braved inclement weather to
watch the match is a testament to both the popularity
of the Twenty20 format and Sydney Olympic Park’s
credentials as a sensational cricket venue.
Twenty20 cricket continues to grow in popularity in
Australia, mirroring the global popularity of this actionpacked, shortened version of the game.
Cricket is set to be a regular feature at the Park, with
ANZ Stadium having been selected to host a number of
international Twenty20 matches each summer.

26
The Big Day Out music festival moves to Sydney for
two shows on Friday 22 and Saturday 23 January in
front of packed houses at Sydney Showground.

New Twenty20 record set at ANZ Stadium

28
Australia Day is celebrated in style at
Bicentennial Park, with more than
8,000 members of the community
taking part in the day’s activities,
which included live music, crafts,
children’s rides, a petting zoo and a
fireworks extravaganza

The Latino Classroom dance event
is held over four days at the Sports
Centre, attracting up to 1,200 people
per day
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February 10

AC/DC Black Ice tour sets
the Park alight
Rock legends AC/DC have set new
records for crowd numbers at ANZ
Stadium, with their Black Ice tour
selling more than 200,000 tickets
for three shows on 18, 20 and 22
February 2010.

Largest school swimming carnival month yet
at Aquatic Centre
On 1 February 2010, the Sydney Olympic Park Aquatic
Centre played host to the first of 40 school and district
swimming carnivals to be held at the Centre in February.
More than 36,000 carnival participants passed through
the Aquatic Centre throughout the month. Demand was
so high during the school week that on some days the
Centre played host to two consecutive carnivals.
For some school students, their school and district
swimming championships are their launching pad to
future success, with many of Australia’s greatest sporting
champions having first been identified through their
success at school and district swimming carnival level.
This popularity requires considerable flexibility from the
Centre’s planning team as they juggle competing
requirements. In addition to school and district carnivals,
the Aquatic Centre continues to be in high demand for
elite competitions and training for swimming, diving and
water polo teams.
For example, the nearby NSW Institute of Sports (NSWIS)
High Performance training programs are heavy users of
the Aquatic Centre’s facilities while several NRL teams’
players are regularly seen in the pools as part of their
fitness training.

feb
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A busy day in the Park

This is in addition to the many tens of thousands of
casual visitors to the Aquatic Centre throughout
February, as the Aquatic Centre is the ‘local pool’ for the
suburbs surrounding Sydney Olympic Park.
Thus on some days, the Centre may have the NSWIS High
Performance Diving Team training in the diving pool, a
school carnival in the competition pool, children’s learn to
swim class and seniors aqua fitness class in the training
pool and toddlers playing in Splasher’s Water Playground,
making a very full day for Aquatic Centre staff.

As a location that hosts 5,000 events
annually, the Park often hosts
multiple event days. Such a day was
27 February 2010 which saw three
major events and a host of minor
events throughout the Park.
The largest was the 2010 NRL Charity
Shield match, which attracted 25,000
fans to ANZ Stadium to watch the
traditional lead-in match to the NRL
season and saw a draw between the
Dragons and Rabbitohs.

The demands on the Aquatic Centre are expected to
increase in the future, ensuring a bright,
if busy, future for the Centre.

Meanwhile, the Sydney Track Classic
saw 5,000 of Australia’s best track
and field athletes compete in
one of the nation’s premier athletics
events at the Athletics Centre.
Finally, the Canberra Capitals
defeated the Sydney Flames in the
women’s basketball championships
preliminary final at the Sports Centre
in front of 1,800 fans.
All three were big events; however,
for a place like Sydney Olympic Park,
which is designed to cope with the
world’s largest events, it was just
another busy day in the Park.

The Black Ice tour, the band’s first
Australian tour since 2001, was
always expected to draw large
crowds and the Authority’s event
team had commenced planning well
in advance to cater for the heavy
flow of fans in and out of the Park.
Traffic and transport plans were set
in place, additional staff were
rostered on to meet demand and
a wide variety of food and
entertainment options were put in
place to ensure that the experience
was an enjoyable one for the almost
70,000 fans that attended each
night’s concert.
As AC/DC’s only NSW concerts, they
attracted a sizeable contingent of
fans from out of town, ensuring that
most of the Park’s hotel rooms were
booked out.
AC/DC joins a select group of
entertainment mega-acts to sell out
the Park’s largest venue, joining the
likes of U2 and the Rolling Stones in
filling ANZ Stadium.

8
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26

27

The Authority commences enhancements to Stockroute
Park, which features the Discobolus artwork. This work is
being undertaken in collaboration with the Australasian
Hellenic Education Progressive Association

The Sydney Olympic Park Sustainability Advantage
Business Cluster holds its first meeting. Sustainability
Advantage assists businesses to reduce their energy usage
and waste outputs

The draft 2010 Parklands Plan of Management
is placed on public exhibition. The draft
plan will govern the management of the
Park’s 430 hectares of parklands for the
next five years

The Authority and the Park’s venues launch
a cooperative new business event initiative
at the AIME trade fair. ‘Gathering Naturally’
highlights the Park’s diverse offering for a
wide range of business events and attracts
significant industry interest

The Sydney Track Classic is held at the
Athletics Centre, attracting 5,000 of the
nation’s best athletes

46 Year in review

Year in review 47

March 10
ARTEXPRESS at the Armory 2010

Green classroom teaches
environmental lessons

Sydney Olympic Park has a growing reputation within the arts community
for the innovative and unusual exhibitions hosted at the Armory Gallery,
located within the Newington Armory precinct.

School students participating in
curriculum-based environmental
education programs at Sydney
Olympic Park will do so in a newlyrefurbished centre that incorporates
renewable and sustainable features.

The keystone of the Park’s arts program is the annual ARTEXPRESS
exhibition showcasing the best of NSW Year 12 students’ Higher School
Certificate artworks, part of a state-wide ARTEXPRESS program presented by
the NSW Department of Education and the Board of Studies.
Sydney Olympic Park is uniquely positioned to support ARTEXPRESS, as the Armory Gallery has the longest hanging
wall in the state, providing plenty of space to show the wide variety of works on show. This enables the Park to host
the largest metropolitan exhibition of ARTEXPRESS.
The works of 75 students were on display for two months from Tuesday 1 March 2010, and more than 10,000 students
and members of the public visited the Gallery. Spanning a wide variety of expressive forms including painting,
photography, sculpture, video and new media, the exhibition reflected the diversity of works produced by the state’s
HSC students. For most of those chosen, this was their first public exhibition and provided an excellent opportunity
for recognition on a wider stage.
Independent curator, writer and art consultant John Murphy’s theme for the exhibition, “Birds that no longer live in
my neighbourhood”, relates to the idea that art may create beautiful, Arcadian visions; equally, it may expose the
chaos and ugliness that is sometimes hidden from everyday view.
“The students are showing us how art is changing, with many now producing digital works,” he added. “These
students are embracing new art forms and technologies, and, as you’d expect, they’re challenging perceived notions
of art” said Murphy.
This is the sixth year that Sydney Olympic Park has hosted the western Sydney exhibition for ARTEXPRESS, reinforcing
its commitment to providing quality art and cultural exhibitions and activities for the people of Sydney.
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A series of free Sunday afternoon
concerts held throughout March
and April featuring rhythms,
blues, swing, jazz, folk, rock and
world music performers, attract
enthusiastic audiences to the
Armory Wharf precinct

11

12

The Islamic Al-Mawlid festival
takes place at the Sports Centre,
attracting 1,500 participants

The Australian Junior
Championships are held at the
Athletics Centre, attracting
2,500 athletes a day over four
days of competition

The Sydney Olympic Park Education
Centre has been refurbished to include
examples of sustainability in action for
the more than 20,000 students a year
who pass through the Sydney Olympic
Park Education Centre.
A raft of eco-friendly measures have
been incorporated into the
refurbished building to improve
natural light and ventilation while
reducing water and electricity use. In
addition, recycled materials have been
incorporated into the refurbishment.
Similarly, all ‘wet area’ floors within
the building have been fitted with a
durable flooring material made up of
renewable raw materials which have
natural bacteriostatic properties and
repel dust.

Australia Towers design
competition winner
announced
A key condition of the Development
Consent for the Australia Towers
residential development was that
Stages 2 and 3 would be subject to a
design competition to ensure that
the final buildings would enhance
the design integrity of Sydney
Olympic Park and support the
outcomes of the Master Plan 2030.
Following the calling for submissions
in December, three designs were
submitted for review. A competition
‘jury’ of six (with the assistance of
specialist technical advisors) assessed
the submitted designs to determine
which offered the best design
outcome, including environmentally
sustainable design outcomes.

natural ventilation and provides
sun-shading to the northern and
western aspects.
The final modified circular plans are a
stylistic reference to the Park’s
Olympic past while incorporating
state-of-the-art design to deliver
best-practice environmental
outcomes.

The final design, by internationally
recognised architects Bates Smart,
incorporates two striking elliptical
towers which maximise views and
solar access to a greater number of
the residential units. The design
incorporates features that improve

27

31
Round 1 of the AFL series sees the Swans
play St Kilda at ANZ Stadium in front of a
parochial and vocal crowd of 32,500 fans

Loreto Normanhurst’s students music
festival attracts more than 2,000 people
to the Sports Centre
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April 10
International Wheelchair
Rugby Four Nations Tournament

The Park is better known for the NRL, AFL, Rugby Union and
Soccer matches it hosts; however, for four days in April, the
Park played host to football of an entirely different kind,
with the International Wheelchair Rugby Four Nations
Tournament being hosted at the Sports Centre.

Sydney Olympic Park is an especially appropriate place to
host the tournament, as Wheelchair Rugby was included
for the first time in the Paralympic Games competition
program as a full medal sport at the Sydney 2000
Paralympic Games.

The Four Nations Tournament features the best
wheelchair rugby players from Canada, England,
New Zealand and Australia.

Having been designed to host the Paralympic Games, the
public domain and every venue in the Park provide the
highest standards of access and thus are ideally suited to
accommodate wheelchair-bound individuals.

While these athletes may be confined to a wheelchair,
they take a back seat to no one in either their athleticism
or their willingness to get physical on the court.

apr
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Many of the Four Nations Tournament’s competitors
highlighted these benefits as a major contributor to the
success of the event.

Archery Centre on target

Sydney Royal Easter Show dazzles young and old alike

The Sydney Olympic Park Archery
Centre appeals to the Robin Hood or
William Tell in all of us and, with
Robin Hood returning to the big
screen in 2010, it’s no surprise that
archery is a growing sport and the
Archery Centre is the place to be.

The Sydney Royal Easter Show is the
largest annual event in the southern
hemisphere, attracting 900,000
visitors annually over the two weeks
of the Show and pumping millions
into the NSW economy.

Built for the Sydney 2000 Olympic
and Paralympic Games’ archery
competitions, the Centre today is
managed by the Authority and
attracts an average of 700
participants a month. Some are
dedicated competition archers,
some shoot for fun, some are part of
school groups and many others are
first timers looking to try something
different and exciting.
A growing market is the corporate
team-building sector, offering an
immersive experience with a
difference which, when combined
with the Archery Centre’s worldclass facilities, is proving to be a big
hit with clients.

The Easter Show involves over
15,000 competitors displaying
livestock, art, food, fashion and
produce, all competing for the
coveted Sydney Royal Blue Ribbon.
A key aim of the Show is to bring the
bush to city-dwellers, with
demonstrations and hands-on
experiences revealing some of the
varied facets of rural life, including
cow milking, sheep shearing and
working dogs, in addition to the
rodeo, bull riding and other
entertainment in the Main Arena.
The Show is a mecca for kids, the
world’s best amusement rides, the
petting zoos and close encounters
with animals of all sizes, or the
famous show bags, there’s
something for everyone.
The Sydney Royal Easter Show, more
than an event, it’s an institution and
a tradition all rolled into one.

3

5

13 Bedar, the Iranian festival to
welcome the (Northern
Hemisphere) spring is held in
Bicentennial Park, attracting
well over 2,000 members of
Australia’s Iranian community

The first of five rounds of the
NRL Premiership are played at
the Park in April, attracting a
total of over 100,000 spectators

16
The 2010 Australian Age
Championships take place at the
Aquatic Centre, attracting 2,500
participants a day over six days

24
Over three days, almost 2,400
people take part in the Global
Dance Convention held at the
Sports Centre

More than 1,000 people participate
in a line dance event at the Sports
Centre, raising money for the Ronald
McDonald House children’s charity
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May 10
Sydney Olympic Park hosts
‘Science in the Suburbs’
In the face of declining numbers of students selecting science-based subjects
at secondary and tertiary level, initiatives such as ‘Science in the Suburbs’
have been launched to bring science to students, hopefully sparking an
interest in science and encouraging a science-based career.
Supporting this worthy aim, Sydney Olympic Park once again played host to
‘Science in the Suburbs’, a two day science outreach program for primary and
high school students at Newington Armory.
Held on 25 and 26 May 2010, ‘Science in the Suburbs’ at Sydney Olympic Park
was attended by 18 schools (11 primary and seven high schools), 10 of which
had not attended the event in previous years. More than 1,530 students plus
their teachers attended the event.
A number of participating schools were from the local region while others
travelled from more distant areas such as Castle Cove to the north, Kogarah
to the south and Kellyville to the north-west.
Students enjoyed a wide range of interactive workshops, shows, talks and an
Expo, all of which showcased the many different and exciting aspects of
science.
The event was launched at the Park’s Armory Wharf Café with a special
appearance by the Australian Museum’s Winny Saur dinosaur, which
attracted plenty of attention from students and the public alike.

may
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More than 2,000 enthusiasts and
collectors attend the Sydney Dolls
House and Miniatures Fair, held over
two days at the Sports Centre

‘Science in the Suburbs’ is a major event for the Authority’s education team,
as they work closely with the Australian Museum, the various participants in
the event and participating schools to deliver an outstanding science-based
experience for students.

14

New commercial office building open
on Australia Avenue
Minister for Western Sydney David Borger attended
the opening of a new commercial office building
located in the heart of the Park’s urban centre, at
8 Australia Avenue, declaring the building officially open.
Watpac Constructions Pty Ltd undertook the
development of the building, which houses the
company’s NSW headquarters, together with a
number of other commercial tenants.
The new building is designed to meet the most stringent
environmental criteria, in line with the Park’s green ethos
and has achieved a 4 star Green Star – Office Design v2
rating with the Green Building Council of Australia, and
has a Commitment Agreement to achieve a 4.5-star
NABERS Energy rating.
The building is connected to the Park’s recycled water
scheme and incorporates good solar orientation and sun
shading to reduce air conditioning use. It is also located
adjacent to the Sydney Olympic Park Railway Station and
connecting bus routes.
8 Australia Avenue also incorporates ground-floor retail
and hospitality spaces and two levels of underground car
parking spaces.

Sydney Showground for the first time played host to the
National Manufacturing Week exhibition, over the four
days of 11-14 May 2010.
The event utilised The Dome and Exhibition Halls 2, 3 and
4 (approximately 21,000 m2 of exhibition space) and
attracted significant trade visitation.
This was a major win for the Park, the event having been
won by the Showground in preference to its previous
location and reflects the event industry’s growing
awareness of the benefits of exhibiting at Sydney
Olympic Park.
Business events in general are a major driver of the Park’s
success, with the sector attracting more than 2,100
business events and 900,000 visitors to the Park’s 100
event spaces and venues in 2009-10.

All commercial office space and the majority of the ground
floor retail spaces were leased when the building opened.

16
The Memory Flows exhibition opens at the Armory
Gallery, Newington Armory, exploring the close
relationships Australians have with water. Featuring 20
installation artworks by 13 of Australia’s most innovative
artists, the exhibition will be visited by more than 5,000
people over the one month it is on show

Showground hosts National
Manufacturing Week exhibition

Thousands of dogs and their owners
converge on the Park for the Million Paws
Walk, which features entertainment,
displays, stalls, vet checks and a host of
other activities, a day not just for dog
owners but for all animal lovers

17

26

Sydney Olympic Park Authority relocates
to new premises within the newlycompleted Watpac building at 8 Australia
Avenue, at a significant saving in costs
compared to the previous location on
Figtree Drive

Over 75,000 fans stream into ANZ
Stadium for the first match of the NRL
State of Origin, unfortunately NSW went
down to a confident Queensland team
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June 10
Birds on the wing, and nest, at Sydney Olympic Park

Birdlife abounds in the diverse habitats of the Park –
over 180 different species have been recorded, including
a breeding pair of White-bellied Sea Eagles, Australia’s
largest raptors after the Wedge-tailed Eagle.

This year, the eagles have produced two eggs and are
watching over them solicitously. Both the male and
female are spending time on the nest incubating the
eggs, which are due to hatch in August.

Adult White-bellied Sea Eagles grow to 80-90 cm in
length and can weigh up to 4.5 kg with a wingspan of up
to two metres. Adults form permanent pairs and inhabit
their territory year-round. Mating commonly produces
one or two eggs each year.

Also watching over the eagles are the Authority’s
environment team and rangers and the Birds Australia
Discovery Centre team, located within Newington
Armory. Following last year’s hatching, the Authority and
Birds Australia set up new cameras overlooking the nest,
beaming back live video coverage of the nest’s activities
from what has been dubbed ‘Eagle Cam’.

While not endangered, sea eagles are a species of special
interest because they are relatively uncommon in Sydney,
and the success of this breeding pair is closely watched.
For the second year running, the pair have returned to
their nesting area within the Newington Nature Reserve
and have produced eggs. In 2009, their single hatchling
was successfully raised to the point where it could leave
the nest and set out to establish its own territory.
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Sydney Olympic Park –
the nation’s home of football

A key driver of the Meetings, Incentives, Conferences and
Exhibitions (MICE) industry is the ability to offer
outstanding facilities, experiences and services,
something that makes a venue stand out in an
increasingly crowded market.

Reinforcing the Park’s football credentials, three separate
first grade and international codes were played within
the Park in June.

Sydney Olympic Park provides all three and is
increasingly being recognised as one of Australia’s key
business event destinations.
This is highlighted by the announcement that the Park
has been selected to host the Amway China incentive
event for 2011. This will see 12,000 Chinese Amway
delegates travel to Australia in January 2011 to attend
business sessions in Acer Arena and a Gala Dinner at
Sydney Showground.
The event was won in the face of stiff competition from
other Australian cities and is a testament to the global
reputation that Sydney Olympic Park has for hosting
business events with a difference.

The Birds Australia Discovery Centre provides visitors to
the Park with an opportunity to learn more about the
remarkably varied bird life that lives within the Park or
transits through on great migratory journeys.

The Aquatic Centre hosts the
NSW Short Course Open
Championships over two days,
involving 3,000 competitors

26
The Handball NSW Junior
Nationals are held over three days
at the Sports Halls, attracting 250
of the state’s best junior players
each day

The National Rugby League Championships saw two
round 13 matches played at ANZ Stadium, the Bulldogs
and West Tigers on 4 June 2010 and the Rabbitohs and
Cowboys on 7 June 2010, with both local teams victorious
over the visitors.
The focus then switched to rugby union, with the
Wallabies taking on the ‘old enemy’ England, in a
desperately close loss in front of more than 50,000
fans at the ANZ Stadium.
Rounding out the festival of first class football, 50,000
AFL fans watched the Swans succumb to an in-form
Collingwood at ANZ Stadium.
In addition to AFL, NRL and ARU, the Park has also played
host to major soccer matches, including Australia’s
sudden death World Cup qualifier against Iran.
If current negotiations bear fruit, Sydney Olympic Park
may become the home of the Sydney Rovers Football
Club, adding the round ball game to the Park’s regular
roster of football codes.

With the eagles’ nest under continuous observation, the
Discovery Centre has a great new education tool, one
that is proving equally popular with visitors, staff and
the media, who have shown a fascination for Eagle Cam.

12
The NSW Swifts continue their
unbeaten run in the 2010 transTasman netball competition,
disposing of the Magic at the Sports
Centre before 2,500 fans

Amway says Sydney Olympic Park
delivers the goods

The 2010 Multiple Sclerosis 24 Hour
Swim-a-thon attracts 500 participants,
raising money for research into this
debilitating disease

30
Cranes are erected on the Australia Towers
residential development site with
construction well underway. Eighteen months
out from completion, more than 90% of
Stage 1’s 216 units have been sold
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Parklands Plan of
Management 2010
One of Australia’s largest urban parklands
The parklands at Sydney Olympic Park provide 430 hectares of open space, recreation areas,
wetlands and waterways and are located in the geographic heart of the growing metropolitan
Sydney. One of Australia’s largest urban parklands, it is a diverse and special place where
protected remnant woodlands, rare salt marshes, waterbird refuge and mangroves stand
alongside places of heritage significance to create world-class parklands.

What is the Parklands Plan of Management?

A lasting legacy of the Sydney 2000 Olympic and Paralympic Games, the parklands have been
designed and built on land formerly used by government industries including the State Abattoirs,
State Brickworks and Commonwealth Department of Defence, and are the result of remediating
industrial land – an internationally recognised leading environmental remediation and urban
renewal project.

A Plan of Management for the parklands is required under the Sydney Olympic Park Act (2001)
and provides guidance for managing the parklands over the next 10 years.

Today, the parklands are playing an increasingly important role as both a local park and as a
significant regional park destination as Sydney grows. The parklands are an association of many
different parks and places brought together as a single entity for management purposes. They
include the:
• established Bicentennial Park;

The Parklands Plan of Management sets out the scheme of operations, under which the
parklands will be used, managed and developed for the benefit of current and future
generations and for stewardship of its intrinsic ecological and heritage values.

The new Parklands Plan is designed to be flexible and responsive in preparing for and
incrementally meeting the changing needs and expectations of the community. The Parklands
Plan makes provision to preserve the parklands’ special values, features and characteristics,
while recognising the importance of ongoing appropriate development and adaptation.

Managing the parklands

• remnant forest of Newington Nature Reserve;

The parklands are in their early formative stages of development and use, the majority of visitor
programs, facilities and attractions have occurred within the last five years. Significant progress
has been made protecting, enhancing and activating the parklands.

• parts of the former Royal Australian Navy Armament Depot (Newington Armory);

There are now over 2.3 million visits to the parklands each year.

• dramatic landscape of the former State Brickworks;

The parklands are surrounded by a rapidly growing urban community in the demographic
centre of Sydney. There are currently over 150,000 residents living within 10 minutes of the
parklands and this population is expected to increase with an expected 160,000 residents and
48,000 workers in the same area over the next 10 to 20 years.

• diverse wetland areas south of Homebush Bay;

• lower reaches of Haslams Creek;
• remediated waste mounds of Kronos Hill and Woo-la-ra;
• open field of Archery Park;
• restored Wilson Park sportsgrounds; and
• emerging new Blaxland Riverside Park and Wentworth Common.
Sydney Olympic Park Authority is updating the Parklands Plan of Management (2003) to guide
management of the Parklands into the future. The new Parklands Plan will make provision to
preserve the parklands’ special environmental and heritage values, while balancing the need to
cater for increasing recreational demands and visitation.
The new Parklands Plan will ensure that the extensive and distinguished history of the place is
combined with the vision of creating one of the world’s great urban parklands ... a place to play,
learn, relax and explore in the heart of Sydney.

Visitation to the parklands will continue to grow as more people move into the area and as
more people understand the health and wellbeing benefits to be gained from exercise and open
space activities.
This will place increasing pressure on the parklands to provide the space, the environment and
the facilities for people to engage in leisure, play, sport, conservation and other recreation, whilst
continuing to ensure that conservation of the ecological and heritage values occur over three
quarters of total land area.
Attention will need to be given to continue making more areas accessible, improving facilities
and enhancing the resilience of spaces and landscapes to meet the expected rapid growth in
recreation demand.
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State of Environment Report
2009-10
Summary
It is Sydney Olympic Park Authority’s mission for the Park to be recognised locally, nationally and
internationally as a place that champions sustainable development and achieves excellence in
environmental management.
This State of Environment Report provides an overview of the Authority’s management practices
and performance in relation to its immediate environmental responsibilities. It meets the
environmental reporting requirements set out in the Sydney Olympic Park Authority Act 2001,
and reports against targets contained in the NSW Government Sustainability Policy.
This report has adopted the sustainability reporting framework of the Global Reporting Initiative
(GRI: www.globalreporting.org), formalising the Authority’s reporting to an international
standard. The Authority’s 2009-10 performance, based on self-assessment, is ‘Level C’ application
of the GRI G3 reporting framework. A disclosure index at the end of this report indicates where
the GRI framework is applied.
Environmental reporting indicators are based around the eight key environmental issues
for Sydney Olympic Park as identified in the Authority’s Environmental Guidelines1. The
Environmental Guidelines were revised in June 2008; this report covers the second full year of
their implementation. Performance targets for these indicators will be progressively developed
as environmental performance data are more widely obtained. An overview of the Authority’s
performance using selected indicators from each reporting area is provided in tables throughout
the report.
During the reporting year, the Authority assumed responsibility for the management and
assets of the former State Sports Centre, following dissolution of the State Sports Centre Trust.
Environmental data from that facility are now included in this report.

Figures presented in the report reflect the continued growth and evolution of Sydney Olympic
Park. Over the past year:
• total Park visitation has increased from 8,847,233 visitors to 9,523,753 visitors;
• the number of major event days (with more than 5,000 patrons) has increased from
169 to 209 days per year.
These factors drive increased resource use and waste generation, and put increased pressure on
ecological systems and public open spaces. The Authority is actively addressing these pressures
as the Park continues to grow. Future sustainability directions include:
• development of performance targets for key environmental reporting indicators;
• continued revision of the Authority’s environmental management system;
• further investigations into bioremediation of leachate from the Park’s landfills;
• ongoing review and upgrade of existing urban elements to improve environmental
performance and reduce maintenance;
• ongoing active management of the Park’s natural and cultural heritage assets;
• further investigations into potential energy efficiencies in Park operations, particularly at the
Sydney Olympic Park Aquatic Centre;
• ongoing participation in the Department of Environment, Climate Change and Water’s
(DECCW) Sustainability Advantage business sustainability program;
• implementation of a new Parklands Plan of Management; and
• introduction of a new noise management framework for major public events held at
the Park.

1

Environmental Guidelines for Sydney Olympic Park. Sydney Olympic Park Authority, June 2008.
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Table 1: Environmental performance against water conservation indicators
Category

Indicator

Sydney Olympic Park
Authority office

Total
– per Full Time Equivalent
staff member

Public domain

General purpose

(includes recycled water used for irrigation
and amenities; excludes harvested
stormwater used for irrigation)

Water features and fountains

Stormwater from buildings and roads is harvested into water storage ponds and is used to
irrigate parks, gardens and playing fields, and also feeds into the WRAMS water recycling system.
A sub-surface irrigation system at the Wilson Park playing fields uses significantly less water than
would a surface irrigation system.
Water demand is reduced through water-wise landscaping practices and night-time irrigation,
when evaporation is low. Most landscape plantings are native species that do not require
irrigation once established. Any new purchases of office kitchen appliances meet a minimum
4-star rating standard under the Water Efficiency Labelling and Standards (WELS) scheme.
Potable water is typically only used for drinking water, showers and handbasins, and by the
sports venues to top up swimming pools and to provide the correct surface moisture for
hockey playing fields.

2009-10

(water consumption in kilolitres)

Potable

Recycled

Potable

Recycled

700
6.2

761
6.7

770
7.1

547
5.1

3,565

207,707

2,210

97,116

Included
above

Included
above

1,183

38,839

1,889

20,085

3,913

4,790

Buildings and
car parks

Total

Sports venues

Aquatic Centre
Other sports venues

n/a
n/a

30,033
n/a

61,367
27,180

29,853
68,119

Totals

Total by type
Total potable + recycled

n/a

n/a

96,623

239,264

Actions taken during
2009-10 to improve
water conservation

Sydney Olympic Park has a locally integrated approach to water conservation, based on
wastewater reprocessing, stormwater harvesting and reducing water demand. The Water
Reclamation and Management Scheme (WRAMS) recycles water from sewage and stormwater;
this recycled water is used for irrigation, ornamental fountains, and toilet flushing applications
across Sydney Olympic Park.

2008-09

(water consumption in kilolitres)

n/a

335,887

A program to install water meters in existing water infrastructure systems has continued to enable
measurement of water use by individual components.
Water consumption at the Park’s many water features and fountains was reviewed following
installation of individual meters in 2008-09. Operating hours have been assessed and leaks detected
and repaired, as required. In 2009-10, additional water meters were installed at the Treillage Water
Feature and pits were sealed to stop leakage of recycled water.
A water meter was installed at the Northern Water Feature wetland during the past year as part of
an ongoing program to progressively install meters across the harvested stormwater network.

This year, data from the Authority’s sports venues include the former State Sports Centre.
For comparison purposes, data have also been obtained for 2008-09 where available,
and retrospectively included with those of the other sports venues.
Potable water consumption in buildings and car parks has increased due to increased Park
visitor numbers and associated use of facilities. Potable water consumption from the sports
venues is not reported for 2008-09; potable water consumption data for the former State
Sports Centre were not available, and the Aquatic Centre meter was found to be faulty for
the period February 2008 to September 2009, giving faulty readings. As a result, a valid
comparison of total water consumption or total potable water consumption (including the
sports venues) cannot be made between 2008-09 and 2009-10.
Recycled water consumption across the public domain was significantly lower in 2009-10 than
in the previous year, mainly due to reduced irrigation demand. Annual consumption fluctuates
due to factors such as rainfall and evaporation and the scale and types of new plantings.
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2. Energy conservation
Sydney Olympic Park’s buildings and facilities are designed to maximise the use of renewable
energy, reduce energy consumption and minimise greenhouse gas emissions. Contributors to
energy demand include office and depot buildings, streetlights, car park lighting, irrigation and
leachate pumps, ornamental water features, advertising signs and public barbeques. Water
filtration, pool heating at the Aquatic Centre and lighting at the Aquatic and Sports Centres
contribute significantly to total energy demand.
Solar power is generated and fed into the grid at the ‘Towers of Power’ along Olympic Boulevard
and at the EnergyAustralia Education Centre (Building 46). Solar power is also used in remote
areas of the Park to operate leachate pumps, lighting units and car park ticket dispensers.
A proportion of the Park’s electricity is sourced from ‘GreenPower’. Any new office and kitchen
appliances purchased meet a minimum 4-star rating standard under the Minimum Energy
Performance Standards (MEPS) scheme.
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Table 2: Environmental performance against energy conservation indicators
Category

Indicator

Sydney Olympic
Park Authority
office

Office electricity consumed (kWh)
– per FTE
– per square metre of floorspace (based on 7 Figtree Drive location)
– associated greenhouse gas emissions per FTE per working day

Public domain

Electricity consumption (kWh) total
− General purpose
– Street lighting and temporary event overlay
– Car parks
Natural gas consumption – cauldron (MJ)
Total public domain greenhouse gas emissions (tonnes CO2 equivalent)
– Per visitor (kg per visitor)

Sports venues

Electricity consumption (KWh) Total
– Aquatic Centre
– Other sports venues
Gas consumption (MJ) total
– Aquatic Centre
– Other sports venues

Total energy
consumption

Energy consumption – total (gigajoules)
(Authority + sports venues)

Total emissions2

Electricity-associated greenhouse gas emissions
Gas-associated greenhouse gas emissions
Total greenhouse gas emissions

2008-09

2009-10

1,374,283
12,162
397
0.045

1,265,973
11,722
366
0.044

8,353,494
2,346,545
3,408,276
2,598,673
1,031,803
9,007
1.018

10,470,145
3,524,928
4,104,572
2,840,645
1,445,452
11,301
1.187

10,178,872
6,915,183
3,263,689
50,395,630
47,352,480
3,043,150

10,346,870
6,858,616
3,488,254
52,194,479
49,241,280
2,953,199

123,034

133,075

21,300
3,482
24,782

23,629
3,631
27,260

4,103,153
20.6
4,390

4,063,560
20.6
4,348

198,410

160,852

(tonnes CO2 equivalent)

(tonnes CO2
equivalent)

GreenPower

GreenPower purchased (kWh)
– percentage of total electricity consumption
Greenhouse gas emissions avoided by GreenPower purchase
(tonnes CO2equivalent)

Public domain electricity use has increased 8% compared to the previous year; however, this
increase is concurrent with a 7.7% increase in visitation to the Park, an increased population of
daily workers and students, a greater number of large events held and greater number of major
construction projects underway.
There has been a decrease in the percentage of GreenPower purchased, though it remains well
above the NSW Government requirement of 6% of total electricity consumption. There are many
individual electricity accounts contributing to total electricity consumption; different percentages
of GreenPower are purchased on different accounts. Variations in the amount of electricity used
per year on each individual account affect the annual percentage of GreenPower purchased.
The solar power generated to the grid for 2009-10 was lower than for 2008-09. EnergyAustralia
reported that some photovoltaic panels within the ‘Towers of Power’ along Olympic Boulevard
were cracked and some inverters broken. Action is being undertaken to remedy this problem.

Energy production

Solar power generation to grid (kWh)

Actions taken
during 2009-10
to reduce energy
consumption

In May 2010, the Authority relocated to a newly-constructed office building which has a 4.5-star
National Australian Built Environment Rating System (NABERS) rating (as built); fit-out of the office
on occupation has not reduced this NABERS rating. The building has a 4-GreenStar rating from
the Green Building Council of Australia and scored 20% above the required points for this rating.
Energy-savings features include: a computer system which controls plant, equipment and lighting
efficiently and precisely; equipment installed to decrease power ‘demand’ charges to the building;
variable speed drives on fan motors; and
energy-efficient lighting.
An Energy Saving Action Team was established to investigate potential energy-saving measures
within the Park and has this year been targeting car park lighting, which comprises 26% of
electricity use in the public domain. Existing T8 lights within the highest utilised floors of the
multi-deck P1 car park were replaced with more efficient T5 lights. It is estimated that this
initiative will reduce electricity used in the car park by 19.2 kW each hour and overall power costs
by some $23,544 pa while maintaining similar lighting levels. The payback period to cover costs
is 4.5 years. T8 lights on lesser-used floors will be progressively replaced with T5 lights as existing
lamps fail.
The Authority and the sports venues are currently participating in the Sustainability Advantage
– Resource Efficiency Module. It is anticipated that projects arising out of participation in this
module will result in further savings in energy use.

2
Emissions were calculated using DECCW’s latest electricity (kWh) and gas (MJ) energy conversion factors to total emissions of greenhouse
gas (tonnes CO2 equivalent).
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3. Sustainable
materials selection

Table 3: Environmental performance against materials selection indicators
Category

2008-09

2009-10

2,001
75%
35

1,657
51%
31

148
11%

46.5
100%

3,141
4%

3,943
8%

264
17%

247
1%

Number of office products/appliances purchased eligible for rating3
under MEPS or WELS
Number purchased with 4-star rating or higher

n/a

6

n/a

3

Landscaping
materials

Wood mulch (cubic metres) (excludes material generated on site)

n/a

7,257

Energy production

Solar power generation to grid (kWh)

198,410

160,852

Construction
and demolition
materials

Reuse of landscape materials

Two mature fig trees dating from when the land was
used as an abattoir, were removed from a site that is
now being developed for the Park’s first residential
development. The trees were relocated to an area
that will be developed as future public parkland near
the brickpit.

Contractor’s Reporting

As new contracts are established, contractors need to
fulfil more detailed purchasing and waste reporting
requirements, including the percentage of materials
sourced from recycled products that will be used for
construction purposes.

Sydney Olympic
Total A4 white paper (reams)
Park Authority
– percentage with recycled content
office: consumables – sheets A4 white paper consumed per FTE per day
and equipment
Other office paper (reams A4 equivalent)
– percentage with recycled content

Sustainable, recycled and recyclable materials are used wherever practicable
in new developments, asset refurbishment and maintenance programs. Use
of materials that deplete natural resources or that create toxic pollution in
their manufacture, use or disposal is minimised or avoided. These principles
are embedded in the Authority’s Waste Reduction and Purchasing Plan
(WRAPP) and also in the Urban Elements Design Manual and Park Elements
Design Manual, which identify approved performance standards, styles and
materials for park infrastructure and furniture.
A significant amount of temporary overlay is required for the staging of
events, including marquees, stages, fencing, tables and chairs, audio and
lighting equipment. Rather than purchasing these items, the Authority hires
them when required. This significantly reduces the storage area required and
avoids idle resources during non-event periods.

Indicator

Printing and publications paper (reams A4 equivalent)
– percentage with recycled content
Toner cartridges (number purchased)
– percentage with recycled content

Actions taken
during 2009-10
to improve use
of sustainable
materials

The WRAPP was revised in April 2010 and will guide materials selection and purchasing decisions.
Implementation will be enhanced through the Authority’s participation in the Sustainability
Advantage program.
Park furniture made from wood composites was field-trialled throughout the year and has proven
successful. Made from waste wood fibre mixed with recycled HDPE (milk bottle) plastics, the
material is a durable alternative to hardwoods with no requirement for painting or oiling. The
first composite wood projects include deck seating at the recently refurbished Education Centre in
Bicentennial Park (see case study field studies centre upgrade on p.83) and new banquet settings in
picnic shelters at Blaxland Riverside Park.
All new office workstations (including chairs) were certified to carry the GECA (Good Environmental
Choice Australia) label. New office stationery was printed on paper with 100% recycled content.
Appendices of the 2009-10 Sydney Olympic Park Authority Annual Report will be released on CD
rather than printed within the report. This saves an average of 62 pages of paper per report (usually
500 copies of the report are produced).

3
Under the Minimum Energy Performance Standard (MEPS), the Water Efficiency Labelling Standards (WELS) or Smart Approved WaterMark
Products – Outdoor use.
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4. Waste management

Table 4: Environmental performance against waste management indicators
Category

Indicator

2008-09

2009-10

Sydney Olympic
Park Authority
office: consumables
and equipment

Paper (tonnes) (from secure disposal bins only prior to March 2010)
Used toner cartridges (units)
Computer desktops and laptops (units)
Computer monitors (units)
Mobile phones (units)

2
222
19
52
30

3.52
210
10
47
28

Public domain
waste

Mixed waste (tonnes) (includes office waste)
– percentage recycled

586
88%

789
92%

78
0%

125
0%

Gross pollutant traps and Continuous Deflective Separation (CDS)units
(tonnes)
– percentage recycled

127
0%

113
0%

Aquatic/Athletic Centre: mixed waste (tonnes)
– percentage recycled

214
74%

227
73%

Sports Centre: mixed waste (tonnes)
– percentage recycled (estimate)

168
80%

154
80%

Vegetation waste

Greenwaste (tonnes) (excludes material reused on site)
– percentage recycled

345
63%

533.9
85%

Leachate

Volume transferred to treatment plant (kilolitres)

33,398

29,204

4,260

4,510

Stormwater litter booms (tonnes)
– percentage recycled

Sports venues:
public domain and
office waste

Volume treated in Wilson Park bioremediation system (kilolitres)

The Authority’s Waste Reduction and Purchasing Plan (WRAPP) sets
out how the Authority and venues will reduce waste in four key areas –
paper products, office equipment and components, vegetation material,
and construction and demolition material - as identified in the NSW
Government Sustainability Policy.
Mixed public domain and office waste excluding paper is sorted at a
waste retrieval facility rather than separated at source; recovery rates are
typically 85-90%. Office paper collected in secure-disposal bins is recycled;
source separation of office paper and cardboard commenced in March
2010. Tree prunings and other woody vegetation are reused as mulch
wherever possible. Other greenwaste is disposed of at a licensed disposal
facility where it is composted or mulched; greenwaste that contains
notifiable noxious weeds is sent to licensed landfill for deep burial in
accordance with regulatory requirements. Where practical, construction
waste is source-separated for recyclables including concrete, soil, asphalt,
timber, bricks, glass, and metals. Leachate from the Wilson Park landfill
is treated on-site in a bioremediation system, which avoids the need for
transfer to an off-site treatment facility.

Actions taken
during 2009-10
to improve waste
reduction, reuse
and recycling

The Waste Reduction and Purchasing Plan (WRAPP) was revised in April 2010 and will guide the
Authority’s waste management activities for the next three years.
A new public domain waste contract commenced in January 2010. Comingled waste is collected,
then sorted off site for recycling. The current resource recovery rate is approximately 79%. The
apparent decrease from 2008-09 is attributable to changed and more accurate measurement
methods.
100% recycling of the following materials occurred through completion of various contractors’
projects: 16.9 tonnes of steel, 8.65 tonnes of brick and roof tiles, 6.3 tonnes of concrete and
0.15 tonnes of asphalt. 89% of timber was also recycled (18.16 tonnes).
Following the Authority’s relocation, stationery with the Authority’s former address was modified
for reuse: envelopes were overprinted for use as internal envelopes; old letterhead paper and
‘with compliments’ slips were made into pads for note taking. Large quantities of surplus office
equipment, furniture and stores were sold/donated for reuse or recycled.
The Haslams Creek stormwater boom was modified with the installation of a larger litter collection
crate. A greater quantity of water-borne litter and debris entering the Park from the Auburn Local
Government Area is now captured; overtopping of the boom and subsequent smothering of
saltmarsh and mangrove habitats has been reduced.
Successful bioremediation trials throughout 2009-10 with leachate from Blaxland Riverside Park
have indicated that a biological treatment strategy is potentially viable for landfill leachates.
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5. Transportation

Table 5: Environmental performance against transportation indicators
Category

Indicator

2008-09

2009-10

Fleet vehicles

Total fuel consumption from passenger vehicles (litres)
– per FTE

20,930
185

19,586
97.44

177,326
1,569

171,486
853.2

39
0.3

39.8
0.19

Total fleet ‘environment performance score’ (target = 12/20)5

10.8

11.1

Staff travel

Percentage of Authority employees using sustainable transport options
or working from home (>60% work attendance days)

21%

21%

Major event
transport

Percentage of major event patrons travelling by train, bus or coach

63%

60%

Commuter
transport

Number of train services to Sydney Olympic Park per weekday

59

91

Number of bus services to Sydney Olympic Park per weekday

141

197

Number of ferry services to Sydney Olympic Park per weekday

26

28

Passenger vehicle trip kilometres associated with Authority operations
– per FTE
Total greenhouse gas emissions (tonnes of CO2 equivalent)
– per FTE

Actions taken
during 2009-10 to
reduce impacts of
transportation

The frequency of train and bus services has substantially increased during the past year. Trains now
run between Lidcombe and Sydney Olympic Park stations every 10 minutes during peak hours.
The Authority’s new office location offers 21 bicycle racks for staff use, along with additional
showers.
Major events utilising integrated ticketing during 2009-10 included the NRL Grand Final, the
Sydney 500 V8 event, the Bledisloe Cup, AC/DC concerts, State of Origin and the Royal Easter Show.
Differences in the crowd profile at individual major events and the make-up of the annual event
mix affect the extent of public transport use in any particular year.
A pedestrian and cycle movement study is currently underway to evaluate the future needs of town
centre residents and workers within the eastern sector of Sydney Olympic Park. The study also
aims to highlight opportunities for more active and healthy lifestyles within the town centre while
helping to reduce short-trip car dependency and the carbon footprint generated by travel within the
town centre.

The Authority uses E10 fuel blends in petrol-fuelled fleet vehicles, consistent
with the NSW Government Sustainability Policy. Diesel fuel is used in utilities,
gators and trucks. The Authority’s fleet has a high proportion of small
vehicles with high fuel efficiency, and includes one petrol/electric hybrid
vehicle. Last year, the Authority and the Aquatic Centre’s total fleet consisted
of 23 vehicles. This year the total fleet is 27 vehicles and includes one vehicle
of the former State Sports Centre.
The Authority has a short-term planning target of 25% of people across the
Park travelling to work by public transport. Developers of new office buildings
at the Park must prepare a workplace travel plan for each building as a
condition of development consent.
The frequency of commuter train and bus services to Sydney Olympic Park
has increased over the past few years in response to new businesses opening
at the Park. An integrated ticketing system is implemented for events
attracting over 30,000 people; this enables event patrons to catch public
transport to the event as part of their event ticket.

4
5

FTE has significantly changed due to merger with sports venues.
NSW Clean Car Benchmarks.
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6. Pollution control

Table 6: Environmental performance against pollution control indicators
Category

Indicator

Regulatory
compliance

Pollution incidents causing material harm to the environment
– Incidents due to Authority operations
– Incidents due to others

2008-09

2009-10

0
1

1
2

0
1

0
0

313

884

79,316

75,266

2009-10 incidents:
– The leachate evaporation pond at Bicentennial Park overflowed
over three days in April 2010, with approximately 55,000 kL of
leachate overflowing to an adjacent wetland. The incident was
reported to DECCW; there was no evidence of environmental harm.
– Large sediment plumes into the Southern Water Quality Control
Pond and the Badu Mangroves were identified following prolonged
rain in May 2010 and were traced to sediment-laden stormwater
runoff from a private construction site; modifications to sediment
controls were recommended to the site manager.
– A pollution incident was recorded at Black Creek in Bicentennial
Park in May 2010, with discoloured and odorous water observed
in flows entering the Park from upstream. There is a history of
upstream pollution events affecting this creek. The incident was
reported to DECCW; however, the origin of the pollution was not
identified.
Prosecutions and fines
Non-compliance with licences

The Authority maintains a strong focus on environmental awareness and due
diligence to minimise environmental impacts and achieve compliance of its
operations with applicable water, noise, light and air quality standards.
Stormwater runoff generated within Sydney Olympic Park is filtered through
constructed wetlands designed to remove suspended solids and nutrients
before discharge to creek systems. Forty gross pollutant traps collect locallygenerated litter, and the Authority has installed stormwater litter booms at
the upstream boundaries of the Park to capture litter originating upstream.

Discharge to waters Licence 10243 Wilson Park bioremediation area – total kilolitres
discharged to Parramatta River
Licence 10020 Water Reclamation and Management Scheme (WRAMS)
reverse osmosis backwash – total kilolitres discharged to Haslams
Creek
Noise

Noise complaints received by the Authority

0

0

Blue-green algae

Percentage of water samples from Lake Belvedere exceeding 500 cells
of blue-green algae per millilitre

0

0

Actions undertaken
during 2009-10 to
improve pollution
control

The Authority’s Environmental Management System and its supporting policies and procedures are
being progressively reviewed and updated to account for the evolving nature of the Park.
Systems and procedures relating to management of leachate storage and evaporation ponds were
reviewed and strengthened to minimise risk of future overflow incidents.
The Pesticide Use and Notification Plan for use of pesticides in publically-accessible areas of the
Park has been revised.
In liaison with DECCW, the Authority is currently developing a Noise Management Plan in relation
to its whole-of-Park operations.
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7. Biodiversity

Table 7: Environmental performance against biodiversity indicators
All biodiversity
Category

Indicator

2008-09

2009-10

Number of bird species recorded in annual census
– Percentage of all bird species recorded since 2000
– Number of bird species recorded breeding

122
69%
75

116
66%
62

Number of reptile species recorded in annual census and incidental sightings
– Percentage of all reptile species recorded since 2000

9
60%

10
67%

7
100%

7
100%

Number of frog species recorded in annual census and incidental sightings
– Percentage of all frog species recorded since 2000

Priority species and communities

Approximately 300 hectares (almost half of the Park) provides habitat for
threatened species, protected marine vegetation and endangered ecological
communities, which are all protected under state or commonwealth legislation.
A Biodiversity Management Plan guides the Authority in stewardship of the
biodiversity assets under its care and in compliance with environmental
legislation. Ten ‘priority’ species and communities are identified in the
Biodiversity Management Plan and are the focus of specific management.

Indicator

Assessment

Strategic actions 2009-10
(additional to the routine
management program)

Sydney Turpentine
Ironbark Forest6 7

Status: good. Good condition overall, high native
species diversity and few weeds present. Expanding
in the buffer zone through natural recruitment and
local provenance plantings which are establishing well.
Absence of fire, however, likely to be leading to decline
of fire-dependent species.

Continued propagation of local
provenance seed followed by planting
in several areas of the buffer zone, with
a focus on species of regional and local
conservation significance.

Green and Golden
Bell Frog6 7

Status: good. Monitoring results shows the population
is stable and there has been recruitment in all main
primary habitat areas. Habitat extent and condition
have been maintained or improved.
The overall population size remains small in ecological
terms and continued active management is required to
promote its ongoing conservation.

Continuation of a five-year Australian
Research Council and industry-funded
research program with the University of
Newcastle, the University of Sydney, the
Museum of South Australia and other
industry partners.
Reconstruction of one breeding pond
to improve water-holding capacity,
installation of 10 new ponds to
increase breeding habitat and extensive
macrophyte planting in key habitat ponds.

Coastal Saltmarsh7

Status: good. Overall increase in area as a result
of previous habitat rehabilitation works. Possible
deterioration in condition in Main Lagoon.

Trial application of salt to control
terrestrial weeds and continued
strategic removal of mangrove seedlings
encroaching on saltmarsh.
Regular schedule established for removal
of stormwater litter and debris smothering
saltmarsh along Haslams Creek.

Mangrove Forest7

Status: good. Overall area stable; no pest invasion,
die-back or disease apparent and no apparent
reduction in propagule production.

–

Swamp Oak
Floodplain Forest7

Status: good. Overall area stable, but forest still
immature, regenerating from die-back experienced
several years ago. Relatively extensive and in better
condition than other stands around Sydney.

–

Latham’s Snipe6

Status: poor. Current population appears stable
but is very low compared to 1990s. Both local and
international factors likely to be contributing.

–
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Actions taken during 2009-10 to improve biodiversity conservation
Habitat restoration and enhancement

All areas of high biodiversity value are under an active vegetation
management program. Approximately 200 hectares of land were managed
by contractors with bush regeneration qualifications and expertise.
Restoration and enhancement works undertaken specifically for priority
species and communities are described above.
Long-term staged weed removal and habitat replacement programs were
continued in locations where weeds comprise a significant proportion
of available habitat. Programs commenced on the northern bank of the
Waterbird Refuge and continued in the Brickpit and Triangle Pond. Wilson
Park Wetland is the only weed-infested area where a program is yet to be
developed.

Noxious and environmental weed
management

Weeds that have required extensive management input in 2009-10 are:
– Alligator Weed at Narawang Wetland, with small outbreaks at several
other locations. Management has reduced the scale of outbreaks, but this
weed requires ongoing control. Propagules are regularly carried into the
Park from stormwater in Haslams Creek.

Indicator

Assessment

Strategic actions 2009-10
(additional to the routine
management program)

White-fronted
Chat7

Status: poor. Population currently comprises four males
(down from six males and two females 2008-09); has
continued to decline despite management action to
reduce threats.

Species was listed as vulnerable and the
population was listed as endangered
under the Threatened Species Conservation
Act 1995.

Vertebrate pest management

Migratory
shorebirds6

Status: fair. Increased numbers overall have been
recorded over the past three years, and species
diversity has remained consistent. However, the
Curlew Sandpiper has continued to decline (both local
and international factors likely to be contributing)
and Main Lagoon at Newington Nature Reserve is not
attracting migratory shorebirds.

Management of water levels and
frequency of tidal exchange at the
Waterbird Refuge.
Adjustment of weir settings at Newington
Nature Reserve wetland.

Control programs were undertaken for foxes, feral cats, Australian Ravens,
rats, and Gambusia.
The annual cyclic pond draining program for Gambusia control at Narawang
Wetland was successfully implemented after the first stage of an upgrade of
the wetland’s drainage system.

Disease

Status: fair. Declines in diversity and abundance due
to reduction in habitat as tree saplings mature and
midstorey vegetation is lost from landscaped parklands
areas.

Extensive planting of shrubby habitat
undertaken at Narawang Wetland.
Planting of shrubby replacement habitat
following staged Lantana removal.
Previously-planted shrubs adjacent to
Newington Nature Reserve are continuing
to mature.

No widespread chytrid-related frog mortalities were recorded, although
several isolated cases were identified. Additional hygiene measures have
been introduced for persons accessing the Brickpit to reduce the risk of
chytrid spread.

Bush birds

Microchiropteran
bats

Status: good. New roost sites identified and all
known roost sites maintained. Results of Whitestriped Freetail Bat monitoring project indicate stable
population.

– Salvinia in Lake Belvedere, Bicentennial Park. Continuation of an intensive
control program appears to have eradicated this weed. Monitoring for
further plants will continue throughout spring.

Strict access procedures, including disinfection of boots and tools, are
applied at Newington Nature Reserve to prevent the introduction of
Phytophthora. There are no known outbreaks within the Park.
Mosquito management

The mosquito management program continued under the direction of the
University of Sydney Department of Medical Entomology. Aerial treatment
using a bacterial larvicide was applied to Newington Nature Reserve
wetland on five occasions and ground-based treatments were applied to
Badu Mangroves on four occasions and Haslams Reach wetlands once.
The larvicide was successful in reducing larval densities and thus
development of adult mosquitoes in these areas.

Management of visitor access and
disturbance

Visitor access to ecologically sensitive habitats continues to be managed to
minimise human disturbance to wildlife and harm to habitats. Boardwalks,
pathways and the aerial Brickpit Ringwalk provide visitor access to sensitive
areas whilst ensuring their protection. Contractor access and maintenance
works are restricted in certain areas during peak breeding seasons. Licensed
activities such as site hires, filming and public events are restricted within
these areas, and education and interpretive programs are designed and
managed to minimise human impacts.

Continuation of White-striped Freetail Bat
monitoring program, including radiotracking.
Audit of bat roost boxes.

During 2009-10, Birds Australia and the Authority again installed a camera
within Newington Nature Reserve to enable visitors to the Bird Discovery
Centre to remotely observe a pair of White-bellied Sea-Eagles nesting within
the forest.
6
7

Of national conservation significance.
Of state conservation significance.
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Table 8: Environmental performance against public open space indicators
Category

Indicator

Land area

Total land area of Sydney Olympic Park in hectares
Protected public open space:		
– hectares of parklands subject to the statutory provisions under the
Parklands Plan of Management
– hectares of nature reserve gazetted under the National Parks and
Wildlife Act 1974
Categorisation of public open space by land use: 		
– hectares of recreational public open space
– hectares of public open space providing bushland, wetland,
grassland habitat (accessible by boardwalks or pathways)
– hectares of parklands public open space alienated by long-term
exclusive lease (utilities and lessees)

Visitation

Number of workers and students based at Sydney Olympic Park per
hectare of recreational public open space
Total parklands visitors per year
– parklands visitors per hectare of parklands recreational open space

2008-09

2009-10

640

640

429

429

48

48

117
287

117
287

19.1

19.1

85

90

2,136,108
4,979

2,425,046
5,653

2

2

Heritage
conservation

Heritage precincts with a Conservation Master Plan

Actions taken
during 2009-10
to improve public
open space

A new Parklands Plan of Management was placed on public exhibition and details the proposed
future management regime for the parklands. This is anticipated to be adopted in late 2010.
The former Newington Armament Depot area (now Newington Armory and Newington Nature
Reserve) has been nominated for listing on the State Heritage Register. This nomination is
anticipated to be determined in late 2010.
An assessment of the heritage value of buildings on the brickpit floor associated with operation of
the former State Brickworks is underway and will be used to guide future management of these
buildings.
New interpretive signs were installed around the Park, providing information on the Park’s
biodiversity.
Heritage stone has been recycled at Stockroute Park. The recycled trachyte stone, originally salvaged
from the NSW State Abattoir stockyards, was used to face these new perimeter seating walls.
Trachyte is no longer quarried and is a highly durable stone in the public domain. The NSW
Department of Commerce assisted the Authority with the project to augment the recycled
cobblestones used for wall facings with larger recycled kerb stones which were dressed for use as
public seating.

Public open space is one of the major features of Sydney Olympic Park and includes the
‘Millennium Parklands’ identified in the Sydney Olympic Park Authority Act 2001 and subject
to the statutory provisions of the Parklands Plan of Management, as well as green space, pocket
parks and plazas within the emerging town centre. The scale and diversity of these open spaces
contributes to the identity and distinct character of the precinct.
Public open space contributes to the conservation and protection of many flora and fauna
species and provides opportunities for participation in sport, leisure, arts, cultural and
educational programs and activities. It also contains two areas of heritage significance –
the Vernon Buildings and Gardens and the Millennium Parklands Heritage Precinct, which
includes Newington Armory and Newington Nature Reserve.
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9. Environmental management
across the precinct
Planning and development
Statutory planning reforms commenced in October 2009 with the gazettal of Sydney Olympic Park
as a site of state significance under State Environmental Planning Policy (Major Development) 2005.
This was followed up with strategic planning reforms via the approval of the Master Plan 2030 in
March 2010. These key planning documents, approved by the Minister for Planning, established
precinct-wide planning principles, including, but not limited to:
•		Land use zoning comprising mixed-use development, public recreation, environmental
conservation, environmental management, national parks and nature reserves, infrastructure and
neighbourhood centre
•		Environment and heritage conservation
•		Built environment height, set-back and density controls
•		Building sustainable development objectives, including a minimum of 4 to 5 stars under the
Green Building Council of Australia rating scheme and a 4.5-star National Australian Built
Environment Rating System (NABERS)

•		Transport and traffic controls, including travel management, car parking restrictions and provision
for bicycle infrastructure
•		Identification of necessary public infrastructure, including roads, public parks, public domain
pedestrian areas and community facilities
•		Development consent reforms, including new major, local, exempt, complying and Authorityendorsed activity categories to assess and manage a diverse range of development projects,
•		Building and construction approvals
A major development completed in 2009-10 was 8 Australia Avenue, undertaken by Watpac Pty Ltd.
This is a commercial development providing office space for approximately 500 staff. The building
has a 4-star Green Building Council of Australia rating and a 4.5-star NABERS energy rating.
It includes recycled water connection to the Water Reclamation and Management Scheme (WRAMS) for
non-potable uses and select sustainable material finishes such as tinted glazing to ecologically
sustainable development requirements.

Venues and businesses
Venues and facilities built for the Sydney 2000 Olympic and Paralympic Games were designed with a strong focus on
ecologically sustainable development principles, with particular emphasis on energy and water conservation features
and sustainable material selection. Post-Olympics, many older sports and commercial buildings within the precinct
have been connected to the recycled water system, thereby reducing potable water consumption across the precinct.
The Authority is cluster facilitator for Sydney Olympic Park organisations participating in the Sustainability Advantage
program run by the NSW Department of Environment, Climate Change and Water (DECCW). The organisations
making up this cluster include the Authority and its sports venues (including the Aquatic, Athletics and Sports
Centres), the Royal Agricultural Society of NSW, the Accor Group (representing the Pullman, Novotel and Ibis
hotels) and the Commonwealth Bank of Australia. On 4 June 2010, DECCW held its annual Sustainability Advantage
Recognition Breakfast at the Novotel, Sydney Olympic Park to recognise the achievements of all NSW businesses
participating in the program and to acknowledge the leaders.
During 2009-10, the Authority, its sports venues and the Commonwealth Bank commenced the Resource Efficiency
module. Resource efficiency action plans are being finalised and the projects for the next financial year are being
prioritised.

Environmental education programs
Education continues to play a key role in Sydney Olympic Park’s ongoing social and environmental contribution.
Over 28,200 primary and secondary school students participated in education-related programs and activities in
2009-10, in curriculum and non-curriculum-based programs.
EnergyAustralia renewed and increased its sponsorship commitment for a further three years. This agreement
enables the continued delivery of cutting-edge renewable energy programs through the EnergyAustralia Education
Centre (EAEC) at Newington Armory. Through this partnership, the Authority’s education team also presented public
education about renewable energy as part of the Movies in the Overflow event. Once again, students visited Sydney
Olympic Park for ‘Science in the Suburbs’ over two days and the Authority’s education team delivered renewable
energy components at ‘Science in the City’.

Table 9: Environmental education (curriculum-based programs) 2009-10
Indicator

2008-09

2009-10

32

33

Number of schools visiting

400

337

Number of classes participating

849

905

18,806
4,940
10,375
3,491

22,429
7 184
11,645
3,600

Number of curriculum-based programs offered (in key learning areas of environment,
technology, science, biology, geography, and human society)

Total number of school participants		
– Primary		
– Junior secondary
– Senior secondary
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Environmental research programs
The Authority’s developed and delivered teacher professional development workshops and school excursion
programs aligned with National Geographic’s ‘Jason’ project. The program focuses on ways of making, transforming
and using energy in a sustainable manner at school and in the home.
The Authority also developed an in-school curriculum to support Birds Australia’s ‘Birds as Indicators’ program.
A related workshop for teachers was trialled at the EnergyAustralia Education Centre and a related excursion
component has been created. This package of activities will be rolled out to groups of schools in 2010-11.
A pilot program was delivered in partnership with Scouts Australia, aimed at meeting environmental outcomes
within the Scouts Badge framework.

Environmental training, volunteer and extension programs
Training, volunteer and extension programs conducted over 2009-10 included the following
• Environmental induction training was delivered to 350 contractors working in environmentally sensitive areas.
• Over 600 delegates participated in 29 Technical Insight Tours. Of these, 18 programs were for international
delegates from China, Korea, the UK, the USA and Russia. Domestic programs included conference field trips,
university study programs and TAFE classes. Severty-two percent of all programs related to the Authority’s
environmental management strategies.
• Four Wetlands Education and Training (WET) Workshops for 122 participants were held over 2009-10. These
workshops provide specialised professional development training in wetlands management topics for
environmental professionals and school teachers.
• Volunteers from the Cumberland Bird Observers Club, the Frog and Tadpole Study Group and the Australian
Herpetological Society continued to assist with ecological monitoring programs, giving approximately 647
hours of their time.

2009-10 was the second year of a five-year Australian Research Council linkage project entitled ‘Building sound
ecological restoration strategies for endangered amphibians’. The project is targeting the endangered Green and
Golden Bell Frog and is being undertaken by the Authority and the University of Newcastle, in partnership with
the University of Sydney, the South Australian Museum, Strathfield Council, the Roads and Traffic Authority and the
DECCW. A ‘Scientist in Residence’ facility has been established at Newington Armory and a team of post-doctoral,
postgraduate and undergraduate students is undertaking a comprehensive research program.
Thirty third-year environmental science students from the University of Newcastle participated in a week-long field
trip held at the Park and worked with the ‘Scientists in Residence’ team on Green and Golden Bell Frog
research programs.
Other student research programs commenced during the past year include shorebird ecology, microbat roost sit
usage, urban parrot population abundance, permeable pavers and town centre amenity.

Contractor initiatives
Contractors play a key role in the operation and maintenance of Sydney Olympic Park. Works specifications define
contractor environmental management responsibilities and previous environmental performance is considered
in tender assessment. Contractors are encouraged to implement environmental initiatives that reduce the
environmental footprint of their operations at Sydney Olympic Park.
During 2009-10, security contractor Australian Concert and Entertainment Services (ACES) continued to utilise a
solar-powered motorbike for conducting security patrols in the Park. It is estimated that 1,539.20 kg of greenhouse
gas emissions were avoided through the use of this bike. The ranger’s utility vehicle is has saved 833.3 kg of emissions
through the use of bio-diesel.

Environmental awards and recognition
Australian Institute of Architects, NSW Chapter Awards, 2009

• The Authority hosted ‘Life in the Park’, an inaugural seminar program providing volunteers and the community
with feedback on the outcomes of ecological monitoring programs and the status of the Park’s biodiversity.

• Architecture Award for Urban Design – Armory Wharf Precinct, Sydney Olympic Park, NSW
(awarded to Hargreaves Associates, Lahz Nimmo Architects and Lacoste + Stevenson Architects)

• Parklands tours and interpretive programs were conducted throughout the year, providing visitors with
information about the Park’s environment. These included heritage rail tours that explored the cultural and
natural heritage of Newington Armory.

• Urban Design Commendation – Jacaranda Square, Sydney Olympic Park, NSW
(awarded to McGregor Westlake in association with Aspect Studios)

• Authority staff gave professional talks at various
environmental conferences and seminars and
served as members on regional weed, pest animal
and catchment management committees.
• Birds Australia and the Authority installed a video
camera within Newington Nature Reserve to
enable observation of nesting White-bellied SeaEagles from the Birds Australia Discovery Centre at
Newington Armory.

• Architecture Award for Commercial Building – Armory Wharf Cafe, Sydney Olympic Park, NSW
(awarded to Lahz Nimmo Architects)
Australian Institute of Architects, National Awards, 2009
• The Walter Burley Griffin Award for Urban Design – Armory Wharf Precinct, Sydney Olympic Park, NSW
(awarded to Hargreaves Associates, Lahz Nimmo Architects and Lacoste + Stevenson Architects)
Australian Institute of Architects, NSW Chapter Awards, 2010
• Architecture Award for Small Projects – P6 Paystation, Sydney Olympic Park, NSW
(awarded to Tony Caro Architecture)
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Case study

Global Reporting Initiative disclosure index

Field studies centre upgrade

Refurbishment of the
Sydney Olympic Park Education Centre
at Bicentennial Park
Sydney Olympic Park Authority’s involvement in the
Sustainability Advantage Program has resulted in a
refurbishment of the Sydney Olympic Park Education
Centre at Bicentennial Park. This classroom is the launch
site for the outdoor environmental excursion programs
at Bicentennial Park and has a throughput of over 20,000
students per annum.
The building was originally planned as a temporary location
for education delivery. It was fitted with numerous air
conditioners and down lights and lacked natural lighting
and ventilation. In this state, the building did not reflect the
messages that staff were reinforcing to the students about
sustainability.
The refurbishment was undertaken in the summer vacation
of 2009-10, and the Education Centre was opened in March
2010 in its refurbished state by The Hon. David Borger MP.
The building now showcases examples of environmental
sustainability. Reductions in the environmental footprint of
the building are achieved through:

•

replacement of down lights with energy efficient
hanging fluorescent lights;

•

installation of a small solar hot water system to replace
a conventional electric hot water system;

•

addition of skylights to allow natural light to penetrate
into the space, reducing the need for artificial lighting;

•

installation of louver windows on both sides of the
building to allow cross ventilation, thereby reducing the
need for electric fans or air conditioners;

•

creation of a shade wall on the western exterior face of
the building, which is planted with natives to provide
protection against the heat of the afternoon sun;

•

installation of a water tank to capture rainwater from
the roof for use in equipment cleaning;

•

laying of new floor coverings comprising natural wool
carpet in the main area and, in wet areas, Marmoleum,
which is a durable flooring product made from
renewable raw materials including linseed oil, wood
flour and cork flour; and

•

provision of ModWood seating that extends off
the Education Centre verandah. ModWood, whilst
resembling real wood, is made from recycled plastic
milk bottles and non-virgin pine products and is low
maintenance with a longer life expectancy than natural
wood products.

1.1
2.1
2.2
2.3
2.4
2.5
2.6
2.7
2.8
2.9
2.10
3.1
3.2
3.3
3.4
3.5
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3.7
3.8
3.10
3.11
3.12
4.1
4.2
4.3
4.4
4.14
4.15
EN1
EN2
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EN4
EN7
EN8
EN10
EN11
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EN13
EN15
EN16
EN18
EN21
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EN23
EN28
EN29

EC1

LA1

CEO Statement
CEO’s report
Name of the organisation
Sydney Olympic Park Authority
Primary brands, products or services
About us
Operational structure of the organisation
Organisational review
Location of the organisation’s headquarters
Sydney Olympic Park, Australia
Number of countries where the organisation operates
Australia only
Nature of ownership and legal form
Government agency
Markets served
About us
Scale of the reporting organisation
Financial Statements and Appendcies
Significant changes during the reporting period: size, structural, ownership
CEO’s report
Awards received during the reporting period
State of Environment Report
Reporting period
1 July 2009 to 30 June 2010
Date of most recent report, if any
October 2009
Reporting cycle
Annual
Contact person for questions regarding the report or its contents
Financial Statements and Appendcies
Process for defining report content
NSW Annual Reports (Statutory Bodies) Act 1984
Boundary of report
NSW Annual Reports (Statutory Bodies) Act 1984
State any specific limitations on the scope of the report
Nil
Basis for reporting on joint ventures
Not applicable
Explanation of the effect of any re-statements
Nil
Significant changes from previous reporting
Not applicable
Table identifying the location of the Standard Disclosure in the report
Not applicable
Governance structure of the organisation
Organisational review
Is chair of governance also an executive officer
Organisational review
For organisations with a unitary board structure, state number of members
The Board
Mechanisms for shareholders and employees to provide recommendations or direction
Financial Statements and Appendcies
Stakeholder engagement – list of stakeholders
About us
Basis for identification and selection of stakeholders
About us
Materials used by weight or volume
State of Environment Report
Percentage of materials used that are recycled input materials
State of Environment Report
Direct energy consumption by primary energy source
State of Environment Report
Indirect energy consumption by primary energy source
State of Environment Report
Initiatives to reduce indirect energy consumption and reductions achieved
State of Environment Report
Total water withdrawal by source
State of Environment Report
Percentage and total volume of water recycled and reused
State of Environment Report
Location and size of land owned, leased, managed in, or adjacent to protected areas and
areas of high biodiversity value outside protected areas
State of Environment Report
Description of significant impacts of activities, products and services on biodiversity
in protected areas and areas of high biodiversity value outside protected areas
State of Environment Report
Habitat protected or restored
State of Environment Report
Number of IUCN Red List species and national conservation list species with
habitats in areas affected by operations, by level of extinction risk
State of Environment Report
Total direct and indirect greenhouse gas emissions by weight
State of Environment Report
Initiatives to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and reductions received
State of Environment Report
Total water discharge by quality and destination
State of Environment Report
Total weight of waste by type and disposal method
State of Environment Report
Total number and volume of significant spills
State of Environment Report
Monetary value of significant fines and total number of non-monetary
sanctions for non-compliance with environmental laws and regulations
State of Environment Report
Significant environmental impacts of transporting products and other goods
and materials used for the organisation’s operations and transporting
members of the workforce
State of Environment Report
Direct economic value generated and distributed, including revenues, operating costs,
employee compensation, donations and other community investments, retained
earnings, and payments to capital providers and government
Financial Statements and Appendcies
Total workforce by employment type, employment contract and region
Financial Statements and Appendcies
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Return on investment
More than $1 billion of development projects have been approved at Sydney Olympic Park since
the Sydney 2000 Olympic and Paralympic Games, demonstrating the business community’s
confidence in the future of the Park.
Sydney Olympic Park continues to generate economic activity and returns for the NSW
Government and the people of NSW. A number of recent events, exclusive to NSW, at Acer
Arena have attracted a high level of interstate visitors, including Top Gear on Tour and Ultimate
Fighting Championships (UFC). In addition, the Park’s ongoing iconic events such as the NRL
State of Origin, the NRL Grand Final, the Bledisloe Cup and the Sydney Royal Easter Show
continue to attract high levels of inbound tourism.

Total expenses

Business events held within the Park venues generated over $20 million dollars of revenue in
2009-10, a meaningful contribution to the economic wellbeing of the state.

The Authority’s expenditure has remained steady despite greater demands on maintenance and
increasing visitation and activation of the precinct.

The Sydney Royal Easter Show generates economic benefits in the order of $500 million per annum.

Current expenditure covers:

In addition to contributing more than 50% of its annual operating cash expenses (excluding
depreciation) during 2009-10 through revenue from operations, the Authority remits to NSW
Treasury proceeds from land sales.
The Authority generates returns on Government investment through:
• economic development through property development activity;
• playing a vital role in hosting iconic sporting and entertainment events, attracting 			
international and interstate visitors and generating significant economic activity; and
• generating increased revenue to reduce the cost to the Government of maintaining
the precinct.

• Sydney Olympic Park operations, including maintenance of the parklands and parklands
education programs;
• the operation of government-owned sports venues, including the Aquatic, Athletic, Archery and
Hockey Centres and the Sports Centre and Sports Halls;
• property and asset management, including maintenance of pavements, heritage buildings,
community facility buildings, public spaces and roads, landscape maintenance, lighting and
public art;
• event management and support, including event security and safety;
• environmental services, including recycled water, leachate treatment of remediated land and
environmental monitoring;

Financial returns to reduce costs to Government

• promoting business events, leisure visitation and the Sydney Olympic Park brand;

Although the majority of its funding still comes from the NSW Government, the Authority is
contributing an increasing proportion of its annual expenses from self-generated revenue.

• urban design and town planning, including development of the Sydney Olympic Park Master
Plan 2030, building approvals, transport and traffic planning.
It should be noted that depreciation accounts for over 40% of total expenses. The Authority
continues to review assumptions of the estimated useful life of assets to ensure that the
depreciation expense is indicative of asset servicing profiles.
The Authority has a detailed management plan to assist future asset replacement and renewal.
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Car parking

Business events

Car parking continues to provide a major source of revenue, reflecting the growing number of people using Sydney
Olympic Park. This is also reflected in the increasing numbers of people using public transport to travel to and from
the Park. Around 1.7 million paid vehicles parked on site in 2009-10, and parking revenue was $14.01 million.

In 2009-10, the Authority continued to work closely with Sydney Olympic Park venues and industry bodies to attract
domestic meetings, conferences, special events and exhibitions.

Commercial leases and contracts
The Authority generated $10.4 million in rental and recurrent lease-related income. This included revenue from the
following tenants and venues:
•
•
•
•
•
•

ANZ Stadium
Acer Arena
Accor Hotels
Commonwealth Bank of Australia
Royal Agricultural Society of NSW
Sydney Olympic Park Tennis Centre

•
•
•
•
•
•

Australian Paralympic Committee
NSW Police
NSW Lotteries
Armory Wharf Cafe
Jacaranda Square Cafe
various arts, community association
and sporting groups.

Sydney Olympic Park sports venues
(Aquatic, Athletic, Archery, Hockey and Sports Centres and Sports Halls)
In 2009-10, the Authority continued to operate the Sydney Olympic Park Aquatic, Athletic and Archery Centres
at better than budget levels, and once again further reduced the operating subsidy provided by the NSW
Government. Once again, both casual recreational and competition use of the facilities increased.
The Authority also assumed operational responsibility for the Sports Centre, the Hockey Centre and the Sports
Halls in December 2009. These venues were previously operated by the State Sports Centre Trust. The better
than budget performance reported above was a consolidated result that included the seven months of operation
of the new venues in the Authority’s portfolio.
The Authority completed a number of improvements to the sports centres during the reporting period. These included:

Business events highlights in 2009-10 included:
•

Secured financial commitment from all on site venues to support the business events model and fully fund the
Business Events Sales Executive position.

•

Successfully won the right to host the Australian Events Awards for a three year period, from 2010 to 2012.

•

Launched new business events positioning under the banner ‘Gathering Naturally’. As a cooperative agreement
between the venues within the Park, ‘Gathering Naturally’ highlights the opportunities to host a business event
with a difference, particularly utilising Sydney Olympics Park’s parklands and open spaces.

•

Launched a new teambuilding and leisure activities pack, providing a directory of 25 exciting and challenging
ideas for teambuilding programs and leisure activities available at the Park.

•

Partnered with the five major venues to undertake a proactive sales blitz, targeting 800 corporate organisations
within greater western Sydney and the Sydney CBD. The sales blitz produced significant results for the Park,
securing 133 joint sales appointments from 738 landed phone calls. Additionally, 24 new business leads were
secured as a direct result from sales appointments.

•

Successfully won the right to host the Amway China Incentive event. The event will attract 12,000 Chinese
delegates to the Park (four groups of approximately 3,000 delegates per group) in January 2011. Delegates will
attend business sessions at Acer Arena and a gala dinner at Sydney Showground.

Overall, the Authority’s business events unit reported strong results in 2009-10. The total number of leads received were
467, of which 140 were converted into new business for the Park. Despite increased competition through tightening
global economic conditions, new domestic business secured for the Park was valued at $2,212,966 (down $117,654 or 5%
compared to 2008-09).

Future challenges and direction

• a major refurbishment of the Sports Centre that included extensive renovation of the seating bowl,
new carpets, painting and re-alignment of the indoor courts in the Hall of Legends;

During 2009-10, the Authority will continue to focus on increasing revenue from property rents and commercial hiring,
estate levies, sponsorship arrangements and car parking, thus contributing further to the self-funding of operations.

• the replacement of the entire turf playing surface at the Athletics Competition Arena;

Over the next nine years, it is anticipated that estimated additional revenue of $100 million will be generated from land
sales, with further distributions paid to Treasury and investment in income-producing assets.

• refurbishment of the Aquatic Centre and Athletics Centre catering outlets;
• expansion of the foyer area at the Aquatic Centre;
• major equipment upgrades in the Aquatic Centre Health Club;
• installation of new ‘state-of-the-art’ scoreboards at the Athletic and Aquatic Centres.
The sports venues look forward to continuing success in 2010-11, particularly with the addition of the new venues.

In driving income sources harder and targeting incremental reductions in Treasury funding, the Authority aims to
demonstrate long-term improvement in business performance and sustainability.
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Sydney Olympic Park Authority
Statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 30 June 2010
Authority

Consolidated
Notes

Actual
2010
$'000

Budget
2010
$'000

Actual
2009
$'000

Actual
2010
$'000

Actual
2009
$'000

Expenses excluding losses
Operating expenses
Employee related

2(a)

400

600

19,824

-

-

Personnel services

2(b)

22,836

19,788

565

22,836

19,755

Other operating expenses

2(c)

48,689

49,964

53,014

48,550

52,367

Depreciation and amortisation

2(d)

50,124

45,123

50,706

50,124

50,706

Grants and subsidies

2(e)

469

1,097

800

1,189

1,520

122,518

116,572

124,909

122,699

124,348

Total Expenses excluding losses
Revenue
Sale of goods and services

3(a)

39,570

29,576

28,972

39,516

28,962

Investment revenue

3(b)

10,920

10,299

13,173

10,874

13,080

Retained taxes, fees and fines

3(c)

602

460

467

602

467

Grants and contributions

3(d)

-

1,476

332

-

332

Other revenue

3(e)

2,712

442

1,818

2,952

2,623

53,804

42,253

44,762

53,944

45,464

Total Revenue
Gain/(loss) on disposal

4

(20)

-

(129)

(20)

(129)

Other gains/(losses)

5

23,146

23,144

21,946

23,146

21,946

Net Cost of Services

21

45,588

51,175

58,330

45,629

57,067

Recurrent appropriation

6(a)

33,130

34,196

33,891

33,130

33,891

Capital appropriation

6(b)

6,726

6,811

6,811

6,726

6,811

(696)

-

(6,596)

(696)

(6,596)

-

-

808

-

-

Total Government Contributions

39,160

41,007

34,914

39,160

34,106

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR

(6,428)

(10,168)

(23,416)

(6,469)

(22,961)

Net increase/(decrease) in property, plant and equipment
asset revaluation reserve

7,691

-

79,346

7,691

79,346

Other comprehensive income for the year

7,691

-

79,346

7,691

79,346

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR

1,263

(10,168)

55,930

1,222

56,385

Government Contributions

(Asset sale proceeds transferred to the Crown Entity)
Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee
benefits and other liabilities

7

Other comprehensive income

The accompanying notes form part of these statements.

3 Sydney Olympic Park Authority Annual Report 2009-10

Sydney Olympic Park Authority
Statement of financial position as at 30 June 2010
Consolidated
Notes

Authority

Actual
2010
$'000

Budget
2010
$'000

Actual
2009
$'000

Actual
2010
$'000

Actual
2009
$'000

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

9

38,344

33,537

36,781

36,758

34,721

Receivables

10

16,415

8,446

8,483

16,415

8,953

Inventories

11(a)

109

67

67

109

67

Prepayments

14(a)

6,781

6,781

6,781

6,781

6,781

61,649

48,831

52,112

60,063

50,522

Total Current Assets
Non-Current Assets
Inventories

11(b)

1,923

2,256

2,256

1,923

2,256

Prepayments

14(a)

132,818

132,818

139,599

132,818

139,599

-

-

-

-

-

986,625

967,334

975,342

986,625

975,342

55,552

51,284

55,808

55,552

55,808

373,785

387,560

402,309

373,785

402,309

Other financial assets

12

Property, plant and equipment
-Land and buildings
-Plant and equipment
-Infrastructure systems
Total property, plant and equipment
Right to receive

13
14(b)

1,415,962 1,406,178 1,433,459 1,415,962 1,433,459
219,106

219,106

193,322

219,106

193,322

Total Non-Current Assets

1,769,809 1,760,358 1,768,636 1,769,809 1,768,636

Total Assets

1,831,458 1,809,189 1,820,748 1,829,872 1,819,158

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables

16

7,713

6,162

6,151

7,707

6,134

Provisions

17

2,122

4,531

7,612

2,122

7,577

18(a)

2,321

2,078

1,858

2,321

1,858

12,156

12,771

15,621

12,150

15,569

Other
Total Current Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Provisions

20

15

15

20

15

55,974

56,346

55,330

55,974

55,330

Total Non-Current Liabilities

55,994

56,361

55,345

55,994

55,345

Total Liabilities

68,150

69,132

70,966

68,144

70,914

Other

Net Assets

17
18(b)

1,763,308 1,740,057 1,749,782 1,761,728 1,748,244

EQUITY
Reserves

582,859

575,168

575,168

582,859

575,168

Accumulated funds

1,180,449 1,164,889 1,174,614 1,178,869 1,173,076

Total Equity

1,763,308 1,740,057 1,749,782 1,761,728 1,748,244

The accompanying notes form part of these statements.
Sydney Olympic Park Authority Annual Report 2009-10 4

Sydney Olympic Park Authority
Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 30 June 2010
Consolidated

Notes

Accumulated
Funds
2010
2009
$’000
$’000

Asset Revaluation
Reserve
2010
2009
$’000
$’000

Total Equity
2010
$’000

2009
$’000

a) Consolidated
Balance at 1 July 2009

1,174,614 1,198,031

Surplus/(Deficit) for the year

(6,428)

575,168

495,822 1,749,782 1,693,853

(23,417)

0

0

(6,428)

(23,417)

0

7,691

0

7,691

0

Other comprehensive income
Net increase/(decrease) on revaluation of:
Land and buildings

13

0

Infrastructure systems

13

0

0

0

79,346

0

79,346

Plant and equipment

13

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

7,691

79,346

7,691

79,346

(6,428)

(23,417)

7,691

79,346

1,263

55,930

12,262

0

0

0

12,262

0

1,180,449 1,174,614

582,859

Total other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income for the year
Transactions with Owners In their capacity
as Owners
Increase / (decrease) in net assets from
equity transfers

25

Balance at 30 June 2010
b) Authority

575,168 1,763,308 1,749,782

Authority

Balance at 1 July 2009

1,173,076 1,196,037

Surplus/(Deficit) for the year

(6,469)

575,168

(22,961)

0

495,822 1,748,244 1,691,859
0

(6,469)

(22,961)

Other comprehensive income
Net increase/(decrease) on revaluation of:
Land and buildings

13

0

0

7,691

0

7,691

0

Infrastructure

13

0

0

0

79,346

0

79,346

Plant and equipment

13

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

7,691

79,346

7,691

79,346

(6,469)

(22,961)

7,691

79,346

1,222

56,385

0

0

0

12,262

0

1,173,076

582,859

Total other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income for the year
Transactions with Owners In their capacity
as Owners
Increase / (decrease) in net assets from
equity transfers
Balance at 30 June 2010

5 Sydney Olympic Park Authority Annual Report 2009-10

25

12,262
1,178,869

575,168 1,761,728 1,748,244

Sydney Olympic Park Authority
Statement of cash flows for the year ended 30 June 2010
Consolidated

Authority

Actual
2010
$'000

Budget
2010
$'000

Actual
2009
$'000

Actual
2010
$'000

Actual
2009
$'000

(442)

(600)

(19,220)

0

0

(22,474)

(18,950)

0

(22,474)

(18,560)

(469)

(1,097)

(800)

(949)

(1,280)

Other

(60,868)

(63,254)

(62,291)

(60,459)

(61,568)

Total Payments

(84,253)

(83,901)

(82,311)

(83,882)

(81,408)

39,879

35,053

32,533

39,819

32,524

602

460

467

602

467

Interest received

1,738

953

4,460

1,692

4,367

Other

9,229

14,420

23,620

9,438

23,547

51,448

50,886

61,080

51,551

60,905

Notes

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee related
Personnel Services
Grants and subsidies

Receipts
Sale of goods and services
Retained taxes, fees and fines

Total Receipts
Cash Flows From Government
Recurrent appropriation

6(a)

33,503

34,196

33,891

33,503

33,891

Capital appropriation

6(b)

6,811

6,811

6,811

6,811

6,811

(696)

(175)

(6,596)

(696)

(6,596)

39,618

40,832

34,106

39,618

34,106

21

6,813

7,817

12,875

7,287

13,603

4

44

0

0

44

0

Purchases of land and buildings, plant
and equipment and infrastructure systems

(7,194)

(11,061)

(16,025)

(7,194)

(16,025)

NET CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

(7,150)

(11,061)

(16,025)

(7,150)

(16,025)

(337)

(3,244)

(3,150)

137

(2,422)

36,781

36,781

39,931

34,721

37,143

1,900

0

0

1,900

0

38,344

33,537

36,781

36,758

34,721

Asset sale proceeds transferred to the Crown Entity
Net Cash Flows From Government
NET CASH FLOWS FROM
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH
Opening cash and cash equivalents
Cash transferred in as a result of administrative restructuring
CLOSING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

9

The accompanying notes form part of these statements.
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Sydney Olympic Park Authority
Summary of compliance with financial directives
for the year ended 30 June 2010
2010
Recurrent
Appropriation

$'000

2009

Expenditure
Capital
Net Claim on Appropriation
Consolidated
Fund
$'000
$'000

Expenditure
Recurrent Expenditure
Net Claim on Appropriation Net Claim on
Consolidated
Consolidated
Fund
Fund
$'000
$'000
$'000

Capital
Appropriation

$'000

Expenditure
Net Claim on
Consolidated
Fund
$'000

ORIGINAL BUDGET
APPROPRIATION/ EXPENDITURE
Appropriation Act

34,196

33,130

6,811

6,726

36,594

33,891

6,811

6,811

Additional Appropriations

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Transfers

0

0

0

0

34

0

0

0

34,196

33,130

6,726

36,628

33,891

6,811

6,811

0

0

18,800

0

0

0

0

0

Other

(234)

0

0

0

(115)

0

0

0

Total

(234)

0

0

(115)

0

0

0

33,962

33,130

6,726

36,513

33,891

6,811

6,811

Total

6,811

OTHER APPROPRIATIONS/
EXPENDITURE
Treasurer's Advance

18,800

Total Appropriations/Expenditure
(includes transfer payments)
Amount drawn down against Appropriation

Liability to Consolidated Fund

25,611

33,503

6,811

33,891

6,811

373

85

0

0

The Summary of Compliance is based on the assumption that Consolidated Fund moneys are spent first
(except where otherwise identified or prescribed)
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Sydney Olympic Park Authority
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2010
1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Reporting Entity
Sydney Olympic Park Authority (the
Authority) was established in 2001 and
took over the previous responsibilities of
the Olympic Co-ordination Authority
(OCA).
Persuant to Public Sector Employment
and Management (Departmental
Amalgamations) Order 2009, Office of
Sydney Olympic Park Authority and
Sydney Olympic Park Authority Aquatic
and Athletic Centre are amalgamated
into Communities NSW effective from 27
July 2009. As a result of the
Amalgamation Order, these entities are
abolished and no longer have any
reporting obligations from that date. To
ease the reporting requirement, TC10/01
Financial and Annual Reporting
implications of the July 2009 Agency
Restructures has back dated the effective
date to 1 July 2009, therefore there is no
reporting obligation required for these
abolished entities for the reporting
period.
As at 1 December 2009 the Authority
took over the operations of the State
Sports Centre Trust.
The Authority, as a reporting entity
including Parklands Foundation Limited
and the operations of entities formerly
named Office of Sydney Olympic Park
Authority, Sydney Olympic Park Aquatic
and Athletic Centre and State Sports
Centre Trust , is consolidated as part of
the NSW Total State Sector Accounts.
The Authority is a not-for-profit entity
with no cash generating units.
This financial statements have been
authorised for issue on 30 September
2010.
(b) Basis of Preparation
The Authority’s financial statements are
general purpose financial statements
which have been prepared in accordance
with:
• applicable Australian Accounting
Standards (which include Australian

Accounting Interpretations);
• the requirements of the Public Finance
and Audit Act 1983 and Regulation and
• the Financial Reporting Directions
published in the Financial Reporting
Code for Budget Dependent General
Government Sector Agencies or issued
by the Treasurer.
As mandated by the Treasurer, the
Authority has not early-adopted the
following new/revised Accounting
Standards/Interpretations:

convention. Assets transferred in
through administrative restructure are
measured at fair value in accordance with
AASB 1004 Contributions and TPP 09-3
Contributions by owners made to
wholly-owned Public Sector entities. All
other equity transfers are recognised at
fair value.
Judgements, key assumptions and
estimations made by management are
disclosed in the relevant notes to the
financial statements.

• AASB 9 and AASB 2009-11 regarding
financial instruments

All amounts are rounded to the nearest
one thousand dollars and expressed in
Australian currency.

• AASB 2009-5 regarding annual
improvements

(c) Statement of Compliance

• AASB 2009-8 regarding share based
payments
• AASB 2009-9 regarding first time
adoption
• AASB 2009-10 regarding classification
of rights

The Authority financial statements and
notes comply with Australian Accounting
Standards, which include Australian
Accounting Interpretations.
(d) Income Recognition

• Interpretation 19 and AASB 2009-13
regarding extinguishing financial
liability with equity instruments

Income is measured at the fair value of
the consideration or contribution
received or receivable. Additional
comments regarding the accounting
policies for the recognition of income are
discussed below.

• AASB 2009-14 regarding prepayments
of a minimum funding requirement

(i) Parliamentary Appropriations and
Contributions

• AASB 124 and AASB 2009-12 regarding
related party transactions

• AASB 2010-1 regarding AASB 7
comparatives for first time adopters
• AASB 117 Leases (application date 1
Jan 2010)
• AASB 118 Revenue (application date 1
Jan 2010)
• AASB 132 Financial Instruments:
Presentation (application date 1 Feb
2010)
• AASB 136 Impairment of Assets
(application date 1 Jan 2010)
It is expected that the impact of the
application of the new Standards on the
Authority's financial statements in the
period of initial application will not be
significant.
Property, plant and equipment are
measured at fair value. Other financial
statements items are prepared in
accordance with the historical cost

Parliamentary appropriations and
contributions from other bodies
(including grants and donations) are
generally recognised as income when the
Authority obtains control over the assets
comprising the
appropriations/contributions. Control
over appropriations and contributions is
normally obtained upon the receipt of
cash.
An exception to the above is when
appropriations are unspent at year end.
In this case, the authority to spend the
money lapses and generally the unspent
amount must be repaid to the
Consolidated Fund in the following
financial year. As a result, unspent
appropriations are accounted for as
liabilities rather than revenue.
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Sydney Olympic Park Authority
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2010
(ii) Sale of Goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is
recognised as revenue when the
Authority transfers the significant risks
and rewards of ownership of the assets.
(iii) Rendering of Services
Revenue is recognised when the service is
provided or by reference to the stage of
completion (based on labour hours
incurred to date).
(iv) Investment Income
Interest revenue is recognised using the
effective interest method as set out in
AASB 139 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement.
Rental revenue is recognised in
accordance with AASB 117 Leases on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.
(e) Employee Benefits and Other
Provisions
(i) Salaries and Wages, Annual Leave,
Sick Leave and On-Costs (Personnel
Services)
The NSW Government Agency
Amalgamaion Administration Order has
provided for the legal establishment of
the new super Departments and the
transfer of staff and functions to these
entities. The staff previously employed by
the Office of Sydney Olympic Park
Authority, Sydney Olympic Park Authority
Aquatic and Athletic Centre and State
Sports Centre Trust Division are now
employed by Communities NSW. All
employee costs are shown as Personnel
Services provided by Communities NSW.
Liabilities for salaries and wages
(including non-monetary benefits),
annual leave and paid sick leave that fall
due wholly within twelve months of the
reporting date are recognised and
measured in respect of employees’
services up to the reporting date at
undiscounted amounts based on the
amounts expected to be paid when the
liabilities are settled.
Long-term annual leave that is not
expected to be taken within twelve
months is measured at present value in
9 Sydney Olympic Park Authority Annual Report 2009-10

accordance with AASB 119 Employee
Benefits. Market yields on government
bonds rate are used to discount
long-term annual leave.
Unused non-vesting sick leave does not
give rise to a liability as it is not
considered probable that sick leave taken
in the future will be greater than the
benefits accrued in the future.
The outstanding amounts of payroll tax,
workers’ compensation insurance
premiums and fringe benefits tax, which
are consequential to employment, are
recognised as liabilities and expenses
where the employee benefits to which
they relate have been recognised.
(ii) Long Service Leave and
Superannuation
The Authority's liabilities for long service
leave and defined benefit
superannuation are assumed by the
Crown Entity. The Authority accounts for
the liability as having been extinguished
resulting in the amount assumed being
shown as 'Resources free of charge' in the
Other Revenue.
Long service leave is measured at present
value in accordance with AASB 119
Employee Benefits. This is based on the
application of certain factors (specified in
NSWTC 09/04) to employees with five or
more years of service, using current rates
of pay. These factors were determined
based on an actuarial review to
approximate present value.
The superannuation expense for the
financial year is determined by using the
formula specified in the Treasurer’s
Directions and in accordance with TC
09/01. The expense for certain
superannuation schemes (Basic Benefit
and First State Super) is calculated as a
percentage of the employees’ salaries. For
other superannuation schemes (State
Superannuation Scheme and State
Authorities Superannuation Scheme), the
expense is calculated as a multiple of the
employees’ superannuation
contributions. This expense forms part of
the Personnel Services costs.

(iii) Other Provisions
Other provisions exist when: the
Authority has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of a
past event; it is probable that an outflow
of resources will be required to settle the
obligation; and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.
Any provisions for restructuring are
recognised only when the Authority has a
detailed formal plan and the Authority
has raised a valid expectation in those
affected by the restructuring that it will
carry out the restructuring by starting to
implement the plan or announcing its
main features to those affected.
If the effect of the time value of money is
material, provisions are discounted at the
government bonds rate, which is a
pre-tax rate that reflects the current
market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the
liability.
(f) Insurance
The Authority’s insurance activities are
primarily conducted through the NSW
Treasury Managed Fund Scheme (TMF) of
self-insurance for Government agencies.
The expense (premium) is determined by
the Fund Manager based on past claims
experience.
There are also minor commercial
insurance arrangements in place for risks
that, for commercial reasons, the
Authority has had to accept but for which
the TMF is unable to provide protection.
(g) Accounting for the Goods and
Services Tax (GST)
Income, expenses and assets are
recognised net of the amount of GST
except where:
• the amount of GST incurred by the
Authority as a purchaser that is not
recoverable from the Australian
Taxation Office is recognised as part of
the cost of acquisition of an asset or as
part of an item of expense.
• receivables and payables are stated
with the amount of GST included.
Cash flows are included in the cash flow

Sydney Olympic Park Authority
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2010
statement on a gross basis. However, the
GST components of cash flows arising
from investing and financing activities
which is recoverable from, or payable to,
the Australian Taxation Office are
classified as operating cash flows.
(h) Acquisitions of Assets
The cost method of accounting is used
for the initial recording of all acquisitions
of assets controlled by the Authority. Cost
is the amount of cash or cash equivalents
paid or the fair value of the other
consideration given to acquire the asset
at the time of its acqusition or
construction or, where applicable, the
amount attributed to that asset when
initially recognised in accordance with
the specific requirements of other
Australian Accounting Standards.
Assets acquired at no cost, or for nominal
consideration, are initially recognised as
assets and revenues at their fair value at
the date of acquisition. Assets transfers
arising from an administrative restructure involving not-for-profit entities and
for-profit government departments are
recognised at the amount at which the
asset was recognised by the transferor
immediately prior to the restructure. All
other equity transfers are recognised at
fair value, except for intangibles.
Fair value is the amount for which an
asset could be exchanged between
knowledgeable, willing parties in an
arm’s length transaction.
As at 31 March 2010, the 99 year lease
with NSW Lotteries Corporation at 2
Figtree Drive was surrendered and the
building was vested by the Treasurer to
Sydney Olympic Park Authority. The asset
was transferred at fair value in
accordance with AASB 1004
Contributions and TPP 09-3 Contributions
by owners made to wholly-owned Public
Sector entities. This asset was revalued at
30 June 2010.
(i) Capitalisation Thresholds
Property, plant and equipment assets
costing $10,000 and above individually
are capitalised.

( j) Revaluation of Property, Plant and
Equipment
Physical non-current assets are valued in
accordance with the Treasury Policy and
Guidelines Paper TPP 07-1 Valuation of
Physical Non-Current Assets at Fair Value.
This policy adopts fair value in
accordance with AASB 116 Property, Plant
and Equipment.
Property, plant and equipment is
measured on an existing use basis where
there are no feasible alternative uses in
the existing natural, legal, financial and
socio-political environment. However, in
the limited circumstances where there
are feasible alternative uses, assets are
valued at their highest and best use.
Fair value of property, plant and
equipment is determined based on the
best available market evidence, including
current market selling prices for the same
or similar assets. Where there is no
available market evidence, the asset's fair
value is measured at its market buying
price, the best indicator of which is
depreciated replacement cost.
The Authority revalues each class of
property, plant and equipment at least
every five years and with sufficient
regularity to ensure that the carrying
amount of each asset in the class does
not differ materially from its fair value at
reporting date. The last revaluation for
land and buildings and plant and
equipment was completed on 30 June
2008 by the Department of Lands. The
last valuation for infrastructure systems
was completed on 1 July 2008 by the
Department of Commerce, based on an
independent assessment.
Non-specialised assets with short useful
lives are measured at depreciated
historical cost as a surrogate for fair
value.
When revaluing non-current assets by
reference to current prices for assets
newer than those being revalued
(adjusted to reflect the present condition
of the assets), the gross amount and the
related accumulated depreciation is
separately restated.

For other assets, any balances of
accumulated depreciation existing at the
revaluation date in respect of those
assets are credited to the asset accounts
to which they relate. The net asset
accounts are then increased or decreased
by the revaluation increments or
decrements.
Revaluation increments are credited
directly to the asset revaluation reserve,
except that, to the extent that an
increment reverses a revaluation
decrement in respect of that class of
asset previously recognised as an
expense in the Surplus/(deficit) for the
Year, the increment is recognised
immediately as revenue in the
Surplus/(deficit) for the Year.
Revaluation decrements are recognised
immediately as expenses in the
Surplus/(deficit) for the Year, except that,
to the extent that a credit balance exists
in the asset revaluation reserve in respect
of the same class of assets, they are
debited directly to the asset revaluation
reserve.
As a not-for-profit entity, revaluation
increments and decrements are offset
against one another within a class of
non-current assets, but not otherwise.
Where an asset that has previously been
revalued is disposed of, any balance
remaining in the asset revaluation
reserve in respect of that asset is
transferred to accumulated funds.
(k) Impairment of Property, Plant and
Equipment
As a not-for-profit entity with no cash
generating units, the Authority is
effectively exempted from AASB 136
Impairment of Assets and impairment
testing. This is because AASB 136
modifies the recoverable amount test to
the higher of fair value less costs to sell
and depreciated replacement cost.
Therefore, for an asset already measured
at fair value, impairment can only arise if
selling costs are material. Selling costs are
regarded as immaterial.
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Sydney Olympic Park Authority
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2010
l)Land Under Roads
Land under roads are recognised at fair
value in accordance with AASB 1051 Land
under Roads and TC 10/07.
(m) Depreciation of Property, Plant and
Equipment
Depreciation is provided for on a
straight-line basis for all depreciable
assets so as to write off the depreciable
amount of each asset as it is consumed
over its useful life to the Authority.
All material, separately-identifiable,
component assets are recognised and
depreciated over their shorter useful lives.
Land is not a depreciable asset.
Depreciation rates for these asset
categories are:
buildings including
facilities and sporting
venues

1.3% - 20%
per annum

computer equipment

25%
per annum

office equipment

20%
per annum

leasehold
improvements

period of
lease

infrastructure

2% - 33%
per annum

other plant and
equipment

2% - 20%
per annum

(n) Maintenance
Day-to-day servicing costs or
maintenance costs are charged as
expenses as incurred except where they
relate to the replacement of a component
of an asset, in which case the costs are
capitalised and depreciated.
(o) Leased Assets
A distinction is made between finance
leases which effectively transfer from the
lessor to the lessee all the substantial
risks and benefits incidental to ownership
of the leased assets, and operating leases
under which the lessor effectively retains
all such risks and benefits.
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Operating lease payments are charged to
the statement of comprehensive income
in the periods in which they are incurred.
(p) Loans and Receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. These
financial assets are recognised initially at
fair value, usually based on the
transaction cost or face value.
Subsequent measurement is at
amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less an allowance for
any impairment of receivables. Any
changes are accounted for in the
Surplus/(deficit) for the Year when
impaired, derecognised or through the
amortisation process.
Short-term receivables with no stated
interest rate are measured at the original
invoice amount where the effect of
discounting is immaterial.
(q) Inventories
Inventories held for distribution are
stated at cost, adjusted when applicable,
for any loss of service potential. A loss of
service potential is identified and
measured based on the existence of a
current replacement cost that is lower
than the carrying amount. Inventories
(other than those held for distribution)
are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is calculated using
the weighted average cost.
The cost of inventories acquired at no
cost or for nominal consideration is the
current replacement cost as at the date
of acquisition. Current replacement cost
is the cost the Authority would incur to
acquire the asset. Net realisable value is
the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale.
Non current inventories include land
inventory. When inventories are sold, the
carrying amount of those inventories is
recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised
in accordance with AASB 102 Inventories.

(r) Investments
Investments are initially recognised at
fair value plus, in the case of investments
not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs. The Authority
determines the classification of its
financial assets after initial recognition
and, when allowed and appropriate,
re-evaluates this at each financial year
end.
The Authority subsequently measures
investments classified as 'held for
trading' or designated upon initial
recognition 'at fair value through profit or
loss' at fair value. Financial assets are
classified as 'held for trading' if they are
acquired for the purpose of selling in the
near term. Derivatives are also classified
as held for trading. Gains or losses on
these assets are recognised in the
Surplus/(deficit) for the Year.
The Hour-Glass Investment Facilities are
designated at fair value through profit or
loss using the second leg of the fair value
option i.e. these financial assets are
managed and their performance is
evaluated on a fair value basis, in
accordance with a documented risk
management strategy, and information
about these assets is provided internally
on that basis to the Authority’s key
management personnel.
The movement in the fair value of the
Hour-Glass Investment Facilities
incorporates distributions received as
well as unrealised movements in fair
value and is reported in the line item
‘investment revenue’.
Purchases or sales of investments under
contract that require delivery of the asset
within the timeframe established by
convention or regulation are recognised
on the trade date: the date the entity
commits to purchase or sell the asset.
The fair value of investments that are
traded at fair value in an active market is
determined by reference to quoted
current bid prices at the close of business
on the Statement of Financial Position
date.

Sydney Olympic Park Authority
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2010
(s) Other Assets

(u) Major Repairs Funds

(w) Equity Transfers

Other assets are generally recognised at
cost.

Under the terms of the lease between
the Authority and the Royal Agricultural
Society of New South Wales (RAS), the
Authority is required to maintain a Major
Repairs Fund (MRF). The MRF is to be
used for major repairs undertaken to
preserve and prolong the useful,
economic life span of the Sydney
Showground during the lease term.

The transfer of net assets between
agencies as a result of an administrative
restructure, transfers of programs /
functions and parts thereof between
NSW public sector agencies and ‘equity
appropriations’ are designated or
required by Accounting Standards to be
treated as contributions by owners and
recognised as an adjustment to
“Accumulated Funds”. This treatment is
consistent with AASB 1004 Contributions
and Australian Interpretation 1038
Contributions by Owners Made to
Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities.

(t) Impairment of Financial Assets
All financial assets, except those
measured at fair value through profit and
loss, are subject to an annual review for
impairment. An allowance for
impairment is established when there is
objective evidence that the entity will not
be able to collect all amounts due.
For financial assets carried at amortised
cost, the amount of the allowance is the
difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows, discounted
at the effective interest rate. The amount
of the impairment loss is recognised in
the Surplus/(deficit) for the Year.
Any reversals of impairment losses are
reversed through the Surplus/(deficit) for
the Year, where there is objective
evidence, except reversals of impairment
losses on an investment in an equity
instrument classified as 'available for
sale' must be made through the reserve.
Reversals of impairment losses of
financial assets carried at amortised cost
cannot result in a carrying amount that
exceeds what the carrying amount would
have been had there not been an
impairment loss.
A financial asset is derecognised when
the contractual rights to the cash flows
from the financial assets expire; or if the
agency transfers the financial asset
where substantially all the risks and
rewards have been transferred or where
the agency has not transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards, if
the entity has not retained control.
Where the agency has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards or transferred control, the
asset is recognised to the extent of the
agency’s continuing involvement in the
asset.A financial liability is derecognised
when the obligation specified in the
contract is discharged or cancelled or
expires.

NSW Treasury provides the Authority
with funding for major repairs of the
Sydney Olympic Park Aquatic and Athletic
Centres (SOPAAC). This MRF is to be used
for major repairs undertaken to preserve
and prolong the useful, economic life
span of the Sydney Olympic Park Aquatic
and Athletic Centres.
The MRFs at reporting date are treated as
restricted assets. Refer Note 15.
(v) Privately Financed Projects
In respect of the ANZ Stadium and Acer
Arena facilities which were funded,
developed and initially managed by the
private sector, the Authority has adopted
Treasury Policy and Guidelines Paper TPP
06-8 Accounting for Privately Financed
Projects. Practical completion dates of the
ANZ Stadium and Acer Arena occurred on
1 March 1999 and 30 August 1999
respectively. Both venues will revert to
the Authority on expiry of the lease in
2031.
The Authority's share of the reversionary
interest in the ANZ Stadium and Acer
Arena is recognised as revenue and a
non-current asset whose value emerges
during the lease period. The value is
allocated during the lease period as if it
were the compound value of an annuity
discounted at the NSW Government
bond rate applicable to the Authority at
the commencement of the lease period.
During the lease period, the fair value of
the right to receive increases or
decreases, the movement is recognised in
accordance with AASB 116 Property, Plant
and Equipment as if the right is an item
of property to which that standard
applies. Refer Note 14(a), 14(b).

Transfers arising from an administrative
restructure involving not-for-profit
entities and for-profit government
departments are recognised at the
amount at which the asset was
recognised by the transferor immediately
prior to the restructure. Subject to below,
in most instances this will approximate
fair value.
All other equity transfers are recognised
at fair value, except for intangibles.
Where an intangible has been recognised
at (amortised) cost by the transferor
because there is no active market, the
agency recognises the asset at the
transferor’s carrying amount. Where the
transferor is prohibited from recognising
internally generated intangibles, the
agency does not recognise that asset.
(x) Payables
These amounts represent liabilities for
goods and services provided to the
Authority and other amounts. Payables
are recognised initially at fair value,
usually based on the transaction cost or
face value. Subsequent measurement is
at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. Short-term payables
with no stated interest rate are measured
at the original invoice amount where the
effect of discounting is immaterial.
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(y) Budgeted Amounts
The budgeted amounts are drawn from
the budgets as formulated at the
beginning of the financial year and with
any adjustments for the effects of
additional appropriations under s 21A, s
24, and/or s 26 of the Public Finance and
Audit Act 1983.
The budgeted amounts in the Statement
of Comprehensive Income and the
Statement of cash flows are generally
based on the amounts disclosed in the
NSW Budget Papers (as adjusted above).
However, in the Statement of Financial
Position, the amounts vary from the
Budget Papers, as the opening balances
of the budgeted amounts are based on
carried forward actual amounts, per the
audited financial statements (rather than
carried forward estimates).
(z) Equity and reserves
(i) Asset Revaluation reserve
The asset revaluation reserve is used to
record increments and decrements on
the revaluation of non-current assets.
This accords with the agency’s policy on
the revaluation of property, plant and
equipment.
(ii) Accumulated Funds
The category accumulated funds includes
all current and prior period retained
funds.
(iii) Separate reserve
Accounts are recognised in the financial
statements only if such accounts are
required by specific legislation or
Australian Accounting Standards. (e.g.
asset revaluation reserve).
(ai) Comparative Information
Except when an Australian Accounting
Standard permits or requires otherwise,
comparative information is disclosed in
respect of the previous period for all
amounts reported in the financial
statements.
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Consolidated
Notes

Authority

2010
$'000

2009
$'000

2010
$'000

2009
$'000

352
0
24
0
3
21

16,272
299
1,204
491
351
1,207

0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

400

19,824

0

0

0
22,836

565
0

0
22,836

565
19,190

22,836

565

22,836

19,755

96
1,030
4,736
2,335
3,459
3,329
1,292
13,357
9,502
4,420
732
4,401

90
955
4,275
1,353
3,512
2,589
1,994
21,538
10,092
2,900
623
3,093

92
1,025
4,736
2,335
3,445
3,316
1,278
13,349
9,428
4,420
725
4,401

87
953
4,269
1,352
3,395
2,453
1,977
21,537
9,778
2,900
579
3,087

48,689

53,014

48,550

52,367

13,357
1,465

21,538
1,224

13,349
1,465

21,538
1,224

14,822

22,762

14,814

22,762

10,421
5,190
27,732

9,919
4,561
29,445

10,421
5,190
27,732

9,919
4,561
29,445

43,343

43,925

43,343

43,925

6,781

6,781

6,781

6,781

50,124

50,706

50,124

50,706

2. EXPENSES EXCLUDING LOSSES
(a) Employee Related Expenses
Salaries and wages (including recreation leave)
Superannuation - defined benefit plans
Superannuation - defined contribution plans
Long service leave
Workers' compensation insurance
Payroll tax and fringe benefit tax

(b)Personnel services
Contractors and temporary agency staff
Personnel services

(c) Other Operating Expenses
Auditors’ remuneration - audit of the financial statements
Insurance
Asset management
Operating lease rental expense - minimum lease payments
Administration
Advertising and promotion
Activity and entertainment
Maintenance
Site services
Utilities
Information technology
Other

Maintenance reconciliation:
Maintenance expenses, as above
Maintenance related personnel services included in Note 2(a) & (b)

(d)Depreciation and Amortisation Expenses
Depreciation
Land and buildings
Plant and equipment
Infrastructure systems
13
Amortisation
Amortisation - Prepayments
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Authority

Consolidated
2010
$'000

2009
$'000

469

800

469

800

0

0

720

720

469

800

1,189

1,520

Estate levies

3,969

3,791

3,969

3,791

Car parking

14,098

13,201

14,098

13,201

9,756

7,874

9,756

7,874

11,747

4,106

11,693

4,096

39,570

28,972

39,516

28,962

Notes

2010
$'000

2009
$'000

(e) Grants and Subsidies
State Sports Centre Trust
Parklands Foundation Limited

3. REVENUE
(a) Sale of Goods and Services

Aquatic and Athletic Centres
Other (including sale of site 3)

(b)Investment Revenue
Interest on bank
Interest on advances

751

834

705

741

2,640

2,382

2,640

2,382

Interest on TCorp Hour Glass cash facility

1,115

3,195

1,115

3,195

Rents and leases

6,414

6,762

6,414

6,762

10,920

13,173

10,874

13,080

602

467

602

467

602

467

602

467

(c) Retained Taxes, Fees and Fines
Parking infringements

(d)Grants and Contributions
Other

0

8

0

8

Developer contributions

0

324

0

324

0

332

0

332

1,094

0

1,094

808

The Authority has entered into land development agreements on the condition that a
component of proceeds will be attributed to the provision of public infrastructure.
The nature of this infrastructure is detailed in the Authority Infrastructure Funding Plan.

(e) Other Revenue
Resources free of charge
Sponsorships and Contributions

710

518

710

515

Other

908

1,300

1,148

1,300

2,712

1,818

2,952

2,623
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Consolidated

Authority

Notes

2010
$'000

2009
$'000

2010
$'000

2009
$'000

44

0

44

0

13

(64)

(129)

(64)

(129)

Net gain/(loss) on disposal of plant and equipment

(20)

(129)

(20)

(129)

Gain/(loss) on disposal

(20)

(129)

(20)

(129)

4. GAIN/(LOSS) ON DISPOSAL
Gain/(loss) on disposal of plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal
Written down value of assets disposed

5. OTHER GAIN/(LOSS)
Right to receive
Impairment of receivables-advances

14(b)

25,784

24,328

25,784

24,328

12

(2,640)

(2,382)

(2,640)

(2,382)

2

0

2

0

23,146

21,946

23,146

21,946

33,503

33,891

33,503

33,891

(373)

0

(373)

0

33,130

33,891

33,130

33,891

33,130

33,891

33,130

33,891

33,130

33,891

33,130

33,891

6,811
(85)

6,811
0

6,811
(85)

6,811
0

6,726

6,811

6,726

6,811

6,726

6,811

6,726

6,811

6,726

6,811

6,726

6,811

Impairment of receivables-other

6. APPROPRIATIONS
(a) Recurrent Appropriations
Total recurrent drawdowns from NSW Treasury (per Summary of Compliance)
Less: Liability to Consolidated Fund (per Summary of Compliance)
Comprising:Recurrent appropriations (per Statement of comprehensive income)

(b)Capital Appropriations
Total capital drawdowns from NSW Treasury (per Summary of Compliance)
Less: Liability to Consolidated Fund (per Summary of Compliance)

Comprising:Capital appropriations (per Statement of comprehensive income)

7. ACCEPTANCE BY THE CROWN ENTITY OF
EMPLOYEE BENEFITS AND OTHER LIABILITIES
The following liabilities and/or expenses have been
assumed by the Crown Entity:
Superannuation - Defined benefit

2(a)&(b)

0

299

0

0

Long service leave

2(a)&(b)

0

491

0

0

0

18

0

0

0

808

0

0

Payroll tax on superannuation
Resources free of charge

3(e)
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8. SERVICE GROUP/ACTIVITIES OF THE AUTHORITY
(a) Service Group - Precinct Management and
Development Objective:
This service group contributes to the development of a high
quality living and working environment and providing venues
for sporting, leisure, artistic and cultural activities by working
towards a range of intermediate results that include the
following:
• increasing visits to Sydney Olympic Park
• achieving sustainable urban development outcomes

Description:
This service group covers the promotion, development and
management of the Sydney Olympic Park precinct.
(b) Service Group Statement – Expenses and Revenues
The Authority operates as one service group. The expenses and
revenues of this group are as reflected in the Statement of
Comprehensive income and assets and liabilities in the
Statement of financial position.

• accommodating new jobs closer to home maintaining Sydney
Olympic Park as a major events precinct and
• improving the Government's return on investment in Sydney
Olympic Park
Consolidated

Authority

2010
$'000

2009
$'000

2010
$'000

2009
$'000

Cash at bank and on hand

15,823

11,819

14,237

9,759

TCorp Hour-Glass cash facility

22,521

24,962

22,521

24,962

38,344

36,781

36,758

34,721

Cash and cash equivalents (per Statement of finanical position)

38,344

36,781

36,758

34,721

Closing cash and cash equivalents (per Statement of cash flows)

38,344

36,781

36,758

34,721

Notes

9. CURRENT ASSETS - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

22

Cash and cash equivalent assets recognised in the Statement of
financial position are reconciled at the end of the financial year
to the Statement of cash flows as follows:

Details regarding credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk are disclosed in note 22.
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Authority

Consolidated
2010
$'000

2009
$'000

2010
$'000

2009
$'000

10,181
(4)
410
1,738
1,189
2,399
502

4,299
0
282
1,082
1,604
818
398

10,181
(4)
410
1,738
1,189
2,399
502

4,293
0
282
1,083
2,079
818
398

16,415

8,483

16,415

8,953

Balance at 1 July
Amounts written off during the year
Increase/(decrease) in allowance recognised in profit or loss

0
0
4

0
(49)
49

0
0
4

0
(49)
49

Balance at 30 June

4

0

4

0

109

67

109

67

109

67

109

67

543
1,380

637
1,619

543
1,380

637
1,619

1,923

2,256

1,923

2,256

12,000

12,000

12,000

12,000

Notes

10. CURRENT ASSETS - RECEIVABLES
Current Receivables
Trade debtors
Less: Allowance for impairment
Interest receivable
GST receivable
Prepayments
Accrued income
Other

Movement in the allowance for impairment

Details regarding credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including financial
assets that are either past due or impaired, are disclosed in Note 22.

11. CURRENT/NON CURRENT ASSETS - INVENTORIES
(a) Current Inventories - held for resale
Stock at cost

(b)Non Current Inventories - held for resale
Land Inventory

- Acquisition
- Development

Land inventory at cost

12. NON CURRENT ASSETS - OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
Advances receivable - OCA Loans
Interest on advances
Less: Allowance for impairment

15,585

12,945

15,585

12,945

22

27,585

24,945

27,585

24,945

22

(27,585)

(24,945)

(27,585)

(24,945)

0

0

0

0

24,945

22,563

24,945

22,563

0

0

0

0

Movement in the allowance for impairment
Balance at 1 July
Amounts written off during the year
Amounts recovered during the year
Increase/(decrease) in allowance recognised in profit or loss
Balance at 30 June

0

0

0

0

2,640

2,382

2,640

2,382

27,585

24,945

27,585

24,945

Refer to Note 22 for further information regarding credit risk, liquidity risk
and market risk arising from financial instruments.
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Authority

Consolidated
Land and
Buildings
$’000

Plant and
Equipment
$’000

1,110,336
(134,994)

104,752
(48,944)

679,420 1,894,508
(277,111) (461,049)

975,342

55,808

402,309 1,433,459

1,132,531
(145,906)

110,567
(55,015)

678,629 1,921,727
(304,844) (505,765)

986,625

55,552

373,785 1,415,962

975,342
1,086
0
698
9,797
7,691
(10,421)
2,432

55,808
1,029
(64)
709
0
0
(5,190)
3,260

402,309 1,433,459
4,874
6,989
0
(64)
26
1,433
0
9,797
0
7,691
(27,732) (43,343)
(5,692)
0

986,625

55,552

373,785 1,415,962

2009
At 1 July 2008 - fair value
Gross carrying amount
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Net Carrying Amount

1,100,183
(125,075)
975,108

104,163
(44,787)
59,376

564,213 1,768,559
(214,614) (384,476)
349,599 1,384,083

At 30 June 2009 - fair value
Gross carrying amount
Accumulated depreciation and impairment

1,110,336
(134,994)

104,752
(48,944)

679,420 1,894,508
(277,111) (461,049)

975,342

55,808

402,309 1,433,459

975,108
10,153
0
0
(9,919)
0

59,376
1,122
(129)
0
(4,561)
0

349,599 1,384,083
2,809
14,084
0
(129)
79,346
79,346
(29,445) (43,925)
0
0

975,342

55,808

402,309 1,433,459

Notes

Infrastructure

Systems
$’000

Total
$’000

13. NON CURRENT ASSETS – PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
2010
At 1 July 2009 - fair value
Gross carrying amount
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Net Carrying Amount
At 30 June 2010 - fair value
Gross carrying amount
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Net Carrying Amount
A reconciliation of the carrying amounts of each class of property, plant and equipment
at the beginning and the end of current reporting period is set out below.

Year ended 30 June 2010
Net carrying amount at start of year
Additions
Disposals
Acqusitions through administrative restructures
Acqusitions through non administrative restructures
Net revaluation increment less revaluation decrements
Depreciation expense
Reclassification-asset class

4
24
25
2(d)

Net carrying amount at end of year

Net Carrying Amount
A reconciliation of the carrying amounts of each class of property, plant and equipment
at the beginning and the end of the current reporting period is set out below.

Year ended 30 June 2009
Net carrying amount at start of year
Additions
Disposals
Net revaluation increment less revaluation decrements
Depreciation expense
Reclassifications - asset class
Net carrying amount at end of year
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Consolidated
Notes

Authority

2010
$'000

2009
$'000

2010
$'000

2009
$'000

6,781

6,781

6,781

6,781

132,818

139,599

132,818

139,599

139,599

146,380

139,599

146,380

14. PRIVATELY FINANCED PROJECTS
(a) Prepayments - ANZ Stadium and Acer Arena
Prepayments (current)
Prepayments (non current)
1(v)
(b)Right to receive - ANZ Stadium and Acer Arena
Carrying amount at 1 July
Gain/(loss) for the year
Carrying amount at 30 June

193,322

168,994

193,322

168,994

5

25,784

24,328

25,784

24,328

1(v)

219,106

193,322

219,106

193,322

15. RESTRICTED ASSETS
14,293

14,116

14,293

14,116

Major repairs fund – SOPAAC

Major repairs fund – RAS

1,050

112

1,050

112

Developer contributions and proceeds of development right

7,177

7,574

7,177

7,574

Parklands Foundation Limited

1,586

2,060

0

0

24,106

23,862

22,520

21,802

7,117

5,294

7,111

5,286

16. CURRENT LIABILITIES – PAYABLES
Creditors and accrued expenses
Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs

17

0

857

0

0

Personnel services

17

596

0

596

848

7,713

6,151

7,707

6,134

Details regarding credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including a maturity analysis
of the above payables, are disclosed in Note 22.
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Consolidated

Authority

2010
$'000

2009
$'000

2010
$'000

2009
$'000

Recreation leave

0

1,343

0

0

Other

0

431

0

0

0

1,774

0

0

Notes

17. CURRENT/NON CURRENT LIABILITIES - PROVISIONS
Employee Benefits and Related On-costs

Other Provisions
Rectification - Sydney Showground
Personnel services
Total Provisions

0

5,853

0

5,853

2,142

0

2,142

1,739

2,142

5,853

2,142

7,592

2,142

7,627

2,142

7,592

0

1,759

0

0

Aggregate Personnel Services Costs
Provisions - current
Provisions - non current
Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs

16

Personnel services - current
Personnel services - non current
Personnel services - accruals

16

0

15

0

0

0

857

0

0

2,122

0

2,122

1,724

20

0

20

15

596

0

596

848

2,738

2,631

2,738

2,587

5,853

3,768

5,853

3,768

The Authority previously agreed to fund defect rectification works arising from the
original construction of the Sydney Showground. The movement in the provision is
set out below:

Carrying amount at the beginning of financial year
Additional provisions recognised
Amounts used
Provisions Write Back - there are no outstanding defects claims)
Carrying amount at the end of financial year

0

2,774

0

2,774

(160)

(689)

(160)

(689)

(5,693)

0

(5,693)

0

0

5,853

0

5,853

314

279

314

279

18. CURRENT/NON CURRENT LIABILITIES - OTHER
(a) Current Liabilities - Other
Security deposits
Deferred long term lease income
Other

22

526

521

526

521

1,481

1,058

1,481

1,058

2,321

1,858

2,321

1,858

55,974

55,330

55,974

55,330

55,974

55,330

55,974

55,330

(b)Non Current Liabilities - Other
Deferred long term lease income
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Consolidated

Authority

2010
$'000

2009
$'000

2010
$'000

2009
$'000

Not later than one year

514

15

514

15

Total (including GST)

514

15

514

15

Not later than one year

708

1,046

708

1,046

Total (including GST)

708

1,046

708

1,046

Not later than one year

2,134

4,252

2,134

4,252

Total (including GST)

2,134

4,252

2,134

4,252

512

1,237

512

1,237

Notes

19. COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE
(a) Capital Expenditure Commitments
Aggregate capital expenditure for the acquisition of property
development services contracted for at balance date and not provided for:

Aggregate capital expenditure for the acquisition of other construction contracted
for at balance date and not provided for:

(b)Other Expenditure Commitments
Aggregate other expenditure contracted for at balance date and not provided for:

(c) Operating Lease Commitments
Future non-cancellable operating lease rentals not provided for and payable:

Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than 5 years

3,845

904

3,845

904

Greater than 5 years

1,768

0

1,768

0

Total (including GST)

6,125

2,141

6,125

2,141

The Authority's operating leases relate to property and motor vehicles.
The total expenditure commitments above include input tax credits of $847,000
($658,000 in 2009) which are expected to be recovered from the Australian Taxation Office.
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20. BUDGET REVIEW

(c) Cash Flows

(a) Net Cost of Services

Net cash flows from operating activities were $1.0 million
below budget. The material variances were:

The actual net cost of services was $5.5 million lower than
budget. The main variances were:

• higher personnel costs of $3.5 million relates mainly to
the former State Sports Centre Trust employees

• higher personnel costs of $3.0 million relates mainly to
the former State Sports Centre Trust transferring to SOPA
during the year.
• higher depreciation and amortisation costs of $5.0
million resulting from recent valuation to infrastructure.
• higher sale of goods and services of $10.0 million mainly
from sale of residential land site 3, additional car parking
revenue, venue hire revenue from the State Sport Centre
and catering revenue from the Sydney Olympic Park
Aquatic Centre.
• higher other revenue mainly relates to State Sports
Centre Trust transfer and additional income received from
V8 event.
b) Assets and Liabilities
Total assets were $22.3 million above budget. The material
variances are:
• higher cash balances of $4.8 million mainly in the
restricted cash item Major repairs fund - RAS.
• higher receivables of $8.0 million mainly in outstanding
developer funded revenue such as site 3.
• higher land and buildings value of $19.3 million
resulting mainly from the NSW Lotteries asset transfer in
as part of a non administrative restructure arrangement.
• higher plant and equipment of $4.3 million resulting
mainly from assets transferred in from the State Sports
Centre and additional capitalisation of assets.
• lower infrastructure value of $13.8 million resulting
mainly from higher depreciation costs.
Total liabilities were below budget by $1.0 million. The
material variances were:
• higher payables of $1.6 million mainly in higher accruals.
• lower current provision of $2.0 million is payment of
rectification works for the Sydney Showground.
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• lower other payments of $2.4 million mainly relating to
lower site service costs and reduced event costs
• higher sale of goods and services of $4.8 million mainly
from sale of residential site 3, venue hire revenue from
the State Sport Center and catering revenue from the
Sydney Olympic Park Aquatic Centre.
• lower other receipts of $5.2 million relates mainly to
lower developer contributions and premiums and GST
movements
• the requirement for recurrent appropriation to meet the
Authority's operating activities was $0.7 million lower.

Sydney Olympic Park Authority
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2010
Consolidated

Authority

Notes

2010
$'000

2009
$'000

2010
$'000

2009
$'000

6,813

12,875

7,287

13,603

6

(39,856)

(40,702)

(39,856)

(40,702)

21.RECONCILIATION OF CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES TO NET COST OF SERVICES
Net Cash Used on Operating Activities
Cash flows from Government/Appropriations
Asset sale proceeds transferred to the Crown Entity
Resources Free of charge
Depreciation and amortisation

696

6,596

696

6,596

7

0

(808)

0

0

2(d)

(50,124)

(50,706)

(50,124)

(50,706)

Impairment of receivables

5

2,638

2,382

2,638

2,382

Net gain/(loss) on disposal

4

(20)

(129)

(20)

(129)

Other gains/(losses)

5

23,146

21,946

23,146

21,946

(333)

0

(333)

0

Increase/(decrease) in costs of sales
Increase/(decrease) in receivables
Decrease/(increase) in payables
Decrease/(increase) in employee provisions

7,425

1,253

6,957

1,025

(1,307)

88

(1,319)

74

440

(45)

405

(76)

Decrease/(increase) in other current liabilities

5,543

(1,960)

5,543

(1,960)

Decrease/(increase) in prepaid long term lease

(649)

(9,120)

(649)

(9,120)

(45,588)

(58,330)

(45,629)

(57,067)

Net Cost of Services
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22. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Authority's principal financial instruments are outlined
below. These financial instruments arise directly from the
Authority’s operations or are required to finance the
Authority’s operations. The Authority does not enter into or
trade financial instruments, including derivative financial
instruments, for speculative purposes.
The Authority’s main risks arising from financial instruments
are outlined below, together with the Authority’s objectives,
policies and processes for measuring and managing risk.

Further quantitative and qualitative disclosures are included
throughout these financial statements.
The Audit and Compliance Committee has overall
responsibility for the establishment and oversight of risk
management and reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks. Risk management policies are established
to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Authority, to set
risk limits and controls and to monitor risks. Compliance with
policies is reviewed by the Audit and Compliance Committee
on a continuous basis.

Consolidated
Category

Authority

Notes

2010
$'000

2009
$'000

2010
$'000

2009
$'000

9

38,344

36,781

36,758

34,721

13,488

5,791

13,488

5,791

12

27,585

24,945

27,585

24,945

12

(27,585)

(24,945)

(27,585)

(24,945)

51,832

42,572

50,246

40,512

7,588

6,032

7,588

6,032

314

279

314

279

7,902

6,311

7,902

6,311

(a) Financial Instrument Category
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

N/A

Receivables 1.

Receivables (at amortised cost)

Advances receivable

Advances (at amortised cost)

Less: Allowance for impairment

Financial Liabilities
Payables 2.
Other

Financial liabilities measured
at amortised cost
Financial liabilities measured
at amortised cost

18

Notes
1. Excludes statutory receivables and prepayments (not within scope of AASB 7).
2. Excludes statutory payables and unearned revenue (not within scope of AASB 7).
(b) Credit Risk
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Authority’s
debtors defaulting on their contractual obligations, resulting in
a financial loss to the Authority. The maximum exposure to
credit risk is generally represented by the carrying amount of
the financial assets (net of any allowance for impairment).
Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the Authority,
including cash, receivables and authority deposits. No
collateral is held by the Authority. The Authority has not
granted any financial guarantees.
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Credit risk associated with the Authority's financial assets,
other than receivables, is managed through the selection of
counterparties and establishment of minimum credit rating
standards. Authority deposits held with NSW TCorp are
guaranteed by the State.
Cash
Cash comprises cash on hand and bank balances within the
Treasury Banking System. Interest is earned on daily bank
balances at the monthly average NSW TCorp 11.00am
unofficial cash rate adjusted for a management fee to Treasury.
The TCorp Hour Glass cash facility is discussed in paragraph (d)
below.

Sydney Olympic Park Authority
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Receivables - trade debtors
All trade debtors are recognised as amounts receivable at
balance date. Collectibility of trade debtors is reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Procedures established in the Treasurer’s
Directions are followed to recover outstanding amounts,
including letters of demand. Debts which are known to be
uncollectible are written off. An allowance for impairment is
raised when there is objective evidence that the entity will not
be able to collect all amounts due. This evidence includes past
experience, and current and expected changes in economic
conditions and debtor credit ratings. No interest is earned on
trade debtors. Sales are made on COD terms.

The Authority is not materially exposed to concentrations of
credit risk to a single trade debtor or group of debtors. Based
on past experience, debtors that are less than 3 months past
due (2010: $10.1 million; 2009: $4.2 million) are not
considered impaired and together these represent 99% of the
total trade debtors. There are no debtors which are currently
not past due or impaired whose terms have been renegotiated.
The only financial assets that are past due or impaired are
‘trade debtors’ in the ‘receivables’ category of the Statement of
Financial Position.
$’000

$’000
$’000
Past due
but not Considered
Total 1.2 impaired 1,2 impaired 1,2

2010
< 3 months overdue
3 months - 6 months overdue
> 6 months overdue

10,147

10,147

0

38

34

4

0

0

0

4,188

4,188

0

111

111

0

0

0

0

2009
< 3 months overdue
3 months - 6 months overdue
> 6 months overdue
Notes
1. Each column in the table reports ‘gross receivables’.
2. The ageing analysis excludes statutory receivables, as these are not within the scope of AASB 7 and excludes receivables that are
not past due and not impaired. Therefore, the ‘total’ will not reconcile to the receivables total recognised in the statement of
financial position.
Authority Deposits
The Authority has placed funds on deposit with TCorp, which
has been rated 'AAA' by Standard and Poor’s. These deposits
are similar to money market or bank deposits and are placed
'at call'. The deposits at balance date were earning an average
interest rate of 4.36% (2009– 5.36%), while over the year the
weighted average interest rate was 4.41% (2009 – 4.87%) on a
weighted average balance during the year of $25.0 million
(2009 – $33.4 million). None of these assets are past due or
impaired.
(c) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Authority will be unable to
meet its payment obligations when they fall due. The
Authority continuously manages risk through monitoring
future cash flows and maturities planning to ensure adequate
holding of high quality liquid assets. The objective is to
maintain a balance between continuity of funding and

flexibility through the use of overdrafts, loans and other
advances.
During the current and prior years, there were no defaults or
breaches on any loans payable. No assets have been pledged
as collateral. The Authority’s exposure to liquidity risk is
deemed insignificant based on prior periods’ data and current
assessment of risk.
The liabilities are recognised for amounts due to be paid in the
future for goods or services received, whether or not invoiced.
Amounts owing to suppliers (which are unsecured) are settled
in accordance with the policy set out in Treasurer’s Direction
219.01. If trade terms are not specified, payment is made no
later than the end of the month following the month in which
an invoice or a statement is received. Treasurer’s Direction
219.01 allows the Minister to award interest for late payment.
The Authority's financial liabilities included in Note 22(a) will
mature in less than 1 year.
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(d) Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows
of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
market prices. The Authority’s exposures to market risk are
primarily through interest rate risk on the Authority's
borrowings and other price risks associated with the
movement in the unit price of the TCorp Hour Glass
Investment facilities. The Authority has no exposure to
foreign currency risk and does not enter into commodity
contracts.
The effect on profit and equity due to a reasonably possible
change in risk variable is outlined in the information below,
for interest rate risk and other price risk. A reasonably
possible change in risk variable has been determined after

taking into account the economic environment in which the
Authority operates and the time frame for the assessment (ie
until the end of the next annual reporting period). The
sensitivity analysis is based on risk exposures in existence at
the balance sheet date. The analysis is performed on the
same basis for 2010. The analysis assumes that all other
variables remain constant.
Interest rate risk
A reasonably possible change of +/- 1% is used, consistent
with current trends in interest rates. The basis will be
reviewed annually and amended where there is a structural
change in the level of interest rate volatility. The Authority's
exposure to interest rate risk is set out below.
$’000
-1%

1%

Carrying
amount

Profit

Equity

Profit

Equity

Cash and cash equivalents

38,344

(383)

(383)

383

383

Receivables

16,415

0

0

0

0

7,713

0

0

0

0

36,781

(368)

(368)

368

368

8,483

0

0

0

0

6,151

0

0

0

0

2010
Financial assets

Financial liabilities
Payables
2009
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Financial liabilities
Payables
Other price risk – TCorp Hour Glass facilities
Exposure to ‘other price risk’ primarily arises through the investment in the TCorp Hour Glass Investment facilities, which are held
for strategic rather than trading purposes. The Authority has no direct equity investments. The Authority holds units in the
following Hour-Glass investment trusts:
Facility

Investment Sectors

Investment horizon

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Cash facility

Cash, money market instruments

Up to 1.5 years

22,521

24,962

27 Sydney Olympic Park Authority Annual Report 2009-10

Sydney Olympic Park Authority
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2010
The unit price of each facility is equal to the total fair value of
net assets held by the facility divided by the total number of
units on issue for that facility. Unit prices are calculated and
published daily.

Investment in the Hour Glass facilities limits the Authority's
exposure to risk, as it allows diversification across a pool of
funds, with different investment horizons and a mix of
investments.

NSW TCorp as trustee for the above facility is required to act in
the best interest of the unitholders and to administer the
trusts in accordance with the trust deeds. As trustee, TCorp
has appointed external managers to manage the performance
and risks of the facility in accordance with a mandate agreed
by the parties. However, TCorp, acts as manager for part of the
Cash Facility. A significant portion of the administration of the
facilities is outsourced to an external custodian.

NSW TCorp provides sensitivity analysis information for the
facility, using historically based volatility information. The
TCorp Hour Glass Investment facilities are designated at fair
value through profit or loss and therefore any change in unit
price impacts directly on profit (rather than equity)

Impact on profit/loss

Hour Glass Investment – Cash facility

Change in
unit price

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

+/- 1%

225

250

A reasonable possible change is based on the percentage change in unit price multiplied by the redemption price as at 30 June each
year for each facility (as advised by TCorp).

(e) Fair Value
Financial instruments are generally recognised at cost, with
the exception of the TCorp Hour Glass facilities, which are
measured at fair value. As discussed, the value of the Hour
Glass Investments is based on the Authority’s share of the
value of the underlying assets of the facility, based on the
market value. All of the Hour Glass facilities are valued using
‘redemption’ pricing.
Except where specified, the amortised cost of financial
instruments recognised in the statement of financial position
approximates the fair value, because of the short term nature
of many of the financial instruments. There is no financial

instruments where the fair value differs from the carrying
amount as at the reporting date.
(f) Fair value recognised in the statement of financial position
The authority uses the following hierarchy for disclosing the
fair value of financial instruments by valuation technique:
Level 1 - Derived from quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets / liabilities.
Level 2 - Derived from inputs other than quoted prices that are
observable directly or indirectly.
Level 3 - Derived from valuation techniques that include inputs
for the asset / liability not based on observable market data.

Level 1
$'000

Level2
$'000

Level 3
$'000

2010
Total
$'000

0

22,521

0

22,521

0

22,521

0

22,521

Financial assets at fair value
TCorp Hour-Glass Investment Facility

[The table above only includes financial assets, as no financial liabilities were measured
at fair value in the statement of financial position.]
There were no transfers between level 1 and 2 during the period ended 30 June 2010.
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23. STATE SPORTS CENTRE TRUST
State Sports Centre Trust was transferred to Sydney Olympic
Park Authority as a consequence of a restructuring of
administrative arrangements with effect from 1 December
2009. The following summarises the expenses and income,

recognised by State Sports Centre Trust up to date of transfer
at 30 November 2009 and the expenses and income
recognised by Sydney Olympic Park Authority from date of
transfer to year end for the reporting period.
State
Sydney
Sports
Olympic
Centre
Park
Trust
Authority
1 Jul 09 - 1 Dec 09 30 Nov 09 30 Jun 10
$'000s
$'000s

2010
$'000s

2009
$'000s

Expenses excluding losses
Operating expenses
Employee related/Personnel services

1,327

1,376

2,703

2,928

Other operating expenses

1,063

1,248

2,311

2,019

Depreciation and amortisation

112

113

224

594

Other expenses

303

157

461

344

2,805

2,894

5,699

5,885

2,031

2,171

4,201

4,298

30

16

46

89

Total expenses excluding losses
Revenue
Sale of goods and services
Investment revenue
Grants and contributions

479

0

479

1,150

Other revenue

109

6

116

122

2,649

2,193

4,842

5,658

Total revenue
Gain / (loss) on disposal

0

2

2

(4)

Other gains/ (losses)

0

0

0

0

Net Cost of Services

(156)

(699)

(855)

(231)

0

0

0

0

(156)

(699)

(855)

(231)

Government contributions
SURPLUS / (DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR
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24. ASSETS AND LIABILITES TRANSFERRED FROM STATE SPORTS CENTRE TRUST

2010
30-Nov-09
$'000s

Assets
Cash

742

Receivables

309

Investment

1,216

Inventories

13

Plant & Equipment

1,433

Other Non-current assets

228

Total Assets

3,941

Liabilities
Payables

769

Provisions

649

Loans

58

Total Liabilities

1,476

Net Assets

2,465

Equity
Accumulated Fund

2,465

Total Equity

2,465

25. INCREASE / DECREASE IN NET ASSETS FROM EQUITY TRANSFERS
Assets transferred in through Administrative Restructure:
Equity transferred in - State Sports Centre Trust

2,465

Assets transferred in other than in Administrative Restructure:
Equity transferred in - NSW Lotteries Building

9,797

Increase in net assets from equity transfers

12,262

26. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
There are no contingent liabilities.

27. AFTER BALANCE DATE EVENTS
There are no events after Balance Sheet date that would have a material impact on the financial statements.
End of Audited Financial Statements

Sydney Olympic Park Authority Annual Report 2009-10 30
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10th October 2010
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10th October 2010

10th October 2010
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Notes

2010
$'000

2009
$'000

EXPENSES EXCLUDING LOSSES
Operating expenses
Employee related

2(a)

400

634

Other operating expenses

2(b)

377

648

777

1,282

54

10

Total Expenses excluding losses

REVENUE
Sale of goods and services

3(a)

Investment revenue

3(b)

46

93

Grants and contributions

3(c)

240

480

Other revenue

3(d)

0

3

340

586

(437)

(696)

Net increase/(decrease) in property, plant and equipment asset revaluation reserve

-

-

Other comprehensive income for the year

-

-

(437)

(696)

Total Revenue
SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR

8

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR
The accompanying notes form part of these statements.
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Notes

2010
$'000

2009
$'000

Cash and cash equivalents

4

1,586

2,060

Receivables

5

0

11

1,586

2,071

ASSETS
Current Assets

Total Assets

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables

6

5

18

Provisions

7

0

35

5

53

1,581

2,018

Accumulated funds

1,581

2,018

Total Equity

1,581

2,018

Total Liabilities
Net Assets

EQUITY

The accompanying notes form part of these statements.
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Accumulated Accumulated
Funds
Funds

2010
$'000

2009
$'000

2,018

2,714

(437)

(696)

Net increase/(decrease) in property, plant and equipment asset revaluation reserve

-

-

Total other comprehensive income

-

-

Total comprehensive income for the year

(437)

(696)

Balance as at 30 June 2010

1,581

2,018

Notes

Balance 1 July 2009
Surplus/(deficit) for the year

8

Other comprehensive income

The accompanying notes form part of these statements.
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2010
$'000

2009
$'000

Employee related

(442)

(659)

Other

(409)

(724)

Total Payments

(851)

(1,383)

Sale of goods and services

60

9

Interest received

46

93

Grants and Contributions

271

553

Total Receipts

377

655

(474)

(728)

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH

(474)

(728)

Opening cash and cash equivalents

2,060

2,788

1,586

2,060

Notes

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments

Receipts

NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

CLOSING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
The accompanying notes form part of these statements.
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

• AASB 2009-9 regarding first time
adoption

(a) Reporting Entity

• AASB 2009-10 regarding classification
of rights

Parklands Foundation Limited (the
Foundation), a public company limited by
guarantee, was incorporated in New
South Wales under the Corporations Act
2001 on 16 May 2005. Sydney Olympic
Park Authority is the only member of the
Foundation.
Parklands Foundations Ltd operations
have significantly wound down during
the reporting period. The Foundation is
resourced by a part-time resource to
meet existing obligations limited to
administering existing funds and the
Foundation Board.

• AASB 124 and AASB 2009-12 regarding
related party transactions
• Interpretation 19 and AASB 2009-13
regarding extinguishing financial
liability with equity instruments
• AASB 2009-14 regarding prepayments
of a minimum funding requirement
• AASB 2010-1 regarding AASB 7
comparatives for first time adopters
• AASB 117 Leases (application date 1
Jan 2010)
• AASB 118 Revenue (application date 1
Jan 2010)

The financial statements have been
authorised for issue by the Board of
Directors on 10 October 2010.

• AASB 132 Financial Instruments:
Presentation (application date 1 Feb
2010)

(b) Parklands Fund

• AASB 136 Impairment of Assets
(application date 1 Jan 2010)

Parklands Fund (the Fund) was
established with the objective of
supporting the environmental objects of
the Foundation and to invite and receive
all gifts of money or property to the Fund
for the environmental objects of the
Foundation. The Fund must be operated
on a not-for-profit basis. There were no
transactions for the Fund for the year.
(c) Basis of Preparation
These general purpose financial
statements have been prepared in
accordance with the requirements of
Australian Accounting Standards and
Interpretations, the Public Finance and
Audit Act 1983, and specific directions
issued by the Treasurer.
As mandated by the Treasurer, the
Foundation has not early-adopted the
following new/revised Accounting
Standards/Interpretations:
• AASB 9 and AASB 2009-11 regarding
financial instruments
• AASB 2009-5 regarding annual
improvements

It is expected that the impact of the
application of the new Standards on the
Foundation's financial statement in the
period of initial application will not be
significant.
The accrual basis of accounting has been
adopted in the preparation of the
financial statement, except for cash flow
information.
On the 10th September 2009, Sydney
Olympic Park Authority as the sole
member of Parklands Foundation Limited
resolved to wind down the Foundation,
with existing programs to be
consolidated into the Authority. The
entity is no longer a going concern and as
such the financial statement has been
prepared on a liquidation basis.
Management's judgements, key
assumptions and estimations are
disclosed in the relevant notes to the
financial statement.

(d) Statement of Compliance
The financial statements and notes
comply with Australian Accounting
Standards, which include Australian
Accounting Interpretations.
(e) Income Recognition
Income is measured at the fair value of
the consideration or contribution
received or receivable.
(i) Grants and Contributions
Grants and Contributions are generally
recognised as revenue when the
Foundation obtains control over the
assets comprising the contributions.
Control is normally obtained upon receipt
of cash.
(ii) Investment Revenue
Interest revenue is recognised using the
effective interest method set out in AASB
139 Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement.
(f) Receivables
Receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an
active market. These financial assets are
recognised initially at fair value, usually
based on the transaction cost or face
value. Subsequent measurement is at
amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less an allowance for
any impairment of receivables. Any
changes are accounted for in the
operating statement when impaired,
derecognised or through the
amortisation process.
Short-term receivables with no stated
interest rate are measured at the original
invoice amount where the effect of
discounting is immaterial.

All amounts are rounded to the nearest
one thousand dollars and are expressed
in Australian currency.

• AASB 2009-8 regarding share based
payments
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(g) Payables

(ii) Long Service Leave

These amounts represent liabilities for
goods and services provided to the
Foundation and other amounts. Payables
are recognised initially at fair value,
usually based on the transaction cost or
face value. Subsequent measurement is
at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. Short-term payables
with no stated interest rate are measured
at the original invoice amount where the
effect of discounting is immaterial.

Long service leave is measured at present
value in accordance with AASB 119
Employee Benefits. This is based on the
application of certain factors (specified in
NSWTC 09/04) to employees with five or
more years of service, using current rates
of pay. These factors were determined
based on an actuarial review to
approximate present value.

(h) Employee Benefits

Superannuation expense for the financial
year is the defined contribution
superannuation, calculated as a multiple
percentage of the employees’ salaries.

(i) Salaries and Wages, Annual Leave,
Sick Leave and On-Costs
Liabilities for salaries and wages
(including non-monetary benefits),
annual leave and paid sick leave that fall
due wholly within 12 months of the
reporting date are recognised and
measured in respect of employees’
services up to the reporting date at
undiscounted amounts based on the
amounts expected to be paid when the
liabilities are settled.
Unused non-vesting sick leave does not
give rise to a liability as it is not
considered probable that sick leave taken
in the future will be greater than the
benefits accrued in the future.
The outstanding amounts of payroll tax,
workers’ compensation insurance
premiums and fringe benefits tax, which
are consequential to employment, are
recognised as liabilities and expenses
where the employee benefits to which
they relate have been recognised.
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(iii) Superannuation

(i) Accounting for the Goods and
Services Tax (GST)
Income, expenses and assets are
recognised net of the amount of GST
except where:
• the amount of GST incurred by the
Foundation as a purchaser, that is not
recoverable from the Australian
Taxation Office, is recognised as part of
the cost of acquisition of an asset or as
part of an item of expense.
• receivables and payables are stated
with the amount of GST included.
Cash flows are included in the cash flow
statement on a gross basis.
( j) Comparative Information
Except when an Australian Accounting
Standard permits or requires otherwise,
comparative information is disclosed in
respect of the previous period for all
amounts reported in the financial
statements.

Parklands Foundation Limited
Notes to the financial statements for year ended 30 June 2010
2010
$'000

2009
$'000

352
24
24

538
44
52

400

634

5
0
0
88
13
14
248
7
2

2
6
1
434
136
19
0
44
6

377

648

54

10

54

10

46

93

46

93

240

480

240

480

0

3

0

3

1,586

2,060

1,586

2,060

Cash and cash equivalents (per Statement of financial position)

1,586

2,060

Closing cash and cash equivalents (per Statement of cash flows)

1,586

2,060

Notes

2. EXPENSES INCLUDING LOSSES
(a) Employee Related Expenses
Salaries and wages (including recreation leave)
Superannuation - defined contribution plans
Payroll tax and fringe benefit tax

(b) Other Operating Expenses
Insurance
Asset management
Operating lease rental expense - minimum lease payments
Administration
Advertising and promotion
Activity and entertainment
Maintenance
Information technology
Other

3. REVENUE
(a) Sale of Goods and Services
Education tours

(b) Investment Revenue
Interest on bank

(c) Grants and Contributions
Sydney Olympic Park Authority

(d) Other Revenue
Other

4. CURRENT ASSETS - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash at bank and on hand

Cash and cash equivalent assets recognised in the Statement of financial position are reconciled
at the end of the financial year to the Statement of cash flows as follows:
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Parklands Foundation Limited
Notes to the financial statements for year ended 30 June 2010

2010
$'000

2009
$'000

Trade debtors

0

6

GST receivable

0

0

Prepayments

0

5

0

11

3

9

2

9

5

18

Annual leave

0

33

Other

0

2

0

35

0

35

2

9

2

44

(474)

(728)

(10)

(12)

Decrease/(increase) in payables

12

13

Decrease/(increase) in employee provisions

35

31

(437)

(696)

Notes

5. CURRENT ASSETS - RECEIVABLES
Current Receivables

6. CURRENT LIABILITIES – PAYABLES
Creditors and accrued expenses
Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs

7

7. CURRENT LIABILITIES - PROVISIONS
Employee Benefits and Related On-costs

Aggregate employee benefits and related on-costs
Provisions - current
Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs

6

8. RECONCILIATION OF CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES TO SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR
Net Cash Used on Operating Activities
Increase/(decrease) in receivables

Surplus/(Deficit) for the year
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Parklands Foundation Limited
Notes to the financial statements for year ended 30 June 2010
9. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Foundation's principal financial instruments are outlined
below. These financial instruments arise directly from the
Foundation’s operations or are required to finance the
Foundation’s operations. The Foundation does not enter into
or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial
instruments, for speculative purposes.

The Chief Executive Officer has overall responsibility for the
establishment and oversight of risk management and reviews
and agrees policies for managing each of these risks. Risk
management policies are established to identify and analyse
the risks faced by the Foundation, to set risk limits and controls
and to monitor risks. Compliance with policies is reviewed by
the Internal Auditors on a continuous basis.

Notes

2010
$'000

2009
$'000

Category

(a) Financial Instrument Category
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

N/A

4

1,586

2,060

Receivables 1.

Receivables (at amortised cost)

5

0

6

1,586

2,066

5

18

5

18

Financial Liabilities
Payables 2.

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

6

Notes
1. Excludes statutory receivables and prepayments (not within scope of AASB 7).
2. Excludes statutory payables and unearned revenue (not within scope of AASB 7).

(b) Credit Risk
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the
Foundation’s debtors defaulting on their contractual
obligations, resulting in a financial loss to the Foundation.
There are no financial assets that are past due or impaired in
the balance sheet.
Exposure to credit risk is considered minimal.

(d) Market risk
The Foundation is not subject to any interest rate, foreign
currency or other price risk.
(e) Fair Value
The amortised cost of financial instruments recognised in the
balance sheet approximates the fair value, because of the
short-term nature of the financial instruments.

(c) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Foundation will be unable to
meet its payment obligations when they fall due.
Liquidity risk is represented by the Foundation's payables
owing to other parties. This is expected to be settled within
normal trading terms: that is 28 days.
The Foundation's exposure to liquidity risk is deemed
insignificant based on prior periods' data and current
assessment of risk.
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Parklands Foundation Limited
Notes to the financial statements for year ended 30 June 2010
10. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
There are no contingent liabilities.

11. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURE
(a) Directors
The director named in the attached directors' report each held
office as a director of the Foundation during the year ended
2010.
Remuneration
No remuneration was paid to the Directors.
Notes

2010
$'000

2009
$'000

3(c)

240

480

b) Related Party Transactions
Grants received from Sydney Olympic Park Authority

12. AFTER BALANCE DATE EVENTS
There are no after balance date events noted.

End of Audited Financial Statements
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Appendices
Agreements with the Community Relations Commission
There were no agreements made with the Community Relations
Commission during the 2009-10 period.
Annual Report availability and costs
The Sydney Olympic Park Annual Report 2009-10 is available
online at www.sydneyolympicpark.com.au. The total costs of
producing the Annual Report were $8,840.00 (excluding GST).
Code of Conduct
Authority staff are bound by the requirements of the Public
Sector Employment and Management Act 2002, the Sydney
Olympic Park Authority Code of Conduct and other relevant
legislation applying to public employment.
The Authority reviewed and updated its Code of Conduct in
October 2009 and Code of Conduct training was completed by
selected staff of the Authority during the period.

Board attendance 2009-10
Board members

Meetings held

Meetings attended

Hon Michael Knight
David Baffsky
John Coates
Jack Cowin
Liz Ellis
Penelope Figgis
Dennis Fitzgerald
Alan Marsh
Alan Whelpton

8
8
8
8
8
8
8
8
8

8
5
7
7
6
7
8
8
7

Committees
Access Advisory Committee
The committee advised Sydney Olympic Park Authority on the
assessment and management of access to Sydney Olympic Park
by people with a disability.
Jean Halcrow (Chair)
Ann Gibson
Christina Hinchcliffe
Mark Relf
Robyn Thompson
Trevor Beardsmore
Kath Brewster
Glenn Redmayne
Alan Marsh
Fiona Wilson-Jones
Gavin Syme
Aleks Stojcevic
Audit and Compliance Committee
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The committee addressed financial, accounting, reporting and
internal controls, risk management and compliance issues.
John Coates (Chair)
David Baffsky
Liz Ellis
Design Review Panel
The panel convened on six occasions throughout the year to
review a range of proposed development, urban domain,
parklands and infrastructure projects. The panel provided the
Chief Executive Officer with independent design advice on these
proposals as well as the design process generally – contributing
to the high quality of development at Sydney Olympic Park.
Peter Mould (Chair)
Darlene van der Breggen
Professor Catherine Bull
Bill Tsakalos
Professor Peter Webber
Millennium Parklands Advisory Committee
The committee made recommendations to the Board on
matters relating to the care, control and management of the
Millennium Parklands.
Penelope Figgis (Chair)
Professor Catherine Bull
Sarah Dinning
Dr Tony Flemming (represented by Gary Dunnett)
Leigh Martin
Irene Simms

Consultancy services
No consultancy services were engaged by the Authority during
2009-10.
Contacting Sydney Olympic Park Authority
Sydney Olympic Park Authority
Level 1
8 Australia Avenue
Sydney Olympic Park NSW 2127
Telephone
02 9714 7300
Facsimile
02 9714 7818
Email
enquiries@sopa.nsw.gov.au
Online
www.sydneyolympicpark.com.au
Office hours
8.45am to 5.15pm, Monday to Friday
Credit card certification
Credit card use within the Authority has been in accordance
with the Premier’s Memoranda and Treasurer’s Directions.
Disability Action Plan
The Sydney Olympic Park Authority Disability Action Plan (DAP)
has been developed to be consistent with the New South Wales
(NSW) Government’s Guidelines for Disability Action Planning by
NSW Government Agencies (the Guidelines). The Guidelines

translate into action the Government’s commitment to
improving the opportunities for people with disabilities to share
fully in community life.

Residential development commenced on site 3 (Billbergia) with
strong ‘off the plan’ sales, for the first residential product within
Sydney Olympic Park.

The DAP annual assessment provides an opportunity for Sydney
Olympic Park Authority (the Authority) to measure and record its
achievements and to demonstrate its ongoing commitment to
equity and access in all aspects of service provisions.

Development rights for a 99-year lease over site 8b (6-storey
office building) were offered to the market with a good response.
The successful proponent will be announced in the 2010-11
financial year.

All Authority managers that are identified within the DAP as
having a role of responsibility are interviewed annually, usually
during the month of November by the manager of the
Authority's Building Services Unit. The detailed results from this
interview process conducted with all identified
persons/managers are then presented in an Annual Report and
any areas identified with a deficiency are actioned accordingly.

Electronic service delivery
The Authority continues to focus on increasing the information
and services available electronically.

All issues identified during the annual reviewing process are
actioned to enhance accessibility awareness and services within
the Sydney Olympic Park Authority.
The NSW Disability Framework Policy sets parameters which
require Government agencies to measure and report on their
progress in creating access for people with disabilities. This is
required under Section 9 of the Disability Services Act 1993 and
Schedule 1 of the Annual Reports (Statutory Bodies) Regulation
2010.

Access Guidelines
The current Authority Access Guidelines and Temporary Overlay
Guidelines are fully compliant with all existing Commonwealth
and NSW State access legislation as at June 2010.
It is anticipated that after the date of 1 May 2011 these Access
Guidelines will remain easily compliant with the new access
provisions contained under the Commonwealth’s Disability
Discrimination Act–1992 and Building Code of Australia-2011.
Minor amendments will however be required to the existing
Authority Access Guidelines.
These amendments will be to reference the new detailed
documents and Australian Standards listed in the newly
amended Disability Discrimination Act–1992 and Building Code
of Australia-2011.

Disclosure of controlled entities
The only controlled entity held by the Authority during the
reporting period was the Parklands Foundation Limited.
Economic or other factors affecting achievement of
operational objectives
The office market across New South Wales remained flat
throughout the year. This delayed the commencement of office
development for master plan sites 4b and 13. Site 8A (Watpac
commercial office) was constructed during the year with all of
the office space committed prior to completion.

The Authority’s websites include:
• www.sydneyolympicpark.com.au
– the main portal for Sydney Olympic Park;
• www.aquaticcentre.com.au
– the Sydney Olympic Park Aquatic Centre website;
• www.athleticcentre.com.au
– the Sydney Olympic Park Athletic Centre website;
• www.archerycentre.com.au
– the Sydney Olympic Park Archery Centre website;
• www.sports-centre.com.au
– the Sydney Olympic Park Sports Centre, Sports Halls and
Hockey Centre website; and
• www.monsterpark.com.au
– the Sydney Olympic Park Monster Skatepark website.
During the reporting period, the Authority commenced a
website review project to develop and upgrade all
Authority-owned websites to achieve economies in service
provision, management, maintenance and information
handling with streamlined systems and processes. All of the
above websites will be consolidated into one Content
Management System and will be redesigned to enhance the
online user experience. The new look websites are expected to
launch in early 2011.
The Authority also undertook a review of its customer database
(CRM) and decided to shift to new and upgraded software by
Aprimo, Inc. Configuration of the new CRM software and data
migration took place in this reporting period, with the new
customer database expected to launch in September 2010.

Freedom of information
The Authority had no applications carried over from the previous
financial year.
Applications begun and completed in 2009-10:
24 August 2009
The applicant requested a copy of CCTV footage of 10 February
2009 of the intersection of Australia Avenue and Bennelong
Road from 17:50 onwards. A copy of the footage was provided
to the applicant on 27 August 2009. No additional fees were
requested.
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1 September 2009
The applicant requested a cozpy of documents relating to a
bicycle accident and all documents relating to similar accidents
in the same area of the Park between 2006 and 1 September
2009. An advance deposit was requested. Notification of
determination and request for final processing fee was provided
on 12 October 2009. A copy of the documents was provided on
22 October 2009
Requests carried over into following Financial Year (2010-11)
21 May 2009
The applicant requested access to all Board Minutes of the
Sydney Organising Committee for the Olympic Games (SOCOG)
in 1999 and all submissions from the Olympic Coordination
Authority (OCA) to Cabinet in 1999.
An advance deposit was requested and third parties were
contacted. Determination to grant access was completed on 9
July 2010 with a request for the final processing fee. A copy of
the documents was provided to the applicant on 29 July 2010.

Funds granted to non-government community
organisations
During the 2009-10 financial year, funds were granted to the:

Rotary Club of Ryde

$909.09

Guarantee of service
The Authority aims for consistent excellence in the provision of
information and customer services based on integrity,
professionalism, timeliness, respect and openness.
Human resources
In July 2009, as part of widespread structural reform of the NSW
public sector, staff of the Office of the Sydney Olympic Park
Authority, and the Sydney Olympic Park Aquatic and Athletic
Centres Division, were transferred to Communities NSW, one of
13 principal departments comprising the NSW Public Service.

There were no requests for internal review in the period 1 July
2009 to 30 June 2010.

In November, the State Sports Centre Trust was abolished.
Responsibility for management of the assets, operations and
staff of the Sydney Olympic Park Sports Centre transferred to the
Sydney Olympic Park Authority.

The impact of FOI applications on the Authority's activities was
minimal during the reporting period. In the preceding financial
year (2008-09), the Authority received two applications under
the FOI Act. There were no requests for internal review in the
preceding financial year (2008-09).

The Sydney Olympic Park Sports Centre comprises three venues
– the Sports Centre, the Hockey Centre and the Sports Halls. The
staff and operations of these areas were joined with other
Authority sporting venues (Aquatic Centre, Athletic Centre and
Archery Centre) to form the Sports Venues Division.

Applications for information made after 1 July 2010 may be
requested under Government Information Public Access
legislation, must be in writing and accompanied by an
application fee of $30.

The operation of the Authority’s performance management
system continued to identify and focus employee efforts on the
Authority’s organisational priorities.

Enquiries and applications should be referred to:
The Right to Information Coordinator
Sydney Olympic Park Authority
Level 1, 8 Australia Avenue
Sydney Olympic Park NSW 2171

Privacy and Personal Information Protection Act (PIPPA)
In accordance with the Privacy and Personal Information
Protection Act 1998 (PIPPA Act), the Authority has developed a
Privacy Management Plan. The Plan was lodged with the
Privacy Commissioner in May 2002.
The Plan sets out the core business and functions of the
Authority and refers to information protection principles and
procedures for internal review. The Plan includes a table
documenting the Authority's processes for the handling of
personal information.
No applications for review were received in the financial year
2009-10.
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Employee performance and contributions were also recognised
through the operation, on a quarterly basis, of the Staff
Recognition and Reward Scheme.
A Purchased Leave Scheme which allows staff to offset salary
against the purchase of additional leave during the year was
implemented.
A superannuation seminar was held for staff which provided
information on government changes and superannuation
options open to employees. A salary packaging seminar was also
held which outlined how salary packaging works and how it
may be tax effective for individuals in some circumstances.
A two-week Christmas/New Year closedown was implemented
to provide staff with the opportunity to spend time with family
and friends during the holiday season, and as a means of
reducing the organisation’s leave liability costs.
A bi-monthly Human Resource Management Bulletin was
produced and circulated to staff throughout the organisation as
a means of raising awareness of contemporary HR management
issues and practices.

Industrial relations

Project

Cost $

There were no industrial disputes during the year.

Asset replacement
Minor works
Minor – Aquatic and Athletic Centres

2,674m
2,048m
1,585m

TOTAL CAPITAL FUNDING BY TREASURY

6,307m

Developer funded works
Sports Centre refurbishment
Parklands Education Centre

0.212m
0.231m
0.239m

TOTAL

6,989m

Negotiations were undertaken with the Public Service
Association (PSA) in relation to award reforms to achieve savings
to fund salary increases under the public sector salaries award.
For the period of the Easter Show each year, normal working
arrangements for a small number of people are suspended, and
replaced by a seven day cycle of rostered shifts. Industrial
arrangements agreed with the PSA provided the Authority with
the required flexibility to meet the extraordinary demands of the
Show period and ensured that our staff are appropriately
compensated for these changed arrangements.

Occupational health and safety
An application was made and granted to vary the Sydney
Olympic Park Paid Parking (State) Award to incorporate the
Industrial Relations Commission’s State Wage Case decision.

No significant injuries were recorded during the year, and no
formal return to work program was required to be developed.

Negotiations commenced with the union in relation to salary
increases under the Sydney Olympic Park Aquatic, Athletics and
Archery Centres (State) Award 2008.

An Employee Assistance Program is in place to provide staff and
members of their immediate family with access to a no-cost
confidential counselling service on a 24 hour/seven day basis.

Salary Award increases for the Authority in the year were in line
with the Crown Employees (Public Sector-Salaries 2008) Award.

The Authority arranged for onsite influenza vaccinations for all
staff expressing an interest in receiving the vaccination. The
vaccination program which included vaccination against the
H1N1 influenza strain was viewed as a preventive strategy to
protect employee health, and minimise disruptions to the
workplace through absenteeism.

Land disposal
There was no land disposal during the 2009-10 year.
Legislative change
Parliamentary Counsel was requested to prepare amendments
to the Sydney Olympic Park Authority Act 2001 (NSW) (the SOPA
Act) and Regulations and the Protection of the Environment
Operations (General) Regulation 2009 following a review
required under s89 of the SOPA Act. Amendments included
provisions with respect to noise management at major events
carried on at Sydney Olympic Park, with respect to the functions
of Sydney Olympic Park Authority in relation to residential
facilities, and for other purposes.
The Sydney Olympic Park Authority Amendments Act 2010
(Amendment Act) was passed. The amendments reflected in the
Amendment Act will commence on a date to be proclaimed.
Proclamation will occur after the proposed Noise Management
Plan referred to in the Amendment Act has been approved by
the Department of Environment, Climate Change and Water
(DECCW). Approval of the Noise Management Plan is expected
within the next few months.
Amendments to the SOPA Regulations will occur after the
amendments under the Amendment Act have been effected.

Major capital works
During 2009-10, key capital works projects were undertaken
throughout the Park, These delivered an important program of
asset creation and replacement, resulting in significant
improvements to the amenity of the parklands and key areas of
infrastructure in the town centre.

Occupational health and safety was a major focus in the
planning of the Authority’s office relocation.
The Authority’s Occupational Health and Safety Committee and
Occupational Health and Safety Management Coordination
Committee met regularly during the year and addressed a range
of matters.
The Authority’s Staff Wellbeing Committee (comprising staff
representatives from each area of the organisation) met
regularly during the year. The committee is a vehicle for seeking
employees’ views and facilitating feedback between staff and
management on staff welfare, amenity and general wellbeing
issues.
The Wellbeing Committee acted as a conduit between staff and
management in relation to issues surrounding the
whole-of-office relocation.
Sydney Olympic Park Authority sports venues
Following Deloitte’s Occupational Health and Safety (OH&S)
Audit conducted in February 2009, a number of
recommendations were made to improve/support the current
Sydney Olympic Park Aquatic, Athletic and Archery Centre
(SOPAC) Integrated Management System so that it is in keeping
with the NSW Premiers Department ‘Taking Safety Seriously’,
Working Together Public Sector OH&S and Injury Management
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Strategy 2005-08. In summary, the SOPAC Integrated
Management System has updated a number of occupational
health and safety measures as recommended by the Deloitte
2009 Audit.
In addition to the measures implemented above the following
actions took place during the financial year:
• Monthly workplace inspections and bimonthly OH&S
Committee meetings were conducted over the past financial
year as per the SOPAC OH&S Committee Constitution.
• A four-day external training session was completed in February
2009 on OH&S Consultation for nine SOPAC OH&S committee
members.
• An external training provider conducted an OH&S awareness
induction course on 28 May 2009, with feedback from 19 staff
who attended being ‘good’ or ‘excellent’ in overall rating.
• A workplace safety quiz was conducted in November 2009
with 80 staff completing the survey. Overall the OH&S
awareness by SOPAC staff was deemed ‘satisfactory’ on the key
OH&S knowledge and obligation questions.
• 2008-09 financial year ending OH&S summary report in place
outlines total hazards identified, total risk assessments
completed and total workplace inspections completed. This is
compared against the 2007-08 OH&S summary report and
assists with evaluating OH&S performance.

Official overseas visits undertaken by Sydney Olympic
Park Authority employees
There was one official overseas visit undertaken during the
period.
In response to a request from the Beijing Institute of
Architectural Design, Darlene van der Breggen, the Authority’s
Executive Manager, Design, travelled to Beijing over the period
27-29 October 2009, to deliver a paper to the ‘Cities Beyond
Olympics’ conference.
Ms van der Breggen presented ‘Urbanising the Post Olympic
Landscape: The Sydney Olympic Park Case Study’ to the
conference and attended a related function held in conjunction
with Beijing Austrade and the Australian Chamber of Commerce
(AustCham Beijing) Construction Working Group.
Travel and accommodation costs were met by the Beijing
Institute of Architectural Design.

Parklands Foundation
Following a review by the Sydney Olympic Park Authority Board
of the Parklands Foundation, the activities of the Foundation
have been wound down.
The Parklands Foundation Board is comprised of:
Lucio Di Bartolemeo
Penelope Figgis AO
Peter Mayers
Sarah Dinning
Alan Marsh

Payment performance indicators
Trade creditors aged analysis at the end of each quarter
Quarter ended

Current
(within due date)
$’000
At 30 September 2009
797
At 31 December 2009
694
At 31 March 2010
1,052
At 30 June 2010
0

Less than 30
days overdue
$’000
8
58
20
0

Between 31 & 60
days overdue
$’000
0
1
(6)
(11)

Between 61 & 90
days overdue
$’000
0
10
6
0

More than
90 days overdue
$’000
17
1
0
0

Trade creditors accounts paid on time within each quarter
Quarter ended

Accounts paid on time
target %
At 30 September 2009
95
At 31 December 2009
95
At 31 March 2010
95
At 30 June 2010
95

Accounts paid on time
actual %
97
97
94
97

Amount paid on time
$’000
19,027
17,442
20,721
30,697

No suppliers requested or were reasonably entitled to penalty interest for the year.
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Total Amount Paid
$’000
19,285
17,778
22,130
32,030

Executive remuneration and performance statement
CES/SES officers level 5 and above
Name
Position and level
Period in position
Remuneration as at 30 June 2010

Mr Alan Marsh
Chief Executive Officer
Level 7
From 1 July 2009 to 30
June 2010
$316,725, plus recruitment
allowance of $30,000 per
annum

Mr Marsh met the requirements of his performance agreement
in accordance with his role as Chief Executive Officer of the
Sydney Olympic Park Authority (the Authority).
The initiatives, actions and strategies of the Authority
undertaken and progressed during the year under Mr Marsh are
set out below.
They are in keeping with the Authority’s role of managing and
developing the Park as a major urban centre, with the focus on
sustainable urban development and parklands protection and
enhancement.
Significant outcomes/achievements during the year included:
• Finalisation of the Sydney Olympic Park Master Plan 2030. The
Master Plan sets out a long-term and detailed vision for the
continued sustainable development of Sydney Olympic Park.
The Plan builds on the existing Park, introduces a range of new
uses to further activate the precinct and consolidates its
position as an example of best practice in sustainable
development.
• Effective management of $1.8 billion of assets, and
achievement of a targeted increase in revenue as a percentage
of operating expenditure. The Authority did not require its full
funding allocation for the year, achieving a $1.1 million
reduction in funding required.
• Construction commencement on Stage 1 of Australia Towers,
a 24 storey, 216 apartment residential development which will
incorporate a child-care centre and ground floor retail space. A
design competition for Stages 2 and 3 was implemented and
completed.
• Practical completion and fully tenanted occupancy of a new
six storey commercial office building with ground floor retail
space.
• Development consent obtained and project advanced for the
construction of 77 serviced apartments with basement
parking, supported by retail space.
• Preferred proponents nominated for campus and
accommodation development within the Education precinct,
and a new six storey commercial development within the
Town Centre.

• Development consent obtained and preferred proponent
nominated for the development of a bar and bistro facility
within The Overflow area.
• Commercial negotiations commenced with an adjoining
owner for a major commercial and retail development within
the Town Centre, over three stages.
• Oversight of precinct operations and working with the
Homebush Motor Racing Authority for the successful staging
of the inaugural Sydney 500 V8 motor race which was
reported to attract crowds of over 184,000 over the three-day
event.
• Site management and stakeholder liaison in relation to the
successful staging of the 2009 World Masters Games.
• Relocation of the Authority’s corporate office to new
accommodation within the Town Centre, resulting in annual
rental savings of $500,000.
• Continued leadership of the Sydney Olympic Park
Sustainability Advantage cluster, incorporating other major
businesses, to improve business sustainability across a
number of key areas – resource efficiency, environmental
responsibility, and supply change.
• Implementation of comprehensive ecological management
programs to continue to conserve and enhance the Park’s
biodiversity, including establishment of a Scientists in
Residence program in partnership with the University of
Newcastle to research the conservation ecology of the
endangered Green and Golden Bell Frog.
• Successful integration of the State Sports Centre into the
Authority and the establishment of a Sports Venues Branch
within the Authority, following the dissolution of the State
Sports Centre Trust. Commencement of a major
refurbishment of the Sports Centre.
• Major upgrade of competition scoreboards within the Aquatic
and Athletic Centres; returfing of the competition arena at the
Athletic Centre; and establishment of a sub-elite playing field
at Wilson Park.
• Growth in the Sydney Olympic Park Lifestyle program
membership base to over 5,100 members in 55 organisations.
The program also increased the range of benefits to members
through the inclusion of subsidised social sports competitions,
discounted major retailer gift cards, and entertainment
tickets.
• Delivery of the Arts and Culture program including the hosting
of artists in residence, and the successful hosting of events
and exhibitions such as Armory Exhibition 09, Memory Flows,
Art with Attitude, and ART EXPRESS.
• A program of Signature Events was developed and delivered.
These included River Rhythms; Kids in the Park; Movies in The
Overflow; and Australia Day celebrations. A range of other
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events and programs held in the Park were also supported
including Unity Walk for Parkinson’s; Convoy for Kids; City of
Sydney Spring Cycle; and various cultural festivals.
• The capital works program was completed successfully within
program and budget, encompassing projects such as the
installation of shade and shelter amenities at Blaxland
Riverside Park; refurbishment of the Educational Studies
Centre within Bicentennial Park; provision of camping facilities
in the Armory; upgrade of the Aquatic Centre car park and
lighting; and cleaning and maintenance of stormwater drains
in the Town Centre.

Recruitment and training
The Authority experienced reduced recruitment activity during
the year as a result of reduced turnover and the Government’s
recruitment freeze.
An internship was provided to an overseas student from Norway
as part of their international study course requirements. In
addition, other work experience placements were made to assist
students with their course and vocational needs.

• Visitation levels to Sydney Olympic Park increased to 9.1
million in the year including 2 million visitors to the parklands.

Authority staff undertook comprehensive training on the NSW
public sector e-Recruitment System prior to the live
commencement of the system in March. The new recruitment
system streamlines processes and provides agencies and job
applicants with additional functionality.

• In excess of 28,000 school students participated in the
Authority’s Schools’ Education Program during the year. The
environmental education-based program draws on the Board
of Studies syllabus and is centred around the parklands.

Prevention of Bullying and Harassment training was provided to
all Authority staff. The training focused on awareness of what
behaviours might constitute bullying or harassment and what
steps can be taken to address this.

• In tightening global economic conditions, new business
events valued at $2.2 million were secured for Sydney Olympic
Park venues, involving visitation of 850,000 at over 2,000
business events.

Supervisors received training in managing the Authority’s
Performance Management System and in carrying out
performance appraisals with staff. Code of Conduct training was
provided to Sports Centre staff that had transferred to the
Authority during the year.

• Consolidation and strengthening of business and working
relationships with Park stakeholders including venue
operators, the Sydney Olympic Park Business Association, local,
state and federal governments, sporting bodies,
environmental organisations, and education providers.
• Managing the Government’s lease interest in ANZ Stadium
and Acer Arena.

Protected disclosures
The Protected Disclosures Act 1994 (NSW) offers protection to
public officials who make disclosures that concern corrupt
conduct, maladministration and serious or substantial waste of
public money.
Within Sydney Olympic Park Authority, disclosures can be made
to the Chief Executive Officer, General Manager Commercial &
Corporate or the officer’s supervisor.
No disclosures were reported during the reporting period.

Publications
Throughout the 2009-10 period, Sydney Olympic Park Authority
produced and distributed a range of publications, statutory
reports, newsletters, corporate brochures and flyers. Key
publications are available on the Authority’s website at:
http://www.sydneyolympicpark.com.au/corporate/document-lib
rary
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Staff attended a variety of other training courses, seminars and
conferences during the year, reflecting the occupational and
functional diversity within the organisation.
Authority staff also participated in the NSW Government’s
Executive Development Program and other assistance was
provided to staff undertaking tertiary study.
Sydney Olympic Park Authority sports venues
The Authority’s sports venues recruited 116 casuals and 16
fulltime staff during the year (total 132). The staff turnover is
high due to the nature of the industry and workforce. Staff also
attended a variety of training courses, seminars and conferences
during the year, with particular emphasis given to OH&S issues
and courses that enhance public safety in the centres.
The Authority’s sports venues participated in an exchange
program with Greenwich Leisure Ltd (GLL) of London, England;
two GLL staff were sent to to learn about our operations and
structure this year. The Authority did not send any staff for a
reciprocal visit during the period.
As of 1 December 2009, Sydney Olympic Park Authority assumed
operational responsibility for the former State Sports Centre
Trust, incorporating the Sports Centre, Hockey Centre and Sports
Halls.

SES staffing profile

Number of CES/SES positions

Number of executive officers
Number of executive officers
with remuneration equal to
or exceeding equivalent of
SES level 1

Number of executive officers
with remuneration equal to
or exceeding equivalent of
SES level 1

End of current reporting year

End of previous reporting year

3

3

Number of positions filled by women in the current year: Nil;
previous year: Nil.

Level

Total CES/SES
End of current
reporting year

Total CES/SES
End of previous
reporting year

8
7
6
5
4
3
2
1
CEO under s11A*
TOTAL

1
2
3

1
2
3

Chief Executive Officer positions listed under s11A of the
Statutory and Other Offices Remuneration Act 1975.
Number of positions filled by women in the current year: Nil;
previous year: Nil.

Staff numbers by employment basis
Sydney Olympic Park Authority — 2010
Staff Numbers by Employment Basis
Employment Basis

Permanent Full-time
Permanent Part-time
Temporary Full-time
Temporary Part-time
Contract - SES
Contract - Non SES
Training Positions
Retained Staff
Casual
TOTAL
SUBTOTALS
Permanent
Temporary
Contract
Full-Time
Part-Time

Total Staff

81
10
17
1
3
0
0
0
37
149

91
18
3
98
11

Label

Respondents

Permanent Full-time
Permanent Part-time
Temporary Full-time
Temporary Part-time
Contract - SES
Contract - Non SES
Training Positions
Retained Staff
Casual

Men

Women

Aboriginal
People
People
People & from Racial,
Whose
Torres
Ethnic,
Language
Strait
Ethno- First Spoken
Islanders
Religious
as a Child
Minority
was not
Groups
English

People
with a
Disability

People
with a
Disability
Requiring
Work-related
Adjustment

58
6
15
1
1
0
0
0
3
84

46
1
10
0
3
0
0
0
15
75

35
9
7
1
0
0
0
0
22
74

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

10
2
1
0
0
0
0
0
0
13

11
0
2
0
0
0
0
0
0
13

0
0
1
0
0
0
0
0
0
1

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

64
16
1
73
7

47
10
3
56
1

44
8
0
42
10

0
0
0
0
0

12
1
0
11
2

11
2
0
13
0

0
1
0
1
0

0
0
0
0
0
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Multicultural services program
Sydney Olympic Park Authority attaches high priority to the
promotion of cultural diversity. Initiatives undertaken in this area
during 2009-10 included:
• The Authority worked collaboratively with Auburn Council in
staging Australia Day 2010 celebrations, including an outdoor
citizenship ceremony. The celebrations featured food, music
and performance contributions from a number of cultural
groups.
• The Authority worked with the ethnic media on awareness
campaigns to ensure the broad community had access to
information and products offered at Sydney Olympic Park.
• The Authority worked with Macquarie University to provide
placement opportunities for overseas students through a
three month internship program
• The Authority ensures that local communities are informed on
leisure, sporting, and cultural activities/events at Sydney
Olympic Park through the ‘What’s On’ publication which has a
subscription database of around 28,000 people.
The Sydney Olympic Park Authority workforce reflects the
general diversity within the community.
The Authority supported the staging of a number of major
ethnic community events, festivals and celebrations within the
Park. These included:
India-Australia Friendship Fair
The India-Australia Friendship Fair in August brought the best of
Indian culture and flavour to Sydney Olympic Park. The
celebrations at the Sydney Olympic Park Athletic Centre featured
food, song and dance, VIPs and celebrities. The fair lived up to its
reputation as Australia's largest Indian cultural gathering.
Boishaki Mela
Bengali New Year celebrations 2010 were held in April at the
Sydney Athletic Centre with some 70 food and arts and craft
stalls, children's rides, and traditional Bengali music and dance
performances. The event corresponded to the beginning of a
new century in the Bengali calendar. The festival, which has
become an annual event, has grown to be the largest and most
vibrant event for the Bengali community of Sydney.
13 Bedar
The Iranian festival to welcome spring (northern hemisphere)
was held in Bicentennial Park in April and attracted over 2,000
participants.
Hellenic organisation
In collaboration with the Australasian Hellenic Educational
Progressive Association, the world's largest Hellenic
organisation, the Authority undertook major enhancements to
one of the Park's most important artworks – Discobolus.
Enhanced interpretation panels tell the story of the key
partnership with Australia’s Hellenic community.
River Rhythms
The autumn series of River Rhythms was held at the wharf at
the Armory on each Sunday in March and April and showcased
the rich diversity of musical styles from around the world,
including reggae, African gospel, jazz, swing, and folk.
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EID Prayers
Members of the community from the Belmore Islamic Centre
came to Olympic Park for prayers at the end of Ramadan in
September. These prayers mark a significant time in the Islamic
calendar and are traditionally said in the outdoors.
Future plans
The Authority will continue to seek and support:
• the staging of major ethnic community events, festivals and
celebrations within the Park;
• continued engagement of the local and ethnic community
and use of the ethnic media; and
• the staging of an Australia Day 2011 event in partnership with
Auburn Council which celebrates the diversity of the local
community.

Risk management and insurance activities
In August 2009, NSW Treasury issued the Internal Audit and Risk
Management Policy for the NSW Public Sector (Treasury Policy)
which requires Government agencies to implement a set of ‘core
requirements’ to provide greater assurance on internal audit and
risk management.
The Authority’s Risk Management Plan has always required the
adoption of risk management practices across all of the
Authority’s activities but was updated to reflect the additional
requirements of the Treasury Policy.
The Authority reviewed its risk management framework and key
strategic and operational risks.
Based on this review, the Authority is currently updating its Risk
Register, assessing the resources required to adequately conduct
risk management and internal audit activities and upgrade the
Audit and Risk Committee secretariat functions.
Incidents and claims
Twelve public liability claims and incident reports with claim
potential (27 in 2008-09) and 14 minor incidents of damage to
Authority property were reported (17 in 2008-09).
Risk management issues
Although Park visitation numbers rose to 9.5 million (8.7 million
in 2008-09) the Authority continues to experience relatively few
public liability incidents which require action.
The Risk Manager continues to advise operating divisions on risk
issues and assists in the conduct of risk assessments and risk
management generally.
The Authority’s compliance program continues to track and
monitor the insurance obligations of over 500 active contractors,
consultants, lessees and licensees.
The Risk Manager continues to liaise with management and
staff to ensure that the indemnity and insurance requirements
in contracts, leases and other agreements reflect both the risks
represented and the coverage available in the insurance market
in order to fully protect the Authority’s interests.
Treasury Managed Fund Charges (Insurance)
The premium charge for 2009-10 ($1,590,523) represented an
increase of 15% over 2008-09 but now incorporates venues
previously insured separately.

Internal Audit and Risk Management Statement
The Sydney Olympic Park Authority is of the opinion that the
Sydney Olympic Park Authority has internal audit and risk
management processes in place that are, in all material respects,
compliant with the core requirements set out in Treasury
Circular NSW TC 09/08 Internal Audit and Risk Management
Policy.
The Sydney Olympic Park Authority is of the opinion that the
Audit and Risk Committee is constituted and operates in
accordance with the independence and governance
requirements of Treasury Circular NSW TC 09-08.

The Chair and members of the Sydney Olympic Park Audit and
Compliance Committee are:
John Coates (Chair)
David Baffsky
Liz Ellis
These processes provide a level of assurance that enables the
senior management of the Authority to understand, manage
and satisfactorily control risk exposures.

Trends in the representation of equal employment opportunity (EEO) groups
EEO Group
Benchmark or Target
Women
50
Aboriginal people and Torres Strait Islanders
2
People whose first language was not English
20
People with a disability
12
People with a disability requiring work-related adjustment
7

2006
46
0.8
12
4
1.6

% of total staff
2007
47
0.9
14
2
0

2008
47
1.1
16
1
0

2009
48
0
17
1
0

Distribution index
2007
2008
78
83
Nc
Nc
Nc
Nc
Nc
Nc
Nc
Nc

2009
83
Nc
Nc
Nc
Nc

Trends in the distribution of EEO groups
EEO Group
Benchmark or Target
Women
100
Aboriginal people and Torres Strait Islanders
100
People whose first language was not English
100
People with a disability
100
People with a disability requiring work-related adjustment
100

2006
84
Nc
Nc
Nc
Nc

Notes:
1. Staff numbers are as at 30 June.
2. Excludes casual staff
3. A Distribution Index of 100 indicates that the centre of the distribution of the EEO group across salary levels is equivalent to that of other staff. Values less than 100
mean that the EEO group tends to be more concentrated at lower salary levels than is the case for other staff. The more pronounced this tendency is, the lower the index
will be. In some cases the index may be more than 100, indicating that the EEO group is less concentrated at lower salary levels. The Distribution Index is automatically
calculated by the software provided by ODEOPE.
4. The Distribution Index is not calculated where EEO group or non-EEO group numbers are less than 20.

Waste reduction and purchasing policy
Sydney Olympic Park Authority’s Waste Reduction and
Purchasing Plan (WRAPP) sets out how the Authority will reduce
waste in four key areas – paper products, office equipment and
components, vegetation material, and construction and
demolition material – as identified in the NSW Government
Sustainability Policy. For further information, see the State of
Environment Report within this publication.
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